

EXPLORING THE ROLE OF PHARMACOKINETIC ALTERATIONS IN TYROSINE KINASE INHIBITORS (TKIs)-ASSOCIATED TOXICITIES

TEO YI LING

(B.Sc. (Pharmacy) (Hons.), NUS)

A THESIS SUBMITTED FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

DEPARTMENT OF PHARMACY NATIONAL UNIVERSITY OF SINGAPORE

DECLARATION

I hereby declare that this thesis is my original work and it has been written by me in its entirety. I have duly acknowledged all the sources of information which have been used in the thesis.

This thesis has also not been submitted for any degree in any university previously.

Teo Yi Ling 03 March, 2015

Acknowledgements

The completion of this thesis would not have been possible without the support from many individuals. First and foremost, I would like to offer my sincerest gratitude to my two supervisors for their continuous support, guidance and insights throughout my PhD study. My utmost gratitude goes to A/Prof Alexandre Chan, for his patience, motivation and enthusiasm. His constant encouragement and support has led me to far greater achievements than I would have imagined. My sincere thanks also goes to Dr Ho Han Kiat, who first introduced me to the field of drug toxicology during my undergraduate days, which sparked my interest in research and for offering me an opportunity to work in his lab before I embark on my PhD studies. I could not have imagined having a better advisor and mentor for my PhD studies than the both of them.

Beside my supervisors, I would also like to express thanks to my thesis committee: Prof Paul Ho and Dr Yau Wai Ping for their insightful comments and encouragement.

I would like to thank my collaborators at National Cancer Centre Singapore (Dr Ravindran Kanesvaran, Dr Chau Noan Minh, Dr Tan Min-Han & Dr Yap Yoon Sim) and National University of Singapore (Dr Wee Hwee Lin & A/Prof Eric Chan) for their support and scientific advice. My sincere appreciations goes to present and former team members of A/Prof Alexandre Chan's research group, especially to Xiu Ping who provided great administrative support for the sunitinib study. My sincere appreciations also goes to former and present team members of Dr Ho Han Kiat's research group, for their technical advice and support in laboratory matters.

I would like to thank the undergraduate students whom I have worked with for their Final Year Projects and Undergraduate Research Opportunities in Science Projects (Xue Jing, Hui Ling, Seow Yee, Jack & Ying Jie) for contributing to various parts of the research projects.

My heartfelt appreciation also goes to the administrative staff, lab technologists and support staff from the Department of Pharmacy for their valuable support and advice. I am also grateful to the National University of Singapore for the provision of the Research Scholarship.

Last but not least, I would like to thank my family and friends for their constant support and encouragements.

Table of contents

Acknowledgements	i
Table of contents	iii
List of tables	xiii
List of figures	XV
List of acronyms	xvi

1	Int	roduction	1
	1.1	Introduction to tyrosine kinase inhibitors	1
	1.2	Common toxicities associated with tyrosine kinase inhibitors	3
	1.3	Inter-patient variability in exposure of tyrosine kinase inhibitors	6
	1.4	Sources of inter-patient variability	6
	1.4	.1 Alterations in absorption	8
	1.4	.2 Alterations in distribution	8
	1.4	.3 Alterations in metabolism	9
	1.4	.4 Alterations in excretion	9
	1.5	Association between exposure and response/toxicities	9
	1.6	Genetic variation of drug exposure	12
	1.7	Drug-drug interaction in the pharmacokinetic pathway	15
	1.8	Role of therapeutic drug monitoring and individualized therapy	16
	1.9	Research gaps and specific aims	18
	1.9	.1 Research gaps and hypothesis	18
	1.9	.2 Specific aims	19
	1.9	.3 Overall approaches	20
	1.10	Scope of thesis	23

1.10.1	Sunitinib	23
1.10.2	Lapatinib	26
1.11 Sig	gnificance of thesis	

2 Drug exposure in the use of an attenuated dosing regimen of sunitinib in
Asian metastatic renal cell carcinoma patients
2.1 Use of attenuated dosing regimen of sunitinib
2.2 Evaluation of efficacy and safety outcomes between conventional and
attenuated dosing regimen
2.3 Pilot study to determine drug exposure to sunitinib and SU12662 in patients
receiving the attenuated dosing regimen
2.3.1 Methodology
2.3.1.1 Study design
2.3.1.2 Patients and follow up
2.3.1.3 Treatment
2.3.1.4 Data collection
2.3.1.5 Processing of blood samples
2.3.1.6 Analysis of plasma sample
2.3.1.6.1 Chemicals and materials
2.3.1.6.2 Preparation of calibration curve
2.3.1.6.3 Extraction procedures
2.3.1.6.4 High Performance Liquid Chromatography (HPLC) analysis37
2.3.1.7 Pharmacokinetic analysis
2.3.1.8 Assessment of clinical response and toxicity
2.3.1.9 Definitions
2.3.1.10 Statistical analysis
2.3.2 Results

2.3.2.	1 Patient demographics and disease characteristics	42
2.3.2.	2 Total exposure to sunitinib and SU12662	46
2.3.2.	3 Toxicities observed with sunitinib therapy	48
2.3.3	Discussion	50
2.3.4	Limitations of study	51
2.3.5	Summary of important findings	53

3 Exploring the association between toxicities with drug exposure of sunitinib
and SU1266254
3.1 Association between toxicity and plasma levels in Asian mRCC patients
receiving an attenuated dosing regimen of sunitinib54
3.1.1 Methodology54
3.1.1.1 Definitions
3.1.2 Results
3.1.2.1 Patient demographics and disease characteristics
3.1.2.2 Toxicities observed with sunitinib therapy
3.1.2.3 Exposure levels and toxicities
3.1.3 Discussion
3.1.4 Limitations of study
3.1.5 Summary of important findings
3.2 Evaluating the in-vitro dermatological and hepatotoxic potential of sunitinib
and SU1266265
3.2.1 Methodology
3.2.1.1 Cell culture conditions
3.2.1.2 Treatment and cell viability assay
3.2.1.3 Statistical analysis
3.2.2 Results

3.2.2.	1 Toxic potential of sunitinib and SU1266269
3.2.3	Discussion
3.2.4	Limitations of study
3.2.5	Summary of important findings74
3.3 Sup	plementary analysis – association of toxicity with health-related quality
of life (HR	.QoL)75
3.3.1	Methodology76
3.3.1.	Patient recruitment and follow up76
3.3.1.	2 Assessment of patient reported outcomes76
3.3.1.	3 Statistical analysis78
3.3.2	Results
3.3.2.	Association between toxicity and HRQoL
3.3.3	Discussion
3.3.4	Limitations of study
3.3.5	Summary of important findings

4 Explo	ring the association between genetic polymorphism of	f CYP3A5 and
ABCB1 wi	ith the manifestation of toxicities in Asian mRCC patier	nts receiving an
attenuated	dose of sunitinib	
4.1 M	lethodology	91
4.1.1	Definitions	91
4.1.2	Genotyping	92
4.1.3	Statistical analysis	93
4.2 R	esults	94
4.2.1	Patient demographics and disease characteristics	94
4.2.2	Toxicities observed with sunitinib therapy	94
4.2.3	Frequencies of the genotype	94

4.2	.4	Incidence of toxicities and SNPs	95
4.2	.5	Exposure levels and SNPs	99
4.3	Dis	cussion	102
4.4	Lin	nitations of study	105
4.5	Sur	nmary of important findings	105

5 Metabo	lism-related pharmacokinetic drug-drug interactions in tyrosine
kinase inhib	bitors
5.1 Rol	e of metabolism-related drug-drug interactions in tyrosine kinase
inhibitor t	herapy
5.2 Me	thods110
5.3 Res	sults
5.3.1	Metabolic profile of tyrosine kinase inhibitors110
5.3.2	Potential effect of enzyme inducer/inhibitor on pharmacokinetics of
tyrosine	kinase inhibitors
5.3.3	Effect of tyrosine kinase inhibitors as an enzyme inducer/ inhibitor on
pharma	cokinetics of other drugs118
5.3.4	Applicability of in-vitro and in-vivo data within clinical practice121
5.3.5	Formation of reactive intermediates/ metabolites and implications for
toxicity	122
5.3.6	Actual drug-drug interaction cases involving tyrosine kinase inhibitors
as docu	mented in literature
5.3.7	Challenges and recommendations128
5.3.8	Utilization of therapeutic drug monitoring in drug-drug interactions 129
5.4 Su	nmary

6	Understand	ling tyrosine kinase inhibitor associated toxicities: a	a focus on
h	epatotoxicity		
	6.1 Hepator	toxicity with tyrosine kinase inhibitors	
	6.2 Risk of	tyrosine kinase inhibitor-induced hepatotoxicity	133
	6.2.1 Me	ethodology	
	6.2.1.1	Search strategy	133
	6.2.1.2	Study selection	134
	6.2.1.3	Data collection	134
	6.2.1.4	Endpoints	135
	6.2.1.5	Data analysis	
	6.2.2 Re	sults	136
	6.2.2.1	Literature search results	136
	6.2.2.2	Study characteristics	
	6.2.2.3	Primary endpoint – all-type, high-grade hepatotoxicity	140
	6.2.2.4	Secondary endpoints	141
	6.2.2.4.	1 All-type, all-grade hepatotoxicity	141
	6.2.2.4.	2 High-grade ALT elevation	142
	6.2.2.4.	3 High-grade AST elevation	143
	6.2.2.4.	4 High-grade TB elevation	144
	6.2.2.5	Sensitivity and bias analysis	145
	6.2.3 Dis	scussion	149
	6.2.4 Lir	nitations of study	151
	6.2.5 Su	mmary of important findings	
	6.3 Why ty	rosine kinase inhibitors are at risk for hepatotoxicity	152
	6.3.1 Ty	rosine kinase inhibitors that form reactive metabolites	153
	6.3.2 Eff	fect of reactive metabolites on direct and indirect toxicity	157
	6.4 Charact	teristics of tyrosine kinase inhibitors-induced hepatotoxicit	y159

6.5 Overcoming tyrosine kinase inhibitors-induced hepatotoxicity160
6.5.1 Switching tyrosine kinase inhibitors161
6.5.2 Alternative dosing
6.5.3 Reversibility of toxicities with corticosteroids
6.5.3.1 Supplementary analysis – concurrent use of erlotinib and dexamethasone – where steroids help to reduce toxicity
6.5.3.2 Methods
6.5.3.2.1 Study design
6.5.3.2.2 Definitions and endpoints
6.5.3.2.3 Statistical analysis171
6.5.3.3 Results
6.5.3.3.1 Patient demographics and disease characteristics
6.5.3.3.2 Dose modification and concomitant use of erlotinib and
dexamethasone176
6.5.3.4 Discussion
6.5.3.5 Limitations of study
6.5.4 Summary of important findings181

7 Effect of metabolism-related pharmacokinetic drug-drug interaction on risk for TKI-associated hepatotoxicity – a case study of lapatinib and dexamethasone184

7.1 Drug utilization review		
7.1.1 N	lethodology	
7.1.1.1	Study design	
7.1.1.2	Data collection	
7.1.1.3	Endpoints and definitions	
7.1.1.4	Statistical analysis	
7.1.2 R	Results	

7.1.2.1	Patient demographics			
7.1.2.2	7.1.2.2 Observed differences between L+D and L groups			
7.1.2.3	Hepatotoxicity evaluation	191		
7.1.2.4	Hepatotoxicity and concomitant use of 1	apatinib and		
7.1.2.5	Risk for developing hepatotoxicity	194		
7.2 Cell cul	ture model			
7.2.1 Me	ethodology			
7.2.1.1	Cell culture conditions			
7.2.1.2	CYP3A4 induction and RT-PCR	196		
7.2.1.3	Treatment and cell viability assay	197		
7.2.2 Res	sults	197		
7.2.2.1	Evidence of dexamethasone induction	197		
7.2.2.2	Cell viability			
7.3 Discuss	ion	201		
7.4 Limitati	ions of study			
7.5 Summa	ry of important findings	204		
8 Concluding	remarks and recommendations for future studies	206		

9	Pul	Publications arising from this work		
	9.1	Peer-review articles	212	
	9.2	Published abstracts and conference presentations	213	

10	References	
----	------------	--

Summary

The advent of molecular targeted therapy in the late 1990s marks a major breakthrough in the fight against cancer. The critical role of tyrosine kinases in the control of cancer phenotypes, coupled to the presence of suitable binding domains for small molecules, has led to the development of many tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) as molecularly targeting anti-cancer agents. While the use of TKIs have largely mitigated the conventional toxicities of chemotherapeutic agents (such as nausea, vomiting, alopecia, myelosuppression), a range of previously unknown and sometimes unpredictable toxicities like cutaneous, cardiac and liver toxicities began to surface. Clearly, such toxicities can impede the wider acceptance of TKIs as a mainstream therapy. Therefore, it is important to find ways to decrease the incidence of these toxicities so that the risk/benefit balance can be further optimized. Furthermore, the introduction of TKIs has also raised several new issues such as the tailoring of cancer treatment to an individual patient's tumor and the economics of cancer care. New approaches to determine optimal dosing, assess patient adherence to therapy and evaluate drug effectiveness and toxicity are also required with these novel targeted therapies.

It is increasingly appreciated that the causes of variability in terms of responses and toxicities observed with TKIs are manifold. Yet, the variability is influenced not only by genetic heterogeneity of drug targets (i.e., pharmacodynamic differences), but also by the patients' pharmacogenetic background. A significant source of variation arises from drug disposition, which includes the different processes of absorption, distribution, metabolism and excretion. Considerable pharmacokinetic (PK)

variability is also evident for virtually all of the TKIs. Current evidences have proposed an association between drug exposure with response or toxicities for several TKIs. Additionally, as a result of germline variation in the genes encoding for these enzymes and transporters, expression and activity of these enzymes and transporters are highly variable and may influence patient's exposure to the drugs and sensitivity to the treatment toxicities. Moreover, cancer patients are susceptible to drug-drug interactions (DDIs) as they receive many medications, either for supportive care or for treatment of therapy-induced toxicity. As the cytochrome P450 3A4 (CYP3A4) enzyme is implicated in the metabolism of almost all of the TKIs, there is a substantial potential for interaction between TKIs and other drugs that modulate the activity of this metabolic pathway.

Therefore, the overall aim of this thesis is to evaluate whether pharmacokinetic alterations in TKIs can contribute to toxicities, by focusing on three themes of drug exposure, genetic polymorphism and drug-drug interactions. It is important that these issues with toxicities are addressed to improve the management of anticancer therapy in patients so as to achieve anticancer efficacy and optimize risk/benefit ratio of these therapies.

xii

List of tables

Table 1. Overview of FDA-approved tyrosine kinase inhibitors (as of October 2014) 4
Table 2. Correlation of pharmacokinetic parameters, treatment efficacy and toxicity of
tyrosine kinase inhibitors11
Table 3. Metabolism profile of FDA-approved tyrosine kinase inhibitors
Table 4. Overall aims, research questions and approaches outlined in this thesis22
Table 5. Equations used in the estimation of drug exposure40
Table 6. Patient demographics and disease characteristics (n=36)45
Table 7. Total exposure levels across 3 cycles of sunitinib therapy
Table 8. Incidence of toxicities
Table 9. Exposure levels (C _{max,ss}) and toxicities
Table 10. Exposure levels (C _{min,ss}) and toxicities
Table 11. Mean IC_{50} of sunitinib and SU12662 in various cell lines71
Table 12. Comparison of PROs at the end of cycle 1 between patients with and
without grade 2 and above toxicities
Table 13. Effects of single nucleotide polymorphisms on sunitinib therapy
Table 14. Incidence of toxicities and CYP3A5 SNPs97
Table 15. Incidence of toxicities and ABCB1 SNPs 98
Table 16. Exposure levels (Cmin,ss) and SNPs 100
Table 17. Exposure levels (C _{max,ss}) and SNPs101
Table 18. Metabolism profile of FDA-approved tyrosine kinase inhibitors
Table 19. Potential effect of enzyme inhibitor/inducer on pharmacokinetics of
tyrosine kinase inhibitors

Table 20. Reported effect of TKIs as enzyme inhibitor/inducer on pharmacokinetics
of other drugs
Table 21. Characteristics of TKIs (daily dose and substrate of CYP450 enzymes)124
Table 22. Actual drug-drug interaction cases involving tyrosine kinase inhibitors as
documented in literature
Table 23. Characteristics of included studies
Table 24. Sensitivity analyses
Table 25. Tyrosine kinase inhibitors and their reactive metabolites
Table 26. Strategies to overcome TKI-induced hepatotoxicity 165
Table 27. The use of corticosteroids to manage TKI-induced hepatotoxicity
Table 28. Patient demographics and disease characteristics (erlotinib and
Table 28. Patient demographics and disease characteristics (erlotinib and dexamethasone)
Table 28. Patient demographics and disease characteristics (erlotinib and dexamethasone)
Table 28. Patient demographics and disease characteristics (erlotinib and dexamethasone)
Table 28. Patient demographics and disease characteristics (erlotinib and dexamethasone)
Table 28. Patient demographics and disease characteristics (erlotinib and dexamethasone)
Table 28. Patient demographics and disease characteristics (erlotinib and dexamethasone)
Table 28. Patient demographics and disease characteristics (erlotinib and dexamethasone)
Table 28. Patient demographics and disease characteristics (erlotinib and dexamethasone)

List of figures

Figure 1. Overview of the processes that influence treatment outcomes7
Figure 2. Distribution of patients
Figure 3. (A) Metabolism of parent drug to metabolite by drug metabolizing enzyme
(B) Enzyme induction and increased formation of metabolite (C) Enzyme induction
and increased formation of toxic metabolite (D) Enzyme inhibition and decreased
formation of metabolite (E) Enzyme inhibition and decreased formation of toxic
metabolite107
Figure 4. Study flow diagram137
Figure 5. All-types high-grade hepatotoxicity140
Figure 6. All-types all-grades hepatotoxicity141
Figure 7. High-grade hepatotoxicity due to ALT elevation142
Figure 8. High-grade hepatotoxicity due to AST elevation143
Figure 9. High-grade hepatotoxicity due to TB elevation144
Figure 10. Funnel plot of trials included for analysis for all-types high-grade
hepatotoxicity (primary endpoint)148
Figure 11. Distribution of patients (erlotinib and dexamethasone)
Figure 12. Distribution of patients
Figure 13. Evidence of dexamethasone induction on TAMH cells
Figure 14. Change in cell viability with treatment of lapatinib and dexamethasone
(DEX) (top) 10µM and (bottom) 20µM

List of acronyms

τ	Dosing interval		
AACR	American association for cancer research		
ABC	ATP-binding cassette		
ABCB1	ATP-binding cassette sub-family B member 1		
ABCG2	ATP-binding cassette sub-family G member 2		
AD	Attenuated dose		
AE	Adverse events		
ADME	Absorption, distribution, metabolism and excretion		
ADR	Adverse drug reactions		
ALT	Alanine transaminase		
ALP	Alkaline phosphatase		
AST	Aspartate transaminase		
ASCO	American society of clinical oncology		
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate		
AUC	Area under the curve		
BCRP	Breast cancer resistance protein		
CAM	Complementary and alternative medicine		
CI	Confidence interval		
Cl	Clearance		
C _{max}	Maximum (peak) concentration		
C _{max,ss}	Maximum (peak) concentration at the steady state		
C_{min}	Minimum (trough) concentration		
C _{min,ss}	Minimum (trough) concentration at the steady state		
CML	Chronic myelogenic leukemia		

CR	Complete response
CSF-1R	Colony stimulating factor receptor Type 1
СТ	Computed tomography
CTCAE	Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events
СҮР	Cytochrome P450
DDI	Drug-drug interaction
DEX	Dexamethasone
DILI	Drug-induced liver injury
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified eagle medium
DMEM/F-12	Dulbecco's modified Eagle's Media/Ham's F12
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
E	Patients who receive erlotinib without concurrent dexamethasone
E+D	Patients who receive erlotinib with concurrent dexamethasone
EAP	Expanded-access program
ECOG	Eastern cooperative oncology group
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
EGFR	Epidermal growth factor receptor
EGFRI	Epidermal growth factor receptor inhibitor
EQ-5D	EuroQoL Group's Five Dimensions Questionnaire
EWB	Emotional well-being
FACT-G	Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy-General
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
FDA	US Food and drug administration
FKSI-15	Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy-Kidney Symptom Index
FKSI-DRS	FKSI-Disease Related Symptom
FLT	Fms-like tyrosine kinase-3
FWB	Functional well-being

GIST	Gastro-intestinal stromal tumors		
HER2	Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2		
HPLC	High performance liquid chromatography		
HRQoL	Health-related quality of life		
IDR	Idiosyncratic drug reaction		
IQR	Inter-quartile range		
IS	Internal standard		
ITS	Insulin, transferrin and selenium mix		
k	Elimination rate constant		
KIT	Stem cell factor receptor		
L	Patients who receive lapatinib without concurrent dexamethasone		
L+D	Patients who receive lapatinib with concurrent dexamethasone		
LFT	Liver function tests		
mRCC	Metastatic renal cell carcinoma		
MSKCC	Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center		
MTT	Methylthiazolyldiphenyl-tetrazolium bromide		
NCCS	National Cancer Centre Singapore		
NSCLC	Non-small cell lung cancers		
OR	Odds ratio		
OS _{initiation}	Overall survival from treatment initiation		
OS _{total}	Overall survival from the first documented metastasis		
P/S	Penicillin/streptomycin		
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline		
PCR-RFLP	Polymerase Chain Reaction-Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphism		
PD	Progressive disease		
PDGFR	Platelet-derived growth factor		
PFS	Progression free survival		

Pgp	P-glycoprotein
PR	Partial response
PRO	Patient reported outcomes
РК	Pharmacokinetic
PWB	Physical well-being
PXR	Pregnane X receptor
RECIST	Response evaluation criteria in solid tumours
RET	Neurotrophic factor receptor
RCT	Randomized control trials
RM	Reactive metabolite
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
RR	Relative risk
RT-PCR	Real-time quantitative PCR
SD	Stable disease
SM Ratio	Sunitinib to metabolite ratio
SNP	Single nucleotide polymorphism
SWB	Social/family well-being
ТАМН	Transforming growth factor α mouse hepatocytes
ТВ	Total bilirubin
TDM	Therapeutic drug monitoring
TKI	Tyrosine kinase inhibitor
ТТО	Time trade off
TTP	Time to progression
ULN	Upper limit of normal
UV	Ultraviolet
VAS	Visual analogue scale
Vd	Volume of distribution

VEGFR Vascular endothelial growth factor

1 Introduction

The number of people diagnosed with cancer during their lifetime has been steadily increasing. [1] This increase in prevalence across the survivorship trajectory is attributed to improvements in cancer survival rates and the aging population, as cancer incidence rates tend to increase with age. At the same time, there is also a continual development of new anticancer drugs. Clinicians' and patients' hopes for elimination of cancer are renewed with each new class of drug(s); but each is also implicated with a new assortment of toxicities which may impact treatment tolerability and health outcomes. Although the survival trend is optimistic, it may come at a price. The need for routine monitoring, long term effects of the disease, and presence of treatment side effects may place a burden on the cancer patients.

1.1 Introduction to tyrosine kinase inhibitors

The advent of molecular targeted therapy in the late 1990s marks a major breakthrough in the fight against cancer. The significant advancement embodied by such pharmacotherapies is the ability to target specific proteins uniquely regulated in cancer cells or those involved in the mechanism for disease progression, so that offtarget effects on healthy tissues can be minimized. Targeted therapies may also be used in combination with conventional cytotoxic chemotherapy or even radiation to provide additive or synergistic anticancer activities as their toxicity profiles generally do not overlap. Thus, targeted therapies such as monoclonal antibodies and tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) represent a new and promising addition to the anticancer armamentarium. Tyrosine kinases emerged as a major family of proteins frequently dysregulated in various cancers, either through somatic mutations or overexpression. Activated forms of these enzymes can lead to several biochemical effects such as increase in tumor cell proliferation and growth, induce anti-apoptotic effects, and promote angiogenesis and metastasis. Their critical role in the control of cancer phenotypes, coupled to the presence of suitable binding domains for small molecules, has led to the development of many TKIs as anti-cancer agents. Among them, imatinib, an inhibitor of Bcr-Abl and c-KIT, was the first to be approved and is used for the treatment of chronic myelogenic leukemia (CML) and gastro-intestinal stromal tumors (GIST). [2, 3] Nonsmall cell lung cancers (NSCLC) that often carry dysregulation, specifically somatic mutations, such as the L858R mutation in the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) pathway were also managed with the use of gefitinib [4], erlotinib [5] and more recently, afatinib. [6] Multi-targeted kinase inhibitors such as sunitinib and sorafenib were approved for the treatment of renal cell carcinoma [7] and hepatocellular carcinoma [8] respectively, and have resulted in unprecedented successes. The growth of this industry is accelerating in two directions: first is through identifying new indications of approved agents and second is through the development of new agents to target tyrosine kinases that are involved in the growth of various cancers.

However, the introduction of targeted therapy has also raised several new issues such as the tailoring of cancer treatment to an individual patient's tumor and the economics of cancer care. Additionally, new approaches to determine optimal dosing, assess patient adherence to therapy and evaluate drug effectiveness and toxicity are also required with these novel targeted therapies. [9]

2

1.2 Common toxicities associated with tyrosine kinase inhibitors

While the use of TKIs have largely mitigated the conventional toxicities of chemotherapeutic agents (e.g. nausea, vomiting, alopecia, myelosuppression), a range of previously unknown and sometimes unpredictable toxicities began to surface. For example, cutaneous toxicity such as acneiform rash was observed with EGFR inhibitors. Sunitinib and sorafenib have caused hand-foot skin reaction (HFSR), while others have manifested more severe toxicities such as cardiotoxicity and hepatotoxicity as observed after therapy with nilotinib and pazopanib, respectively. [10, 11] In fact, 8 out of the 18 food and drug administration (FDA)-approved agents (as of October 2014) have black box warnings associated with their usage, suggesting the severity of toxicities in these agents. (Table 1) Among them, hepatotoxicity is the most recurrently highlighted toxicity, with black box warnings issued against lapatinib, sunitinib, pazopanib and most recently regorafenib and ponatinib. The sales and marketing of ponatinib has been previously suspended by the FDA due to the risk of life-threatening blood clots and severe narrowing of blood vessels, and which the FDA requires several safety measures to be in place before sale and marketing can be resumed. [12] Clearly, such toxicities can impede the wider acceptance of TKIs as a mainstream therapy. Therefore, it is important to identify strategies to decrease the incidence of these toxicities so that the risk/benefit balance can be further optimized.

	Year of approval	Indication(s)	Targets	FDA black box warning	Dosing administration	Ref
Afatinib (Gilotrif)	2013	- Metastatic NSCLC with EGFR mutations	EGFR, HER2, HER4		40 mg once daily	[6]
Axitinib (Inlyta)	2012	- Advanced RCC	VEGFR-1, VEGFR-2, and VEGFR-3		5 mg twice daily	[13]
Bosutinib (Bosulif)	2012	- CML	Bcr-Abl, Src		500 mg once daily	[14]
Cabozantinib (Cometriq)	2012	- Thyroid Cancer	RET, MET, VEGFR-1, -2 and -3, KIT, TRKB, FLT-3, AXL, and TIE-2	Hemorrhage	140 mg once daily	[15]
Ceritinib (Zykadia)	2014	- ALK+ NSCLC	ALK		750mg once daily	[16]
Crizotinib (Xalkori)	2011	- ALK+ NSCLC	ALK, MET, RON		250 mg twice daily	[17]
Dasatinib (Sprycel)	2006	- CML - Ph+ ALL	Bcr-Abl, Src		100 mg once daily	[18]
Erlotinib (Tarceva)	2004	- NSCLC - Metastatic pancreatic cancer	EGFR		100 – 150 mg once daily	[19]
Gefitinib (Iressa)	2003	- NSCLC	EGFR		250 mg once daily	[20]
Imatinib (Gleevec)	2001	- CML - GIST - Ph+ ALL	Bcr-Abl		300 – 800 mg once daily*	[21]
Lapatinib (Tykerb)	2007	- Metastatic Breast Cancer	EGFR, HER2	Hepatotoxicity	1250 – 1500 mg once daily*	[22]
Nilotinib (Tasigna)	2007	- CML	Bcr-Abl	QT prolongation	300 mg twice daily	[23]
Pazopanib	2009	- RCC	VEGFR-1, VEGFR-2 and VEGFR-	Hepatotoxicity	800 mg once daily	[24]

Table 1. Overview of FDA-approved tyrosine kinase inhibitors (as of October 2014)

(Votrient)		- Soft Tissue Sarcoma	3						
Ponatinib (Iclusig)	2012	- CML - Ph+ ALL	Bcr-Abl	Arterial thrombosis and hepatotoxicity	45 mg once daily	[25]			
Regorafenib (Stivarga)	2012	- Metastatic Colorectal Cancer - GIST	VEGFR2 and TIE2	Hepatotoxicity	160 mg once daily	[26]			
Sorafenib (Nexavar)	2005	- RCC - Unresectable HCC	KIT, FLT-3, VEGFR-2, VEGFR-3 and PDGFR-B		400 mg twice daily	[27]			
Sunitinib (Sutent)	2006	- RCC - GIST - pNET	PDGFR (α,β) VEGFR (1, 2, 3), KIT, FLT3, CSF-1R, RET	Hepatotoxicity	37.5 – 50 mg once daily*	[28]			
Vandetanib (Caprelsa)	2011	- Thyroid Cancer	EGFR, VEGFR, RET	QT prolongation	800 mg once daily	[29]			
Abbreviations: ALL, acute lymphoblastic leukemia; ALK+, anaplastic lymphoma kinase; CML, chronic myeloid leukemia; FDA, Food and Drug									
Administration; GIST, gastrointestinal stromal tumor; NSCLC, non-small-cell lung cancer; RCC, renal cell carcinoma; HCC, hepatocellular carcinoma;									
<i>Ph+ ALL</i> , Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoid leukemia; <i>pNET</i> , progressive, well-differentiated pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors									
* Dosing administration depends on indication									

S

Chapter 1

1.3 Inter-patient variability in exposure of tyrosine kinase inhibitors

Unlike conventional chemotherapies, TKIs are typically administered orally at fixed doses and often on a daily basis. It is well recognized that equivalent drug doses may result in wide inter-patient variability with regards to drug response, as reflected by differences in drug activity and off-target toxicity and this is similarly observed with TKIs. Although each TKI have their specific targets, not all patients with the target mutation will respond and likewise the nature and severity of adverse events also exhibits extensive variations among patients. Considerable pharmacokinetic (PK) variability is also evident for virtually all of the TKIs. For example, inter-patient variation of area under the curve (AUC) levels is 55% [30], 47% [31] and 71% [32] for imatinib, sunitinib and pazopanib respectively. The variability in drug exposure to TKIs may play a role to the variation in the anti-cancer effects as well as the manifestation of toxicities.

1.4 Sources of inter-patient variability

No two individuals respond to a drug in the same way. A drug may work as expected in one patient, but may fail to exert any effect on another. The side effects of the drug may also be acceptable to most people, but may be harmful or lethal to some others. Certainly, there are many factors attributing to these differences. It is increasingly appreciated that the causes of variability observed with TKIs are manifold. The variability is influenced not only by genetic heterogeneity of drug targets (i.e., pharmacodynamics differences), but also by the patients' pharmacogenetic background. A significant source of variation arises from the PK processes of drug disposition, which includes the different processes of absorption, distribution, metabolism and excretion (ADME). As such, variations to any of the ADME processes, for example as a result of drug-drug interaction, could affect the drug disposition and consequently, patient's response and toxicity. Since both pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics processes contribute to the clinical outcome of efficacy and/or toxicity, and genetic variation may occur in either or both of the process, the final clinical outcome is a result of an intricate relationship between all the processes. (Figure 1) Other identified factors that may also contribute to variability include age, gender, organ function, comorbidities, concomitant medications, environment, lifestyle (e.g. smoking, alcohol), and adherence to treatment. [33-35]



Figure 1. Overview of the processes that influence treatment outcomes

1.4.1 Alterations in absorption

As TKIs are typically taken orally, issues such as compliance, absorption and firstpass metabolism may affect the process of absorption. Variability in intestinal absorption and entero-hepatic circulation, as well as the influence of food and other medications may contribute to the inter-patient variability in drug absorption. Certain diets such as high-fat meals have been known to affect absorption. For instance, the AUC of lapatinib and pazopanib can be increased under the influence of a high-fat meal. [36, 37] However, there are also some TKIs where absorption is not affected by diet, such as imatinib and sunitinib. [38, 39] Furthermore, presence of comorbidities such as gastrointestinal tumors may also affect absorption of drugs. Since absorption limits the amount of drug that goes into the blood stream, any differences in absorption will affect all subsequent processes.

1.4.2 Alterations in distribution

TKIs are extensively distributed into tissues and are highly protein bound, resulting in a large volume of distribution and a long terminal half-life. Hypoalbuminemia secondary to malignant cachexia or liver metastases can increase the amount of free drug, leading to higher risk for toxicity. [34] The distribution process may also be affected by body size. For example, the volume of distribution of sunitinib was affected by body size. [40] Consequently, patients with sarcopenia, low body mass index or low body surface area experienced significantly more dose-limiting toxicities. [41, 42]

1.4.3 Alterations in metabolism

Almost all of the TKIs undergo metabolism by the cytochrome P450 (CYP) family of enzymes, with the CYP3A4 enzyme being the most commonly involved in the metabolism of the majority of the TKIs. Therefore, any alterations to the activity of the enzyme, such as drug-drug interactions (DDIs) or genetic polymorphisms, may have an influence on the drug and metabolite levels.

1.4.4 Alterations in excretion

The majority of TKIs are substrates for drug transporters in the form of efflux pumps (e.g. ABCB1 and ABCG2) or uptake transporters (e.g. SLC22A1). Transport proteins have an important role in regulating the absorption, distribution and excretion of many medications. Similar to drug metabolizing enzymes, the activity of drug transporters may be affected by DDIs or genetic polymorphisms in the transporter.

Although there are various potential causes for such inter-individual variability, differences in metabolism and disposition of drugs, and genetic polymorphism in the drug target receptors may have a large influence on the efficacy and toxicity of medications. [43]

1.5 Association between exposure and response/toxicities

Current evidences have proposed an association between drug exposure with response or toxicities for several TKIs. [34, 44] (Table 2) Drug exposure is commonly measured by trough concentrations (C_{min}) or AUC. For example, imatinib, the

Chapter 1

archetypal TKI, clinical response as well as cytogenic and molecular response have been found to be associated with trough concentrations. Toxicities such as hematological toxicities have also been identified to be associated with imatinib concentrations. In another example, sunitinib, it was demonstrated in a meta-analysis that higher sunitinib AUC was associated with a better response, in terms of longer time to progression, longer overall survival and greater reduction in tumor size. It was also shown that higher exposure was associated with an increased risk of several adverse events including hypertension and neutropenia. [45] Consequently, any changes to the drug exposure as a result of the factors mentioned earlier may translate to a deviation in response and toxicities.

TKI	PK parameter	Clinical response	Ref	
Erlotinib	C _{ss}	Improved survival	[46]	
Cofitinih	D8/D3 C _{min} ratio	PFS	[47]	
Gentinio	C _{min}	OS	[48]	
	C _{min}	TTP	[49]	
	C _{min}	Molecular response	[50]	
Imatinib	AUC	Response	[51]	
	C	Cytogenic response	[52]	
	C_{\min}	Molecular response	[32]	
Nilotinib	C _{min}	TTP	[53]	
Dogononih	C	PFS	[54]	
Pazopanio	C_{\min}	RR		
		Tumor response		
Sunitinib	AUC	PFS	[45]	
		OS		
TKI	PK parameter	Toxicity	Ref	
Afatinih	AUC/C	Diarrhea	[55]	
Alatino	AUC/C _{max}	Rash		
Frlotinih	C _{min}	Rash	[56]	
Liiotiiio	AUC/ C _{max}	Rash	[57]	
Gefitinib	C _{min}	Diarrhea	[58]	
	C _{min}	C _{min} Hematological toxicity		
Imatinib	C _{min}	Hematological toxicity	[59]	
	AUC	Nunber of adverse events	[51]	
	AUC	Anemia	[60]	
Nilotinib	AUC	Bilirubin elevation	[00]	
	C _{min}	QT prolongation	[60]	
		Diarrhea	[61]	
Pazonanih	C	Stomatitis		
1 azopanio	Cmin	HFSR		
		Transaminases elevation		
	C _{min}	Grade 3 toxicity	[62]	
Sorafenih	C	HFSR	[63]	
Soluteino	Cmin	Hypertension		
	AUC	Grade 3 toxicity	[64]	
Sunitinib	C _{min}	Hypertension	[45]	
Summit	AUC	Neutropenia	[45]	
Abbreviation	ns: AUC, area under the cu	arve; C_{max} , peak concentration; C_{min} , troug	gh	
concentration	n; C_{ss} , steady-state concer	tration; D, day; HFSR, hand-foot skin rea	action; OS,	

Table 2. Correlation of pharmacokinetic parameters, treatment efficacy and toxicity of tyrosine kinase inhibitors

Abbreviations: AUC, area under the curve; C_{max} , peak concentration; C_{min} , trough concentration; C_{ss} , steady-state concentration; D, day; HFSR, hand-foot skin reaction; OS, overall survival; PFS, progression free survival; PK, pharmacokinetic; RR, response rates; TTP, time to progression

1.6 Genetic variation of drug exposure

The tumor or somatic genome, mainly determines the features of the tumor such as its aggressiveness and sensitivity to treatment. On the other hand, the patient or germline genome primarily dictates how the body handles and reacts to the chosen treatment. [65] The pharmacokinetics of a drug, which may determine its efficacy and toxicity, is dictated by the latter. As mentioned in the earlier sections, large variations in pharmacokinetics exist between patients. Although there are various potential causes for this variability, inherited differences in metabolism and disposition of drugs, and genetic polymorphism in the drug target receptors may have a large influence on the efficacy and toxicity of medications. [43] For every individual drug, several enzymes as well as transporters are involved in the ADME process. As a result of germline variation in the genes encoding for these enzymes and transporters, expression and activity of these enzymes and transporters are highly variable and may influence patient's exposure to the drugs and sensitivity to the treatment toxicities.

Almost every enzyme involved in drug metabolism exhibits genetic polymorphisms that may contribute to inter-individual variability in drug response. [66] However, not all polymorphisms are clinically relevant. Among the family of CYP enzymes, CYP2D6 represents one of the best studied and understood examples of pharmacogenetic variation in drug metabolism, which can affect drugs like antidepressants and antipsychotics etc. [67] Just about all of the TKIs undergo metabolism by CYP enzymes, with the CYP3A4 being involved in the metabolism of the majority of the TKIs. (Table 3) Additionally, as both CYP3A4 and CYP3A5 share substrate specificity, polymorphism in CYP3A5 enzyme associated with the *3 allele may
cause an accumulation of the parent drug, therefore the single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) in CYP3A5 is of importance as the mutant CYP3A5*3 allele is highly prevalent in Asians. [68]

Transport proteins play an important role in regulating the absorption, distribution and excretion of many medications. The most extensively studied transporters are members of the adenosine triphosphate (ATP)-binding cassette (ABC) family of transporters, such as the P-glycoprotein (Pgp), which is encoded by the ABC sub-family B member 1 (ABCB1) gene. Pgp affects the pharmacokinetics (PK) of a drug by affecting the processes of oral absorption, renal clearance and uptake into tissues such as the brain. In cases where an individual has an increased expression of Pgp, reduced oral bioavailability, decreased plasma concentrations, increased renal clearance and decreased drug exposure would be expected. [69] Therefore, polymorphisms with the ABCB1 gene may affect the expression of drug transporters and thus bioavailability, although the functional effect of the polymorphism on the Pgp has been heavily debated. [69]

Furthermore, there is also marked heterogeneity in the types and frequencies of the polymorphisms among the different populations and ethnic groups. This means that the optimal dose of medications may also differ among the populations.

	Major CYPs	Minor CYPs & others		
Afatinib	Neg	Negligible		
	CYP3A4	CYP1A2		
Axitinib	CYP3A5	CYP2C19		
	0115/05	UGT1A1		
Bosutinib	CYP3A4	-		
Cabozantinib	CYP3A4	CYP2C9		
Crizotinib	CYP3A4			
	CYP3A5	-		
Decetinih		FMO-3		
Dasatillio	CTF 3A4	UGT		
Erlotinih		CYP1A2		
Erlotinib	CIP3A4	CYP1A1		
Cafitinih	CYP3A4			
Gentinio	CYP2D6	-		
		CYP1A2		
Imotinih	CYP3A4	CYP2D6		
Imatinib	CYP2C8	CYP2C9		
		CYP2C19		
Lonotinih	CYP3A4	CYP2C19		
Lapatinio	CYP3A5	CYP2C8		
Nilotinib	CYP3A4	CYP2C8		
Pazopanib	CVD2 A 4	CYP1A2		
	CIP3A4	CYP2C8		
		CYP2C8		
Ponatinib	CYP3A4	CYP2D6		
		CYP3A5		
Regorafenib	CYP3A4	UGT1A9		
Sorafenib	CYP3A4	UGT1A9		
Sunitinib	CYP3A4	-		
Vandatanih	CVD2A4	FMO-1		
v andetanib	CIP3A4	FMO-3		
Note: All information	was obtained from product in	nformation labels [70, 71]		

 Table 3. Metabolism profile of FDA-approved tyrosine kinase inhibitors

1.7 Drug-drug interaction in the pharmacokinetic pathway

DDIs occur when a patient's pharmacological or clinical response to the drug is modified by administration or co-exposure to another drug. Pharmacokinetic interactions occur when one drug influences the pharmacokinetic processes such as absorption, distribution, metabolism and excretion, of another drug. This thesis focuses on DDI involving metabolism as altered metabolism is among the most complex of these processes by which DDIs can occur, and induction or inhibition of hepatic enzymes by drugs are often implicated. The clinical consequences of enzyme induction or inhibition depend on the pharmacological and toxic effect of both the parent drug and its metabolite(s). For example, if the parent compound is more active than its metabolite, inhibition of metabolism increases the exposure to the drug and also its therapeutic and/or toxic effects. However, if the parent compound is a prodrug, inhibition of metabolism may result in a decrease in therapeutic efficacy. More recently, another paradigm of interaction arises when the metabolite is more toxic, hence induction of metabolism down this pathway can exacerbate toxicity.

Central to the metabolism of drugs are the CYP family of enzymes. This consists of numerous enzymes that are responsible for the Phase I metabolism of many drugs, nutrients, endogenous substances, and environmental toxins. The main CYP enzyme, CYP3A4, is responsible for the metabolism of more than 50% of all drugs in the market. It is also implicated in the metabolism of almost all of the TKIs. Therefore, there is a substantial potential for interaction between TKIs and other drugs that modulate the activity of this metabolic pathway. The degree of interaction is also dependent on the extent of hepatic clearance compared to overall clearance, and whether intrinsic clearance is a limiting factor for the drug of concern.

Cancer patients are susceptible to DDIs as they receive many medications, either for supportive care or for treatment of therapy-induced toxicity. [72] For instance, an observational study highlighted that patients were receiving on average 6.8 drugs in addition to sunitinib. Among them, antihypertensive drugs were most commonly prescribed, followed by analgesics, antiemetics and thyroid substitution therapy. [73] In certain cases, a cancer patient's pharmacokinetic parameters may also be altered, for example, edema affecting volume of distribution or impaired drug absorption due to malnutrition or mucositis; these issues may also affect the consequences of DDIs. Since most cancers typically occur at a later age, these patients may also be receiving other drugs for the management of their comorbidities. Differences in DDI outcomes are generally minor because of the wide therapeutic windows of common drugs; however, in cancer chemotherapy with anti-cancer drugs, serious clinical consequences may occur from small changes in drug metabolism and pharmacokinetics. [74]

1.8 Role of therapeutic drug monitoring and individualized therapy

For conventional chemotherapy, therapeutic drug monitoring (TDM) is regarded as impractical for routine use in clinical practice due to various reasons such as the lack of established therapeutic ranges and concentration-effect relationships, the frequent use of multi-drug combinations with overlapping therapeutic and toxic effects, relatively short elimination half-lives and multiple blood samples are needed to adequately define systemic exposure. [35, 75-77] Hence, with the exception of methotrexate, TDM for anticancer drugs are not routinely used in clinical practice. [35] On the other hand, targeted therapy like TKIs are prime candidates for a TDM program. TKIs are administered daily via the oral route and at fixed doses for most of

the time. These drugs possess long elimination half-lives, which makes it possible to estimate drug exposure with a single measurement. TKIs also fulfill most of the traditional prerequisites of TDM, which are long-term therapy, significant interindividual and relative low intra-individual variability, a narrow therapeutic range, a defined and consistent exposure-response (efficacy/toxicity) relationships, availability of a validated sensitive bioanalytical method and the absence of an easily measurable biomarker for drug effects. [76, 78]

There are several potential benefits of TDM in TKIs. Firstly, under-dosing and overdosing may be prevented by tailoring the doses to achieve desired drug levels. Secondly, drug concentrations may also be used to delineate whether toxicities are related to the targeted agent or to other causes. Next, it may also be useful in detecting drug-drug interactions as well as to monitor adherence. [35] Although pharmacokinetic targets have been proposed for several TKIs, most remains to be validated in prospective clinical studies. Clinicians should be aware of the limitations of the clinical studies of which the PK targets were based on. The type of patients enrolled, limited cohort of patients, blood sampling protocol as well as method of data analysis should be taken into consideration before adopting the respective PK targets in clinical practice. Although currently available evidences are insufficient to mandate TDM in clinical practice, this option should be further explored due to the favorable PK profile and benefits. The enhanced efficacy and abrogation of toxicity as a result of accurate dosing by TDM will give a competitive advantage for these drugs.

1.9 Research gaps and specific aims

1.9.1 Research gaps and hypothesis

The previous sections summarized the background literature surrounding the main topic of this thesis, which is how alterations in pharmacokinetics may affect the presence of toxicities. TKIs are administered orally and are reported to have large inter-individual differences in their pharmacokinetics. This leads to the following questions: (1) How does this inter-individual variation in pharmacokinetics play a role in the manifestation of toxicity? (2) How does this affect drug and metabolite levels and thus affecting the risk of toxicity? (3) By understanding the pharmacokinetics and its effect on toxicity, can we adopt an individualized therapy regimen, so as to ensure a balance between efficacy and toxicity?

The key research question that this thesis aims to answer is whether pharmacokinetic alterations in TKIs can contribute to toxicities, by focusing on drug exposure, genetic polymorphisms and DDI. Although the exposure-response and pharmacokinetics targets (target drug levels) have been proposed for several TKIs, most of the information was derived through retrospective analysis. [76] Different malignancies were also grouped together to facilitate analysis, although cancer types may enact as a source of pharmacokinetic variation. The somatic genome primarily determines tumor prognosis and response while the germline genome modulates treatment exposure and toxicity. As genetic polymorphisms in the pharmacokinetic pathway may affect exposure, and thus toxicity, it is important to study them in an Asian population, where the frequencies of the various genotypes may be different from other population such as Caucasians or Africans. Cancer patients are at risk of DDIs due to

the large number of medications they receive. DDIs are important in patient receiving TKIs but prospective studies are limited and challenging. Outcomes of DDI of common drugs are broadly unnoticeable due to their wide therapeutic index; however, in anti-cancer drugs like TKIs, serious clinical consequences may occur from small changes in the drug metabolism and pharmacokinetics.

This thesis hypothesizes that pharmacokinetic alterations in TKIs play a role in TKIassociated toxicities.

1.9.2 Specific aims

The overall aim of this thesis is to evaluate whether pharmacokinetic alterations in TKIs can contribute to toxicities. There are three specific aims focusing on the three themes in this thesis – drug exposure, genetic polymorphism and drug-drug interactions.

Most exposure-response correlations are defined by retrospective analysis. Hence, this thesis aimed to explore the association between the manifestation of TKI-associated toxicities and plasma drug levels and consequently, to determine the role of TDM as a possible management strategy for TKI-induced toxicity.

The variability observed with TKIs is influenced not only by genetic heterogeneity of drug targets, but is also contributed by the patients' pharmacogenetic background and also the environmental factors that influence pharmacokinetics. Thus, the disposition of TKIs, which may be affected by variability of proteins in their pharmacokinetic pathway, could play a role in explaining the differences in response and in toxicities

observed. Therefore, the thesis aimed to explore the role of genetic polymorphism in TKI-associated toxicities, by investigating the association between genetic polymorphisms of key drug metabolizing enzyme and drug transporters and their risk for toxicities.

The main CYP enzyme, CYP3A4, is implicated in the metabolism of almost all of the TKIs. Therefore, there is a substantial potential for interaction between TKIs and other drugs that modulate the activity of this metabolic pathway. This thesis aims to assess the effect of metabolism-related pharmacokinetic drug-drug interactions on risk for TKI-associated toxicity. Based on what is known as risk factors for developing drug-induced liver injury (DILI), it is not surprising to observe this with TKIs use, as most of them possess the risk factors such as high daily dose, substrate of P450 enzyme, generation of reactive metabolites and involved in significant hepatic metabolism. Moreover, the liver is the main site of metabolism and any metabolites formed could likely induce a localized damage, thereby convicting the liver at risk for metabolism-related DDI toxicities. Therefore, this thesis will use hepatotoxicity as a case study and will evaluate how the manifestation of DDI affects the risk of hepatotoxicity.

1.9.3 Overall approaches

This project adopts both prospective and retrospective approaches to investigate the role of pharmacokinetic alterations in TKI-associated toxicities in an Asian population. (Table 4)

To address the first and second aims, a prospective, cohort study will be conducted in Asian metastatic renal cell carcinoma (mRCC) patients receiving sunitinib. Drug exposure to sunitinib in these mRCC patients will be determined in chapter 2. The association between the manifestation of sunitinib-associated toxicities and plasma drug levels will be studied in chapter 3. In addition, the in-vitro toxic potential of sunitinib and its active equipotent metabolite, SU12662, will also be evaluated. Further, the relationship between genetic polymorphisms of CYP3A5 and ABCB1 and their risk for toxicities will also be investigated in chapter 4.

For the third aim, the role of metabolism-related DDI in TKI therapy will be explored. The effect of metabolism-related drug interaction on hepatotoxicity will be evaluated in a study involving lapatinib and dexamethasone, where a nested case-control study, as well as a parallel in-vitro cell culture set up will be adopted. Additionally, this thesis will further address why TKIs are at risk for hepatotoxicity and quantify the risk through a meta-analysis.

Aims	Research questions	Approach
1. To explore the association between the manifestation of TKI- associated toxicities and plasma drug levels	What is the association between plasma level of sunitinib and/or active metabolite and the manifestation of toxicity?	Prospective, cohort study
	What is the difference in the in-vitro toxic potential of sunitinib vs. its active metabolite?	In-vitro cell toxicity assays
2. To explore the role of genetic polymorphism in TKI-associated toxicities	What is the association between CYP3A5 and ABCB1 SNPs with the manifestation of toxicity? What is the association between CYP3A5 and ABCB1 SNPs with the plasma level of sunitinib and/or active metabolite?	Prospective, cohort study
	What is the role of metabolism-related DDIs in TKI therapy?	Systematic review
3. To assess the effect of metabolism-related pharmacokinetic drug- drug interactions on risk for TKI-associated toxicity	What is the risk of TKI-induced hepatotoxicity in cancer patients?	Meta-analysis
	Why is TKI at risk for hepatotoxicity?	Systematic review
	Does the CYP3A4 inducer, dexamethasone, affect the incidence of hepatotoxicity of lapatinib?	Nested case- control In-vitro cell toxicity assays

Table 4. Overall aims, research o	questions and	approaches	outlined in	this thesis
-----------------------------------	---------------	------------	-------------	-------------

1.10 Scope of thesis

Two TKIs will be selected as drug candidates for investigation in this thesis. Sunitinib will be used for the first and second aims, while lapatinib will be used for the third aim.

1.10.1 Sunitinib

Sunitinib is a small molecule that inhibits multiple receptor tyrosine kinases, such as platelet-derived growth factor (PDGFR α and PDGFR β), vascular endothelial growth factors (VEGFR1, VEGFR2, VEGFR3), stem cell factor receptor (KIT), Fms-like tyrosine kinase-3 (FLT3), colony stimulating factor receptor Type 1 (CSF-1R), and the glial cell-line derived neurotrophic factor receptor (RET). Sunitinib demonstrates ability to inhibit PDGFR β - and VEGFR2- dependent tumor angiogenesis in-vivo. The approval of sunitinib has significantly improved the outlooks of patients with mRCC. In the Phase III clinical trial that led to its approval, sunitinib showed significant prolongation of progression-free survival as compared with previous gold standard therapy, interferon- α (11 months vs. 5 months, p<0.001). [79] In a recent trial that compared the efficacy of sunitinib with another multi-targeted TKI, pazopanib, both demonstrated similar efficacy, although sunitinib was associated with a higher incidence of toxicities such as severe fatigue, HFSR and thrombocytopenia. [80] Currently, sunitinib is one of the recommended agents for first line treatment of mRCC. [44]

Sunitinib is administered at 50 mg, orally daily for 4-weeks, followed by 2-weeks off, in a repeated 6-week dosing cycle for mRCC. Following administration in humans, sunitinib is primarily metabolized by CYP3A4 to an active N-desethyl metabolite,

SU12662. The metabolite, SU12662, exhibits similar potency as sunitinib in biochemical tyrosine kinase and cellular proliferation assays, acting towards VEGFR, PDGFR and KIT. [28] Sunitinib together with SU12662 form the major drug related compounds in plasma, accounting for 91.5% in pooled samples, with sunitinib having 3 - 4 times higher exposure than SU12662. Combined plasma concentrations of sunitinib and SU12662 ranged from 50 - 100 ng/ml has been shown to be effective for its anti-proliferative effects. [81, 82] Both sunitinib and SU12662 have previously been shown to display linear pharmacokinetics and have prolonged half-lives of about 40 and 80 h, respectively. [28] To a large extent, the exposure to sunitinib accounts for its efficacy in disease management.

Although sunitinib produces favorable clinical outcomes, high incidences of toxicities are associated with its therapy. These toxicities such as HFSR, thrombocytopenia and stomatitis were dose-limiting and resulted in a high rate of dose reductions and discontinuations. [79, 83, 84] Incidence of dose reductions and toxicities were also observed more frequently in Asian populations. Dose reduction was observed to be 46% in a Korean study [84], which is significantly higher than that previously observed in the pivotal phase III trial (32%) [79] and the expanded-access program (EAP) (33%). [83] High grade (more than grade 3) toxicities such as HFSR and thrombocytopenia: 16%), than in previous phase 3 trial (HFSR: 5% and thrombocytopenia: 8% respectively). In a sub-analysis conducted with the EAP population, incidence of high grade toxicities was more prevalent in the Asian population. [85] For instance, the incidence of high-grade thrombocytopenia was 26%

and 13% in Asians and non-Asians, respectively. Altogether, these reports suggest a distinct difference in the incidence and severity of some adverse events observed between populations.

Consequently, mRCC patients at our local cancer centre, National Cancer Centre Singapore (NCCS), are receiving an attenuated dose (AD) of sunitinib (37.5 mg daily for 4-weeks, followed by 2-weeks off). [86] In a recent study, Houk *et al* demonstrated that a higher sunitinib exposure was associated with longer time to progression, longer overall survival, greater reduction in tumor size and increased risk of adverse events (fatigue, hypertension and neutropenia). [45] Thus, leading to the question of whether sufficient exposure is achieved with the attenuated dose of sunitinib and how does this attenuated dose reflects in the incidence of toxicities.

Sunitinib is a desirable choice to address both the first and second aims for various reasons. Firstly, since an AD of sunitinib is being used by local mRCC patients, this study seeks to provide an objective measure of effectiveness for this off-label AD regimen. As toxicities and consequently, dose reductions are common in this group of patients, sunitinib is an excellent candidate to study the effect of drug exposure with clinical response and toxicities. Furthermore, sunitinib is one of the TKIs where proposed pharmacokinetic targets are available. [76] Therefore, it would be valuable to study whether the AD provides sufficient exposure for our local patients, by taking reference to the recommended therapeutic target concentration.

In addition, since both sunitinib and SU12662 acts on similar receptors like VEGFR, PDGFR and KIT, toxicities associated with sunitinib therapy could also be likely

attributed to SU12662. As such, could either sunitinib or SU12662 be more toxic than the other? If so, how does variation in the activation pathways affect toxicities?

1.10.2 Lapatinib

Lapatinib is a small molecule dual-kinase inhibitor which inhibits the growth of tumor cells that over-express the human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2) and EGFR. Lapatinib is indicated in combination with capecitabine, for the treatment of patients with HER2-positive advanced or metastatic breast cancer who have received prior therapy including an anthracycline, a taxane and trastuzumab. [87] It is also indicated in combination with letrozole for treatment of HER2-positive metastatic breast cancer in postmenopausal women. [88]

Side effects of lapatinib are relatively mild, which include diarrhea, rash, pruritus, and nausea. However, a very small subset of patients (less than 1%) succumbs to potentially life threatening liver injury. A black box warning for lapatinib use has been issued to warn prescribers against the potential occurrence of hepatotoxicity. [22] Existing clinical evidence indicates that lapatinib-induced hepatotoxicity is idiosyncratic.

A recent study demonstrated that metabolism of lapatinib generates a reactive metabolite (RM), which has been implicated in other examples of idiosyncratic hepatotoxicity. The generation of lapatinib RM has reported to be from metabolism by CYP3A4 and CYP3A5. [89-91] Many RMs have intrinsic reactivity towards certain types of cellular macromolecules, leading to disruption of protein, lipids, DNA and oxidative stress. Additionally, they may cause mitochondrial dysfunction and loss

Chapter 1

of energy production. This impairment of cellular function can result in cell death and possible organ failure. [92] Therefore, factors that affect metabolism and thus generation of RM, such as polymorphism in drug metabolizing enzymes, and DDI could likely affect the manifestation of toxicity. For instance, metabolism of acetaminophen in the liver includes the formation of a RM, the N-acetyl-p-benzoquinoneimine. [93] In the presence of an inducer, RM formation was increased which markedly enhanced hepatotoxicity. [94] Since the metabolism of lapatinib also generates reactive quinoneimine species, factors that increase metabolism may potentially affect toxicity.

The liver is the regulator of chemical homeostasis in the body and is the main site for bioactivation and detoxification of drugs and their metabolites. Hence, any potentially toxic metabolite generated in the process can readily exert a localized damage. Therefore, we propose the use of hepatotoxicity as a model to study the effects of metabolism on lapatinib-induced toxicity.

Lapatinib is a good drug candidate in this context because of its association with a black box warning for hepatotoxicity. The onset of hepatotoxicity appears to carry classical features of idiosyncrasy such as high dosage (> 100 mg) required for clinical use (also seen with acetaminophen, felbamate and procainamide), substrate of P450 enzyme and has significant hepatic metabolism. [95, 96] Although several TKIs have been reported to be capable of generating RM, lapatinib is one of a few TKIs where its metabolites have been extensively characterized (the others being erlotinib, gefitinib and dasatinib).

1.11 Significance of thesis

The number of people diagnosed with cancer during their lifetime has been steadily increasing. [1] Although the survival trend is optimistic, it may come at a price. The need for routine monitoring, long term effects of the disease, and presence of treatment side effects will place a burden on the cancer patients.

Large clinical trials provide efficacy and safety data from a group of carefully selected patients. The characteristics of the population involved in the clinical trials may sometimes be different from the actual patients in clinical practice. Furthermore, although these clinical trials are useful for determining which drug is superior across the patient population, they provide little about which drug is best for an individual. Thus, not surprisingly, there is considerable variation between patients in response to a given drug therapy.

The uncertain nature of patients' response may impose further challenges to a patient's therapy. The new anti-cancer TKIs are generally costly and ineffective therapy is a waste of financial resources. The presence of treatment-related toxicities may also impair the patient's quality of life. Furthermore, an ineffective therapy may encourage tumor resistance, hampering tumor control with further lines of therapy. These costs make it critical that we develop strategies for selecting optimal treatments for individual patients.

Dose reductions of TKIs as a result of toxicity are common, and are often empirical. Under-dosing compromises efficacy, yet determination of the appropriate extent of dose reductions to prevent an ineffective dosage is often difficult. By understanding this association, a therapeutic window for these agents could be established and with that the role of TDM for TKIs could also be studied as a possibility.

Variations in drug exposure and thus toxicity may be likely due to genetic polymorphisms. These genetic polymorphisms can arise from genes involved in either or both pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of the TKI. Here, we focus on genetic polymorphisms in genes that affect the pharmacokinetics pathway of the TKI. By identifying specific populations of patients who may be at higher risk of toxicity, individualization of therapy could be performed for each patient. Appropriate starting dose and management strategies could be adopted for individual patients with an aim of balancing efficacy and toxicity.

Polypharmacy is common among cancer patients, especially in elderly patients. Since most TKIs undergo metabolism by CYP enzymes, especially CYP3A enzymes, DDIs would be very common as these enzymes are responsible for the metabolism of more than 50% of the drugs available in the market. As DDIs may affect the exposure to TKIs, it is vital to understand how these interactions may affect exposure and thus risk of toxicity. This will be important in managing patients with DDIs.

Since the significant enhancement of the anticancer armamentarium with the introduction of targeted anticancer therapies, cancer has transformed from a death sentence into a chronic disease. Therefore, it is important that we address these issues with toxicities so as to achieve anticancer efficacy and optimize risk/benefit ratio of these therapies. Ultimately, this project seeks to provide evidence for individualization of TKI therapy for cancer patients, to ensure a balance between

efficacy and toxicity. Furthermore, individualized therapy could also lead to cost savings, where a lower dose could be used in a patient who achieves adequate drug exposure with acceptable response and minimal toxicity.

2 Drug exposure in the use of an attenuated dosing regimen of sunitinib in Asian metastatic renal cell carcinoma patients

2.1 Use of attenuated dosing regimen of sunitinib

The approved dosing of sunitinib for mRCC is 50 mg once daily for 4 weeks followed by 2 weeks of rest in a repeated 6-week cycle. One study has demonstrated that an AUC at the steady state of above 0.8 µg•h/ml in mRCC patients is associated with a longer time to progression (TTP), longer overall survival, a higher probability of a response and greater reduction in tumor size. [45] A recent paper proposed a combined minimum sunitinib and SU12662 concentration of more than 50 ng/ml and less than 100 ng/ml as pharmacokinetic targets for efficacy and safety, respectively. [76]

However, high rates of dose modifications, including dose reductions (32–46%) and discontinuations (38%), have been reported with the approved dosing regimen due to systemic toxicities. [79, 83, 84] In view of the high incidences of toxicity and dose modifications, patients at NCCS have been routinely prescribed attenuated doses of sunitinib at 37.5 mg once daily for 4 weeks followed by 2 weeks off in a repeated 6-week cycle (referred to as attenuated dosing, AD) as the first line therapy for treatment of mRCC.

2.2 Evaluation of efficacy and safety outcomes between conventional and attenuated dosing regimen

A retrospective analysis conducted by our collaborators compared the efficacy and safety outcomes between the conventional dosing and AD regimen. Clinical data was retrospectively collected on all patients receiving sunitinib at any line of therapy at the NCCS, Johns Hopkins-International Medical Center, National University Hospital Singapore, and Onco-Care of Gleneagles Medical Center from 2005 to 2012. A total of 160 patients were included in the analysis, where 127 received the AD while 33 patients received the conventional dosing regimen.

The disease control rate between patients on conventional dosing and AD regimens were similar, where 23 of 29 (79.3%) and 79 of 120 (65.8%) patients achieved disease control respectively (p=0.19). Likewise, objective response rates were 12/29 (41.4%) and 39/120 (32.5%) respectively (p=0.36). Overall survival from treatment initiation (OS_{initiation}), overall survival from the first documented metastasis (OS_{total}), and progression free survival (PFS) were similar for patients receiving first-line sunitinib for conventional relative to attenuated-dose regimens (OS_{initiation}: 18.3 vs. 16.5 months, p=0.68; OS_{total}: 27.4 vs. 21.8 months, p=0.84; PFS: 6.7 vs. 7.9 months, p=0.89 respectively), similar to real-world outcomes in Western studies. Noticeably lower rates of severe toxicities (60% vs. 85%, p=0.008), dose delays (24% vs. 58%, p<0.001) and dose reductions (35% vs. 70%, p<0.001) were also observed with the AD regimen when compared with the conventional dosing regimen. [86] Therefore, this analysis performed by our collaborators demonstrated that the AD sunitinib regimen has comparable efficacy and improved safety outcomes in comparison with the conventional sunitinib dosing regimen. This result represents the first data supporting an alternative sunitinib dosing regimen in a population differing from the typically Caucasian profiles of most clinical trials. This is particularly important since the prevalence and severity of toxicities in actual usage is commonly different from that observed in Phase III trials. [97] While the results do not represent the methodological equivalent of a randomized controlled trial (RCT) in comparing dosing regimens, it is unlikely that a RCT will ever be conducted to examine this dosing issue, given the high toxicities experienced in the Asian population at conventional-dose regimens reported here and by others. In summary, this regimen could be considered as a standard of care in Asian mRCC patients.

2.3 Pilot study to determine drug exposure to sunitinib and SU12662 in patients receiving the attenuated dosing regimen

To provide an objective measure of effectiveness for this off-label AD regimen, a prospective cohort study was conducted to determine the level of exposure to sunitinib and SU12662 in patients with mRCC receiving the AD regimen. In the following two chapters, further analysis with this cohort of mRCC patients will be conducted. The association between the manifestation of sunitinib-associated toxicities and plasma drug levels will be assessed. (Outlined in Chapter 3) Through the quantification of sunitinib and SU12662, a better understanding can be determined as to whether the parent or metabolite might be a better predictor for toxicity and efficacy. The relationship between genetic polymorphisms of CYP3A5 and ABCB1 as key determinants of sunitinib disposition and their risk for toxicities will also be

investigated. (Outlined in Chapter 4) Ultimately, the results from these studies could provide potential evidence for the role of TDM in patients receiving this therapy.

2.3.1 Methodology

2.3.1.1 Study design

This was a single-centred, prospective, longitudinal study conducted at the NCCS between June 2011 and October 2013. The study was approved by the SingHealth Centralized Institutional Review Board (CIRB 2011-142-B). The procedures were in accordance with the ethical standards of the responsible committee on human experimentation.

2.3.1.2 Patients and follow up

All adult patients with a confirmed diagnosis of mRCC and who are newly starting on sunitinib were invited to participate in the study. Patients need not be treatment-naïve. Written informed consent was sought from the potential subjects who met the inclusion criteria prior to inception of the study. Patients were excluded if they are unable to provide written informed consent, if they were not receiving sunitinib for the treatment of mRCC or if they were currently receiving sunitinib.

During weeks 3–4 of each treatment cycle (when the steady state is achieved), a blood sample was drawn to assess the steady-state plasma levels of sunitinib and SU12662. Patients were followed up for up to a maximum of 3 cycles. Due to the outpatient

setting of this study and taking into account the convenience and compliance of patients, and the feasibility of monitoring, only 1 sample was taken for each cycle. In this study, sampling may occur at any time during office hours, based on patient's convenience. However, the time lapse between sampling time and last dose was noted and was used in the estimation of plasma concentrations.

2.3.1.3 Treatment

Due to the low tolerance of the standard dose in the Asian population, patients were initiated with an AD regimen of sunitinib. Dose discontinuations and adjustments (reductions and increases) of 6.75–12.5 mg were performed by the physician depending on patients' treatment responses and toxicity.

2.3.1.4 Data collection

Treatment-related information was collected from the patients during every clinic visit. The following data was collected through patient interviews, patient case-notes and electronic medical records: demographics, disease characteristics, medical history, treatment records and investigations, such as diagnostic scans and laboratory tests results. Two commercially available databases, Micromedex [98] and Lexicomp [99], were utilized to check for any potential DDIs. Patient's use of complementary and alternative medicine (CAM), if any, was also obtained. In the event when blood sampling was declined, toxicity, clinical response and other relevant study data were collected wherever possible.

2.3.1.5 Processing of blood samples

Blood samples was collected from the patients in ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA)-containing blood collection tubes and processed immediately by transfer to a 15 ml centrifuge tube and centrifugation at 2500 rpm, 4 °C, for 10 minutes. Subsequently, plasma was extracted and stored at -80 °C until analysis.

2.3.1.6 Analysis of plasma sample

Plasma samples were analyzed according to the validated methodology adapted from Etienne-Grimaldi et al. [100]

2.3.1.6.1 Chemicals and materials

Sunitinib and vandetanib, the internal standard (IS), were obtained from BioVision (Mountain View, CA, USA), while SU12662 was obtained from Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Santa Cruz, CA, USA). Acetonitrile was from Merck (Darmstadt, Germany) and tert-butyl methyl ether was obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA).

2.3.1.6.2 Preparation of calibration curve

The calibration curve was prepared in blank plasma. Final concentrations were 0-2.5-5-10-25-50-100-250 ng/ml for sunitinib and SU12662 (500 µl per data point).

2.3.1.6.3 Extraction procedures

Patients' plasma (500 µl) was added into a 15 ml centrifuge tube, and was spiked with 20 µl of vandetanib (IS) at 0.5 mg/ml. Four milliliter of tert-butyl methyl ether was then added and tubes were vortexed for 30 seconds, after which the tubes were centrifuged at 2500 rpm, 4 °C, for 10 minutes. Next, the resulting organic phase was extracted into a new tube and evaporated to dryness at 50 °C, under a nitrogen stream. The residue was then reconstituted with 200 µl of the mobile phase, vortexed for 10 seconds and subsequently centrifuged at 2500 rpm, 4 °C, for 10 minutes.

2.3.1.6.4 High Performance Liquid Chromatography (HPLC) analysis

The Hewlett Packard HP Agilent 1100 system was used for the analysis. The high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) column was Superiorex ODS 5 μ m, 4.6 mm × 250 mm from Shiseido. The mobile phase was composed of 20 mM of ammonium formate at pH 3.25 (adjusted with formic acid) and acetonitrile, following a 60:40 ratio respectively. The flow rate was 0.8 ml/min, injection volume was 20 μ l and each run time was 15 minutes. Detection was performed using ultraviolet (UV) at 431 nm, which provided good sensitivity and selectivity for both the IS and the compounds (sunitinib and SU12662). [101] Integration was performed according to peak height. Concentrations were calculated from the calibration curves, normalized by the IS, using the following equation: Concentration (ng/ml) = Slope × [peak height of interest/peak height of IS] + constant.

2.3.1.7 Pharmacokinetic analysis

With one blood sample obtained from the patient during each treatment cycle, patientspecific parameters for sunitinib and SU12662, could not be determined in this study. Hence, clearance (Cl) and volume of distribution (Vd), were estimated by the application of equations reported by Houk et al. This was selected as opposed to the pharmacokinetic parameters reported in the product information as the Cl and Vd estimated from Houk et al accounts for the effects of body weight, gender, cancer type and Asian race. [40] Weight of the patient was obtained from patient's case notes. If weight of the patient was missing for all cycles, the average weight of the patients (male or female) was used in the estimation. If weight of the patient was missing for any cycle, it was assumed there was no change in weight and the value for baseline/previous cycle was used.

Although the models for both sunitinib and SU12662 were two-compartmental model with first-order absorption and first-order elimination [40], further pharmacokinetic parameters such as elimination rate constant and subsequently maximum concentration at the steady state ($C_{max,ss}$) and the minimum concentration at the steady state ($C_{min,ss}$) were determined using a one-compartmental model. Elimination rate constant (k) was approximated from the population Cl and Vd. [40] As blood samples were obtained during week 3–4 of the cycle, which is during "steady state", peak and trough concentration are assumed to be similar for each dosing interval.

After the plasma concentrations of sunitinib and SU12662 had been determined by HPLC, and taking into account the time of blood collection (number of hours since

last sunitinib dose), *k* and the dosing interval (τ , 24 hours), the C_{max,ss} and the C_{min,ss} were then determined by application of the equations found in Table 5.

As sunitinib demonstrates a linear dose–concentration relationship at doses up to 100 mg [28], all plasma $C_{max,ss}$ and $C_{min,ss}$ levels were normalized to 37.5 mg to compensate for differences in doses between cycles and between patients. Total plasma drug (sunitinib and SU12662) concentration and sunitinib to metabolite ratio (SM ratio) were also calculated accordingly.

	$Cl/F_{parent} = 51.8 \cdot (1-0.0876 \cdot sex) \cdot (1-0.13 \cdot race_{Asian}) \cdot$		
	$(1-0.285 \cdot type_{GIST}) \cdot (1-0.269 \cdot type_{ST}) \cdot (1-0.258 \cdot type_{mRCC})$		
Clearance (Cl) of sunitinib ^a	Sex is coded 0 for male and 1 for female;		
	Asian race (race _{Asian}), presence of GIST (type _{GIST}), other		
	solid tumor (type _{ST}) and mRCC (type _{mRCC}) are coded 0 if		
	not present and 1 if present		
	$Cl/F_{metabolite} = 29.6 \cdot \left(\frac{weight (kg)}{77.2}\right)^{0.296} \cdot (1 - 0.274 \cdot sex) \cdot (1 - 0.274 \cdot sex)$		
	$0.123 \cdot \text{race}_{\text{Asian}} \cdot (1 - 0.0652 \cdot \text{ECOG}) \cdot$		
	$(1-0.224 \cdot type_{GIST}) \cdot (1-0.287 \cdot type_{ST}) \cdot (1-0.257 \cdot type_{mRCC})$		
Clearance (Cl) of metabolite (SU12662) ^a	Sex is coded 0 for male and 1 for female;		
	ECOG is coded 0 for a score of 0 or 1, and 1 for a score of 2		
	or greater;		
	Asian race (race _{Asian}), presence of GIST (type _{GIST}), other		
	solid tumor (type _{ST}) and mRCC (type _{mRCC}) are coded 0 if		
	not present and 1 if present		
Volume of distribution (Vd) of	$Vd/F_{wight} = 2030 \cdot \left(\frac{weight(kg)}{0.459}\right)^{0.459}$		
sunitinib	77.2		
Volume of distribution (Vd) of	$Vd/F = -3080 \cdot \left(\frac{\text{weight (kg)}}{1-0.241 \cdot \text{sex}}\right)^{0.510} \cdot (1-0.241 \cdot \text{sex})$		
metabolite (SU12662)	(1 0.2 11 Sex)		
Elimination rate constant	k = Cl/Vd		
Maximum concentration at	$C_t = C_{\max,ss} \ (e^{-kt})$		
steady state (C _{max,ss})	$C_{\max,ss} = \frac{C_t}{e^{-kt}}$		
Minimum concentration at	$\mathbf{C} \cdot \mathbf{r} = \mathbf{C}$ (e ^{-kt})		
steady state (C _{min,ss})	$C_{\min,ss} = C_{\max,ss} (C_{ss})$		
^a [40]	·		
Abbreviations: C _t , concentration	at time t		

Table 5	5. Equations	used in t	he estimation	of drug	exposure
---------	--------------	-----------	---------------	---------	----------

2.3.1.8 Assessment of clinical response and toxicity

An assessment of clinical responses was performed through a computed tomography (CT) scan at the end of the second cycle. The investigators objectively evaluated treatment responses using the response evaluation criteria in solid tumors (RECIST). [102] Responses were categorized as a complete response (CR), a partial response (PR), stable disease (SD) or progressive disease (PD).

Treatment-associated toxicity was assessed at the end of each cycle, in conjunction with the scheduled blood sample. Laboratory parameters were collected from the patients' medical records, while other toxicities were assessed through patient interviews. Toxicities were graded according to the Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (CTCAE) criteria version 4.0.2. [103]

2.3.1.9 Definitions

The primary end-point was analyzed according to the intention-to-treat principle. Plasma levels of sunitinib, metabolite (SU12662) and total (combined sunitinib and SU12662) were reported as normalized to 37.5 mg. The SM ratio was the ratio of the level of sunitinib to the level of SU12662. The maximum CTCAE grade observed for each toxicity across the cycles was used for analysis. Grade 2 and above toxicities were considered clinically significant as they could affect patients' daily functioning and living. Henceforth, patients who experienced grade 2 and above toxicities will be defined as those with toxicities, while patients who experienced grade 1 or no toxicity will be defined as those with no toxicities.

2.3.1.10 Statistical analysis

Descriptive statistics were used to summarize the patients' demographics, treatment outcomes and the incidence of toxicity. Data on the drug levels were reported, together with the patients' treatment response. The Mann-Whitney U test was used to compare drug exposure in patients with different outcomes and toxicities. Given the explorative nature of this study, the p-values were not corrected for multiple testing. All tests of statistical significance were two-sided with p values of less than 0.05 and all data analysis was conducted using IBM SPSS Statistics 21.

2.3.2 Results

2.3.2.1 Patient demographics and disease characteristics

A total of 36 patients were recruited in this study. After completion of the first, second and third cycles, 25,21 and 12 patients were available for analysis, respectively. The reasons for exclusion included discontinuation of therapy or patients' refusal to have blood drawn due to reasons such as unable to take time off to return to the study center for blood draw and fear of blood taking (Figure 2). For cycle 1, as one patient provided the blood sample before steady-state drug levels are achieved, this sample was excluded from the pharmacokinetic analysis. For cycle 2, as one patient declared non-adherence of sunitinib throughout the cycle after blood sample collection, this sample was excluded from the pharmacokinetic analysis.

The mean age and weight of the patients were 59 ± 10 years and 66.1 ± 13.5 kg, respectively. The majority of the patients were males (80.6%) and of Chinese ethnicity (86.1%). More than half of the patients (63.9%) had co-morbidities, such as hypertension and hyperlipidemia, and about two-thirds (69.4%) had had a previous nephrectomy. x (Table 6). No DDIs were identified in the patients.



Figure 2. Distribution of patients

	Mean ± SD	
Age, years	59 ± 10	
Weight, kg	66.1 ± 13.5	
(range)	(32.4–93.2)	
	n (%)	
Gender		
Male	29 (80.6)	
Female	7 (19.4)	
Ethnicity		
Chinese	31 (86.1)	
Malay	3 (8.3)	
Indian	2 (5.6)	
Presence of co-morbidities	23 (63.9)	
Previous nephrectomy	25 (69.4)	
Site of metastasis		
Lung	27 (75.0)	
Bone	14 (38.9)	
Adrenals	6 (16.7)	
Brain	5 (13.9)	
Liver	3 (8.3)	
Others	1 (2.8)	
No. of MSKCC risk factors [*]		
0 (favourable)	12 (34.3)	
1–2 (intermediate)	18 (51.4)	
\geq 3 (poor) 5 (14.3)		
Abbreviations: SD, standard deviation; MSKC	C, Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center	
* Risk factors associated with shorter survival a	according to the MSKCC risk classification	

 Table 6. Patient demographics and disease characteristics (n=36)

2.3.2.2 Total exposure to sunitinib and SU12662

Most patients were started on 37.5 mg of sunitinib (86.7%), while 4 patients were started on 25 mg (13.3%). No reasons were provided for the 25 mg dosing; but it may be presumed that these patients were thought to be less tolerant to the 37.5 mg dose by their physicians. For the second cycle, 20 (76.9%) patients were given 37.5 mg, with the remaining 6 (23.1%) patients received 25 mg. The doses were reduced due to toxicity. For the third cycle, 1 (5.0%) patient received 18.75 mg, 5 (25.0%) received 25 mg, 13 (65.0%) received 37.5 mg and 1 (5.0%) received 50 mg. All patients were on the 4-week on, 2-week off cycle. The main reasons for dose discontinuations and dose reductions were toxicity and disease progression. One patient had his dose increased from 37.5 to 50 mg daily due to disease progression and the absence of toxicity.

Although most patients were given an AD regimen of sunitinib, the median total exposure levels (normalized) for all 3 cycles were above the therapeutic target of 50 ng/ml. Exposure levels (normalized) were also similar between the 3 cycles. Similar trends were also observed with the actual levels (Table 7). Of the 25 patients who provided blood samples for cycle 1, 84% achieved the minimum target concentration of 50 ng/ml (based on normalized levels). For cycles 2 and 3, 18 of 20 (90%) and 11 of 12 (92%) patients achieved target concentrations, respectively (based on normalized levels). As for the actual levels, the percentage of patients who managed to achieve the minimum target concentration was 76%, 85% and 83% for cycle 1, 2 and 3 respectively.

	Cycle 1 (n=25)	Cycle 2 (n=20)	Cycle 3 (n=12)	P		
$C_{min,ss}$						
Sunitinib, normalized [‡]	62.60	65.00	64.94	0.84		
	(43.15, 85.43)	(49.88, 87.15)	(50.11, 102.66)	0.84		
Sumitivih actual	56.07	55.54	62.13	0.89		
Summo, actual	(42.33, 85.48)	(46.33, 74.34)	(49.74, 68.10)	0.07		
Metabolite normalized [‡]	11.12	11.16	11.97	0.81		
Wietabolite, normalized	(8.05, 17.85)	(7.08, 13.01)	(8.69, 21.94)	0.81		
Metabolite actual	10.09	11.16	11.85	0.93		
	(6.18, 17.85)	(7.08, 13.01)	(5.97, 20.77)	0.75		
Total normalized [‡]	83.03	80.30	80.43	0.87		
Total, normalized	(50.75, 104.04)	(59.94, 108.83)	(60.48, 116.70)	0.07		
Total actual	67.00	68.85	71.17	0.08		
	(49.33, 104.04)	(53.90, 91.92)	(60.22, 99.39)	0.98		
SM Ratio	5.56 (4.29, 7.75)	5.18 (4.18, 7.03)	5.20 (4.25, 8.40)	0.92		
	C	max,ss				
Sunitinih normalized [‡]	96.05	99.94	98.76	0.85		
Summo, normanzed	(67.70, 128.11)	(74.51, 128.46)	(74.61, 152.68)			
Supitivih actual	82.34	85.04	92.20	0.92		
Summo, actual	(66.14, 128.11)	(71.54, 118.31)	(75.42, 104.00)			
Metabolite normalized [‡]	13.00	14.89	13.93	0.75		
Wietabolite, normalized	(9.45, 20.39)	(11.96, 20.18)	(10.08, 25.50)	0.75		
Metabolite actual	11.70	13.03	13.87	0.03		
meiabolile, actual	(7.25, 20.39)	(8.26, 15.20)	(6.91, 24.11)	0.93		
Total normalized [‡]	119.93	119.51	116.89	0.85		
Total, normalized	(76.14, 152.30)	(87.94, 159.00)	(87.14, 167.22)	0.85		
Total, actual [¶]	95.01	102.42	101.65	1.00		
	(74.40, 152.30)	(78.63, 135.31)	(86.88, 141.27)	1.00		
SM Ratio	7.04 (5.62, 10.08)	6.70 (5.50, 9.10)	6.73 (5.56, 10.58)	0.91		
Abbreviations: C _{max,ss} , steady-state peak concentration; C _{min,ss} , steady-state trough concentration						
[‡] Levels reported as normalized to 37.5 mg (ng/ml/mg) and reported as the median (inter-quartile						

Table 7. Total exposure levels across 3 cycles of sunitinib therapy

1g) ig (ng/ ep Ч range).

¶ Actual levels reported (ng/ml) and reported as the median (inter-quartile range).

2.3.2.3 Toxicities observed with sunitinib therapy

Sunitinib-associated toxicities were commonly experienced by the patients. The most common were hypertension (91.3%), fatigue (76.9%), anemia (73.3%), altered taste (73.1%), mucositis (73.1%), dry skin (65.4%) and HFSR (65.4%). The most common grade 2 and above toxicities were mucositis (65.3%), HFSR (61.5%) and hypertension (60.9%). (Table 8)
Table 8. Incidence of toxicities

	N ^e	All	grades	Gr	ade 1	Gr	ade 2	≥G	rade 3
		n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%
Gastrointestinal									
Mucositis	26	19	73.0	2	7.7	16	61.5	1	3.8
Dyspepsia	26	6	23.1	2	7.7	4	15.4	0	0
Dry mouth	26	6	23.1	5	19.2	1	3.8	0	0
Nausea	26	4	15.4	4	15.4	0	0	0	0
Diarrhoea	26	7	26.9	5	19.2	2	7.7	0	0
Constipation	26	3	11.5	2	7.7	1	3.8	0	0
Cardiac									
Hypertension	23	21	91.3	7	30.4	6	26.1	8	34.8
Dermatology									
Dermatological	26	22	84.6	4	15.4	18	69.2	0	0
toxicity ^a	20		04.0	-7	13.7	10	07.2	U	U
Dry skin	26	17	65.4	10	38.5	7	26.9	0	0
HFSR	26	17	65.4	1	3.8	16	61.5	0	0
Rash	26	11	42.3	7	26.9	4	15.4	0	0
Pruritus	26	7	26.9	4	15.4	3	11.5	0	0
Neurology									•
Altered Taste	26	19	73.1	11	42.3	8	30.8	0	0
Headache	26	7	26.9	4	15.4	2	7.7	1	3.8
Constitutional									
Fatigue	26	20	76.9	16	61.5	4	15.4	0	0
Dizziness	26	8	30.7	7	26.9	1	3.8	0	0
Fever	26	5	19.2	4	15.4	1	3.8	0	0
Liver									
Hepatotoxicity ^b	30	10	33.3	7	23.3	3	10.0	0	0
Transaminitis ^c	30	9	30.0	7	23.3	2	6.7	0	0
↑ AST	30	7	23.3	6	20.0	1	3.3	0	0
↑ ALT	30	7	23.3	6	20.0	1	3.3	0	0
↑TB	30	4	13.3	3	10.0	1	3.3	0	0
Renal/ metabolic									
↑ Creatinine	30	17	56.6	10	33.3	7	23.3	0	0
↓ Albumin	30	16	53.3	9	30.0	7	23.3	0	0
Hematology									
Hematological	30	30	100.0	11	367	13	43.4	6	20.0
toxicity ^d	50	50	100.0	11	50.7	15	тт	U	20.0
Anemia	30	22	73.3	13	43.3	8	26.7	1	3.3
Neutropenia	30	14	46.7	5	16.7	7	23.3	2	6.7
Leukopenia	30	14	46.7	8	26.7	6	20.0	0	0
Thrombocytopenia	30	15	50.0	10	33.3	2	6.7	3	10.0
Abbreviations: HFSR	?, hand-f	oot ski	in reaction	ı; AST,	, aspartate	transa	iminase; A	<i>LT</i> , al	anine
transaminase; TB, tot	al biliru	bin							
a Includes dry skin, F	IFSR, ra	ish and	l pruritus						
b Includes elevation of TB, ALT and AST									
c Includes elevation of ALT and AST									
d Includes anaemia, leukopenia, neutropenia and thrombocytopenia									

e Lack of blood pressure readings as measurements were not taken routinely by physicians; Lack of patient data for non-laboratory parameters as some patients declined interview for assessment of toxicities.

2.3.3 Discussion

Although an AD was used in this study, 84–92% of the patients managed to achieve the minimum target concentration of 50 ng/ml, which is significantly higher than the 52% reported in a similar study conducted in Caucasians. [104] Differences in the methodology may explain the divergence in the results. Firstly, it should be noted that sampling was performed in week 3–4 in our study, whereas sampling was performed on day 14 in the study by Lankheet et al, which may not be sufficient for both sunitinib and its metabolite to reach a steady state due to their long half-lives. Secondly, body weight, which affects the clearance of sunitinib, was lower in our study (range, 32.4–93.2 kg) and could have resulted in the higher levels. Lastly, because the clearance of sunitinib and its metabolite is most strongly affected by tumor type compared with other factors, such as gender and weight [40], our study included only patients with mRCC to exclude any effect of tumor type on exposure to sunitinib. However, it should be noted that although the target range is achieved, there are no evidence from this study and in the literature thus far to support its association with efficacy.

Although patients receiving 25mg displayed lower exposure levels (sunitinib, metabolite and total levels) than those receiving 37.5mg, the difference was not statistically significant. Similar trends were observed for all three cycles. Despite receiving a lower dose, these patients managed to achieve the minimum target concentration. (Low dose vs. Normal dose: cycle 1 - 100% vs. 82%; cycle 2 - 100% vs. 86%; cycle 3 - 100% vs. 89%) [Data not shown]

50

It has been previously shown that plasma levels of sunitinib in patients do not vary greatly despite differences in doses [45], suggesting that patient factors that affect the disposition of sunitinib may influence the levels of TKIs and toxicity more than expected. Numerous factors, such as tumor type, Asian race, gender, body weight and elevated Eastern cooperative oncology group (ECOG) performance status, may explain a portion of the variability in the clearance of sunitinib and its metabolite. [40] Exposure to sunitinib and total drugs was predicted to increase by 15% in Asians relative to other races. In females relative to males, exposure was predicted to increase by 17% for total drugs. Furthermore, among Asian females, total drug exposure was predicted to increase by 34% relative to non-Asian male patients. [40] This may provide some explanation for the higher exposure that was observed in our study although a lower dose was used. In addition, it has been suggested that CYP3A4 activity is approximately two-fold higher in women than in men. [105] However, it has also been suggested that the increase in CYP3A metabolism in females compared with males might be a result of their lower Pgp activity rather than gender differences in CYP3A activity. [106] Moreover, CYP3A4 activity varies widely within each gender, and other factors such as environmental factors have been proven to be far more clinically significant than gender differences in CYP3A4. [105]

2.3.4 Limitations of study

A major limitation of the study was that only 1 blood sample was taken for each cycle due to the outpatient setting of the study, to ensure feasibility and minimal inconvenience to the participants. The one-sample strategy may also useful as it is practical and mimics how the TDM of sunitinib may be performed in clinical settings. In addition, the chronic scheduling and long half-lives of most TKIs means that the steady-state concentration of these agents (and/or their metabolites) has the potential to adequately represent systemic exposure. [35] Furthermore, it has been demonstrated that C_{min} highly correlates with AUC of sunitinib, suggesting that TDM service could be provided based on the C_{min} target. [76] Also, due to the lack of data, a one-compartmental model was used to estimate the drug levels despite both sunitinib and SU12662 assuming two-compartmental models based on literature. However, with a limited number of samples, pharmacokinetic models that describe more accurately the drug profile in the body could not be constructed. If possible, future studies may explore multiple sampling points, such that a more precise population pharmacokinetic models or even pharmacokinetic-toxicity model may be developed to predict the probability of toxicity at a given concentration. The time lapse between the last dose and blood draw were also not strictly controlled as this was to cater for patient's convenience and ensure feasibility of the study. However, this poses a challenge to the analysis of the blood levels as actual levels were extrapolated to C_{min.ss} and C_{max.ss}. These PK parameters evaluated in our small study may limit the significance of the findings. The small sample size was another limitation of this study. This may be contributed by the uncommon nature of the disease. Although incidence of kidney cancer constitutes 2.4% of all cancers globally, it contributes to 1.7% of all cancer related deaths. Patients who were receiving sunitinib for other indications like GIST and pancreatic tumors could also have been included. Nonetheless, tumor type (mRCC, GIST and other solid tumors) accounts for a major portion of the variability in the clearance of sunitinib and its metabolite; hence our study included only patients with mRCC. Furthermore, the analysis could have included a comparison of patients who received the AD regimen and those who received standard doses, but this could not be carried out because all of the mRCC patients at the cancer centre received the AD regimen. Moreover, due to ethical concerns, it is unlikely that a RCT will ever be conducted to examine this dosing issue, given the high toxicities experienced in the Asian population at conventional-dose regimens reported here and by others. As this was an exploratory study with small sample size, p-values were not corrected for multiple testings. Also, due to the outpatient setting, it is challenging to ensure patient compliance, thus it was assumed that patients adhered to the regimen. On the same note, it was unable to control patient's diet as well as use of CAM, although in some cases, patients do provide the type of CAM used. Hence, it was assumed that the patient's diet as well as CAM use does not affect the drug exposure of sunitinib and SU12662.

2.3.5 Summary of important findings

In this chapter, it was demonstrated that the AD regimen of sunitinib in Asian mRCC patients provided sufficient drug exposure. This provides an objective measure of effectiveness for this off-label AD regimen. Taken together with the findings of the evaluation of clinical efficacy and safety outcomes performed by our collaborators, the AD regimen proves to be a feasible choice for the management of mRCC in Asian patients. This regimen could be considered as a standard of care in Asian mRCC patients, as the lower dose not only diminished the incidence of high grade toxicities, but the time did compromise clinical efficacy. at same not

- 3 Exploring the association between toxicities with drug exposure of sunitinib and SU12662
- 3.1 Association between toxicity and plasma levels in Asian mRCC patients receiving an attenuated dosing regimen of sunitinib

3.1.1 Methodology

The methodology adopted for this study was previously described under chapter 2.3.1 (methodology)

3.1.1.1 Definitions

Definitions used are previously described under chapter 2.3.1.9 (definitions). As mentioned earlier, patients who experienced grade 2 and above toxicities will be defined as those with toxicities, while patients who experienced grade 1 or no toxicity will be defined as those with no toxicities. Grade 2 and above toxicities were considered clinically significant as they could either require intervention or affect patients' daily functioning and living. [103] With that, the commonly encountered grade 2 and above toxicities were highlighted for comparison. The average exposure levels between cycles were then compared between patients with and without toxicities.

3.1.2 Results

3.1.2.1 Patient demographics and disease characteristics

As the cohort of patients were the same, please refer to chapter 2.3.2.1

3.1.2.2 Toxicities observed with sunitinib therapy

As the cohort of patients were the same, please refer to chapter 2.3.2.3

3.1.2.3 Exposure levels and toxicities

Those grade 2 and above toxicities with a high incidence were highlighted for comparison and they were: mucositis, HFSR, altered taste, anemia, neutropenia and hypertension.

Generally, a trend of higher exposure was observed in patients who manifested toxicities compared with those who had no toxicity, with the exception of neutropenia.

For both $C_{min,ss}$ and $C_{max,ss}$ of sunitinib, patients who experienced mucositis, HFSR, altered taste, anemia and hypertension largely demonstrated higher levels than those who did not experienced the toxicities. Similar trends were observed for actual and normalized levels. The $C_{min,ss}$ (normalized) of sunitinib was significantly higher for those who experienced mucositis than those who did not experienced mucositis (71.69 vs. 47.30 ng/ml, p=0.04). (Table 9 & Table 10)

Exposure (both $C_{min,ss}$ and $C_{max,ss}$) to the metabolite (SU12662) was higher in patients who experienced HFSR, altered taste, neutropenia and hypertension, although the differences were not statistically significant. Similar trends were observed for actual and normalized levels. (Table 9 & Table 10)

Similarly, a trend of higher levels was observed with the total exposure (both $C_{min,ss}$ and $C_{max,ss}$) in patients who experienced mucositis, HFSR, altered taste, anemia and hypertension than those who did not experienced the toxicities. The total maximum exposure (normalized) was significantly higher for those who experienced mucositis and altered taste than for those who had grade 1 or no events (mucositis: 126.46 vs 84.81 ng/ml, p=0.04; altered taste: 159.91 vs 105.22 ng/ml, p=0.05). (Table 9) Likewise, the total minimum exposure (normalized) was also significantly higher for those who experienced mucositis and altered taste than for those who experienced mucositis (mucositis: 85.93 vs 57.53 ng/ml, p=0.04; altered taste: 109.37 vs. 71.15 ng/ml, p=0.04). (Table 10) Similar trends were observed for actual and normalized levels.

The SM ratio was largely similar between the two groups of patients, although it was observed to be higher in patients who reported mucositis, HFSR and anemia. However, these differences were not statistically significant. (Table 9 & Table 10)

C _{max,ss} (ng/mI	L)	$Grade \ge 2$	Grade ≤ 1	Р
	Sunitinib, N	110.74 (88.90, 144.73)	73.79 (63.33, 112.82)	0.06
	Sunitinib, A	106.11 (80.28, 144.73)	71.72 (51.64, 86.13)	0.01
Musseitis	SU12662, N	13.13 (10.47, 21.65)	13.47 (10.77, 15.67)	0.49
(n-17 yr, 8)	SU12662, A	13.10 (10.43, 21.58)	12.18 (7.68, 14.23)	0.35
(II-17 vs. o)	Total, N	124.46 (104.30, 169.36)	84.81 (76.50, 127.71)	0.04
	Total, A	121.83 (89.02, 167.33)	84.52 (60.12, 100.59)	0.01
	SM Ratio	7.65 (6.22, 10.08)	6.27 (4.95, 7.31)	0.10
	Sunitinib, N	101.08 (80.21, 144.42)	90.90 (64.99, 115.09)	0.28
	Sunitinib, A	91.29 (76.25, 137.12)	75.14 (64.99, 115.09)	0.61
LIESD	SU12662, N	15.28 (10.41, 19.38)	12.86 (11.30, 15.86)	0.61
(n - 16 vc 0)	SU12662, A	12.30 (8.80, 18.47)	12.86 (10.79, 15.86)	0.96
(II- 10 vs. 9)	Total, N	124.63 (88.49, 170.67)	103.37 (78.47, 130.46)	0.19
	Total, A	110.85 (87.26, 167.63)	86.64 (78.47, 130.46)	0.46
	SM Ratio	7.19 (5.40, 9.98)	7.01 (5.38, 9.11)	0.78
	Sunitinib, N	123.33 (78.08, 151.57)	94.65 (70.38, 115.48)	0.22
	Sunitinib, A	107.12 (78.08, 150.08)	85.81 (64.99, 108.43)	0.16
Altored teste	SU12662, N	19.00 (11.90, 28.51)	12.86 (10.45, 16.63)	0.06
$(n-8 v_{\rm s}, 17)$	SU12662, A	14.72 (11.90, 28.51)	11.09 (8.34, 15.07)	0.05
(II-0 vs. 17)	Total, N	159.91 (96.10, 215.06)	105.22 (82.68, 132.47)	0.05
	Total, A	145.20 (94.27, 180.58)	91.82 (78.47, 120.88)	0.06
	SM Ratio	6.94 (5.48, 8.31)	7.36 (5.41, 9.80)	0.52
	Sunitinib, N	111.05 (64.00, 126.33)	92.78 (71.41, 122.95)	0.79
	Sunitinib, A	95.74 (64.00, 119.02)	87.41 (66.65, 109.29)	0.84
Anemia	SU12662, N	12.30 (9.78, 16.87)	13.61 (10.49, 18.78)	0.64
(n-6 vs 18)	SU12662, A	11.30 (8.71, 15.81)	13.00 (9.91, 16.45)	0.51
(11-0 v3. 10)	Total, N	123.14 (74.09, 143.20)	110.85 (82.82, 158.40)	1.00
	Total, A	106.12 (74.09, 134.83)	104.60 (80.43, 144.33)	1.00
	SM Ratio	7.81 (5.74, 9.09)	6.97 (5.22, 9.75)	0.79
	Sunitinib, N	87.93 (58.22, 137.93)	106.11 (77.98, 118.83)	0.39
Neutropenio	Sunitinib, A	80.74 (56.60, 124.41)	94.65 (74.75, 111.36)	0.33
(n=9 vs 15)	SU12662, N	14.51 (7.79, 21.65)	13.10 (10.56, 17.64)	0.88
(1-) (5.15)	SU12662, A	12.86 (7.24, 19.97)	11.50 (10.48, 14.28)	0.79
	Total, N	103.99 (67.63, 160.21)	121.83 (86.64, 153.88)	0.30

Table 9. Exposure	levels (C _{max,ss})) and	toxicities
--------------------------	-------------------------------	-------	------------

	Total, A	90.41 (63.84, 143.93)	116.49 (86.21, 136.46)	0.30
	SM Ratio	5.58 (5.02, 9.20)	7.36 (6.52, 9.98)	0.20
Hypertension	Sunitinib, N	112.12 (76.56, 148.39)	91.29 (67.37, 110.05)	0.19
	Sunitinib, A	102.89 (74.94, 147.39)	84.33 (60.90, 103.25)	0.22
	SU12662, N	17.19 (11.30, 21.68)	11.83 (9.80, 14.40)	0.13
(n=13 vs. 8)	SU12662, A	13.13 (11.28, 20.79)	10.47 (8.81, 13.84)	0.13
(Total, N	136.46 (84.98, 178.40)	104.60 (78.10, 122.46)	0.08
	Total, A	121.83 (86.43, 169.96)	97.20 (70.81, 113.67)	0.11
	SM Ratio	6.97 (5.29, 10.60)	8.70 (5.90, 9.57)	0.66

Note: reported levels are average exposure levels across the 3 cycles and reported as median (interquartile range)

Abbreviations: A, actual levels; $C_{max,ss}$, steady-state peak concentration; HFSR, hand-foot skin reaction; N, normalized levels; SM ratio, sunitinib to metabolite ratio

C _{min,ss} (ng/mL)		$Grade \geq 2$	Grade ≤ 1	Р
	Sunitinib, N	71.69 (57.45, 96.85)	47.30 (41.25, 72.33)	0.04
	Sunitinib, A	70.15 (51.75, 96.85)	46.59 (33.22, 55.94)	0.01
	SU12662, N	11.26 (8.94, 18.79)	11.53 (9.19, 13.39)	0.49
Mucositis $(n=17 \text{ vs} 8)$	SU12662, A	11.23 (8.94, 18.79)	10.40 (6.54, 12.13)	0.35
(11 17 15:0)	Total, N	85.93 (69.10, 115.77)	57.53 (52.10, 85.02)	0.04
	Total, A	85.55 (61.27, 115.77)	57.53 (40.45, 68.30)	0.01
	SM Ratio	5.65 (4.78, 7.89)	4.75 (3.81, 5.44)	0.06
	Sunitinib, N	66.37 (54.65, 94.13)	59.20 (42.51, 76.81)	0.34
	Sunitinib, A	59.53 (48.73, 90.27)	48.16 (42.51, 76.81)	0.61
LIEGD	SU12662, N	13.04 (8.92, 17.05)	10.99 (9.70, 13.59)	0.65
HFSR $(n = 16 vs 9)$	SU12662, A	10.50 (7.57, 16.30)	10.99 (9.29, 13.59)	0.87
(II-10 (5.))	Total, N	84.69 (61.26, 114.17)	69.92 (54.04, 89.35)	0.26
	Total, A	74.15 (58.11, 114.17)	57.98 (53.84, 89.35)	0.57
	SM Ratio	5.46 (4.14, 7.62)	5.32 (4.20, 7.19)	0.82
	Sunitinib, N	80.12 (50.05, 100.51)	59.29 (45.73, 76.64)	0.20
	Sunitinib, A	69.83 (50.05, 100.51)	57.41 (42.51, 73.06)	0.18
	SU12662, N	16.28 (10.18, 24.47)	10.99 (8.94, 14.20)	0.06
Altered taste $(n=8 \text{ vs } 17)$	SU12662, A	12.62 (10.18, 24.47)	9.58 (7.11, 12.91)	0.04
(11-0 v3. 17)	Total, N	109.37 (64.97, 149.75)	71.15 (56.25, 88.00)	0.04
	Total, A	101.65 (62.77, 125.00)	64.97 (53.84, 84.29)	0.04
	SM Ratio	5.34 (4.24, 6.41)	5.56 (4.16, 7.75)	0.56
	Sunitinib, N	75.32 (41.21, 82.16)	59.24 (46.24, 79.64)	0.74
	Sunitinib, A	63.10 (41.21, 81.16)	58.35 (43.76, 72.02)	0.84
	SU12662, N	10.54 (8.44, 14.42)	11.65 (8.96, 16.04)	0.69
Anemia $(n=6 vs 18)$	SU12662, A	9.70 (7.42, 13.61)	11.11 (8.51, 14.08)	0.55
(11 0 (51 10)	Total, N	85.74 (49.83, 96.58)	75.10 (56.67, 104.58)	1.00
	Total, A	72.66 (49.83, 93.79)	69.71 (55.26, 98.11)	0.89
	SM Ratio	5.92 (4.52, 7.02)	5.37 (4.01, 7.71)	0.84
	Sunitinib, N	57.41 (38.85, 89.54)	70.15 (54.30, 77.66)	0.39
	Sunitinib, A	51.54 (38.75, 82.19)	59.77 (47.79, 75.97)	0.33
Neutropenia $(n=9 vs. 15)$	SU12662, N	12.34 (6.72, 18.59)	11.23 (8.98, 15.10)	0.88
	SU12662, A	10.99 (6.25, 17.09)	9.81 (8.98, 12.15)	0.79
	Total, N	71.15 (46.93, 108.58)	85.55 (58.93, 101.38)	0.33

Table 10. Exposure	levels (C _{min,ss}) and toxicities
--------------------	-----------------------------	------------------

	Total, A	59.76 (45.00, 100.20)	77.15 (57.57, 92.76)	0.33
	SM Ratio	4.26 (3.85, 7.11)	5.50 (4.89, 7.84)	0.25
Hypertension (n=13 vs. 8)	Sunitinib, N	75.97 (51.23, 99.25)	58.35 (45.18, 73.54)	0.17
	Sunitinib, A	64.99 (47.98, 99.25)	54.47 (41.09, 67.43)	0.15
	SU12662, N	14.66 (9.70, 18.70)	10.12 (8.44, 12.27)	0.15
	SU12662, A	11.23 (9.68, 17.87)	8.94 (7.57, 11.87)	0.15
	Total, N	92.76 (58.45, 122.44)	69.71 (54.73, 84.21)	0.08
	Total, A	85.55 (57.77, 117.36)	64.02 (49.62, 77.08)	0.13
	SM Ratio	5.27 (4.08, 8.40)	6.64 (4.55, 7.48)	0.61

Note: reported levels are average exposure levels across the 3 cycles and reported as median (interquartile range)

Abbreviations: A, actual levels; $C_{min,ss}$, steady-state trough concentration; HFSR, hand-foot skin reaction; N, normalized levels; SM ratio, sunitinib to metabolite ratio

3.1.3 Discussion

Higher exposures were observed for patients who developed toxicities (grade 2 or above) than for those who developed no toxicity (grade 0 or 1). The total exposure was observed to be significantly higher for those who experienced mucositis and altered taste than for those who had no events.

In this study, the incidence of grade 3 and above toxicities was generally low and no grade 3 and above HFSR, fatigue or leukopenia were observed. In the Korean study that used the standard sunitinib dose of 50 mg, the most common grade 3 and above toxicities were HFSR (16%), thrombocytopenia (17%), anemia (6%), leukopenia (7%) and neutropenia (7%). [84] However, in our study of Asian patients receiving the AD of 37.5 mg, the incidence of these toxicities was either lower or similar (HFSR, 0%; thrombocytopenia, 11%; anemia, 0%; leukopenia, 0%; and neutropenia, 7%). The higher incidence of HFSR and anemia in the Korean study supports our observation that higher exposure is probably associated with these events.

The study revealed a trend of higher total exposure in patients who reported grade 2 and above toxicity such as mucositis, HFSR, altered taste, anemia and hypertension than those who developed grade 1 or no toxicity. Interestingly, the former group of patients was found to have a sunitinib exposure of more than 100 ng/ml, which is the proposed threshold level for toxicity [76], suggesting that sunitinib may play a more significant role in the manifestation of toxicities than its metabolite. However, the evidence for an association between the SM ratio and the incidence of toxicity remains inconclusive. The higher SM ratio indicated that these patients had relatively higher plasma concentrations of sunitinib than its metabolite. This may also suggest that these patients have reduced ability to metabolize sunitinib. Although the differences were not statistically significant, this could be due to the small sample size and the large inherent variability in plasma concentrations across patients, which would minimize any differences in concentration. It could also be likely that not toxicities are concentration-dependent.

The SM ratio is a robust measure because it adjusts for changes in the fluctuation of drug concentration. It is also useful for assessing toxicity, because it can help to pinpoint whether sunitinib or its major metabolite SU12662 may have different potential for toxicity. For instance, two patients given the same drug exposure but with a different incidence of HFSR may have different SM ratios; a higher SM ratio would probably be observed in a patient with grade 2 and above HFSR compared with that in a patient with no HFSR.

Not surprisingly, the range of exposure levels achieved was highly variable. The coefficient of variation for the minimum and maximum total concentrations for cycle 1 was 66% and 58%, respectively. Despite the lower dose used in the AD regimen, some patients may still achieve the 100 ng/ml threshold for toxicity and some may even require further dose reductions due to toxicity. Sunitinib engenders considerable and unpredictable inter-patient variability, and TDM could be a means to overcome this. A practical suggestion would be to measure blood levels when sunitinib is initiated for the first cycle, to observe whether therapeutic levels are achieved in relation to efficacy and toxicity. This is particularly important in groups such as

Asians, women and those with a low body weight, because these factors may affect the accumulation of sunitinib and thereby the risk of toxicity. If necessary, doses could also be decreased further to meet the minimum effective plasma concentration without affecting the efficacy, which could potentially lead to cost savings for the patient. Further studies with an active therapeutic drug monitoring component should be conducted to study the feasibility of such a strategy. Total plasma concentration of sunitinib could be used as a marker for therapeutic efficacy, whereas sunitinib levels could be used as a marker for toxicity.

As sunitinib has considerable inter-patient variability, TDM may be considered as a strategy to optimize sunitinib therapy. With the aid of information on drug levels, physicians can adjust doses objectively. However, as pharmacokinetic targets of sunitinib have yet to be validated, and TDM of sunitinib or any TKI has yet to be implemented in clinical practice, we believe that it would be more practical to measure drug concentrations in the event of severe toxicity. This may help to ascertain if the toxicity is exposure-related; if so, dose titration may be performed. Otherwise, supportive management of toxicity may be more appropriate. If necessary, doses could also be reduced further to meet the minimum effective plasma concentration without affecting efficacy, which could potentially lead to cost savings for the patients and the healthcare system.

3.1.4 Limitations of study

Refer to chapter 2.3.4

3.1.5 Summary of important findings

In this section, we have reported a trend of higher exposures in patients who experienced toxicities. The total exposure was observed to be significantly higher for those who experienced mucositis and altered taste than for those who had no events.

3.2 Evaluating the in-vitro dermatological and hepatotoxic potential of sunitinib and SU12662

Although current evidence from the literature as well as from our studies have suggested a probable association between exposure and toxicity, the exact cause of most sunitinib-associated toxic effects is still largely unknown. As both sunitinib and SU12662 act on similar receptors, such as VEGFR, PDGFR and KIT [28], the toxic effects associated with sunitinib therapy may also be attributed to SU12662.

Dermatological toxicity and hepatotoxicity were chosen for this study as they are clinically significant toxicities of sunitinib; dermatological toxicity because of its ubiquity and hepatotoxicity because of its severity. Moreover, these toxicities can be modeled at the in-vitro level using suitable cell culture models.

Currently, data are lacking from studies undertaken to properly elucidate the underlying mechanisms causing the dermatological toxicities. [107, 108] Some had suggested that dermatological toxicities were due to the deregulation of signaling pathways between the different epidermal cells. [107, 109] For instance, HFSR was postulated to be dose-dependent and a consequence of an indirect effect of the inhibition of pro-angiogenic pathways. [110, 111] Inhibition of VEGFR and PDGFR interferes with endothelial cell survival mechanisms, preventing the vascular repair mechanisms from functioning properly, thereby causing HFSR in high-pressure areas, such as the palms and soles, which may be repeatedly exposed to subclinical trauma with daily activities. [111, 112] Others also discussed the possibility of direct toxic effects of sunitinib on keratinocytes. For instance, it has been demonstrated that the

toxicity of sorafenib and sunitinib for keratinocytes was induced by decreased apoptosis suppressors via the inhibition of STAT3 activity. [113] In addition, sunitinib, due to its action on VEGFR, could have interfered with the autocrine loop of VEGF suggested to be present in the epidermis, thus, affecting the survival of keratinocytes. [108, 114] Hence, given that SU12662 is a pharmacologically active metabolite that also inhibits VEGFR, toxicities mediated by the inhibition of VEGFR may arise from exposure to both sunitinib and SU12662. In such event, any differential toxicity between sunitinib and SU12662 may arise from their relative distribution and accumulation in the tissue of concern. Therefore we conducted this study to compare the in-vitro dermatotoxic and hepatotoxic potential of sunitinib and SU12662. This investigation is important as it can help to determine which might be a better marker to monitor in TDM should this be implemented subsequently.

3.2.1 Methodology

HaCaT keratinocytes, 3T3 mouse fibroblast, THLE-2 human hepatocytes and transforming growth factor α mouse hepatocytes (TAMH) were selected in this study.

The immortal human keratinocyte cell line, HaCaT, provided a good representation of the normal keratinocytes with good consistency, durability and availability. [115, 116] HaCaT keratinocyte and 3T3 fibroblast cultures gave an appropriate in-vitro model for skin irritation as keratinocytes and fibroblasts are considered biologically relevant targets for skin irritants and photo-irritants. [117-119] THLE-2 is an immortalized primary human hepatocyte that expresses phenotypic characteristics of normal adult liver epithelial cells. [120] The TAMH cell line was adopted for this study as a stable and metabolically-competent system to support the mechanistic investigation of drug cytotoxicity. [121] It is of murine liver origin and is capable of maintaining a differentiated phenotype irrespective of the number of passages. [122] It is also non-tumorigenic and expresses drug metabolizing enzymes such as CYP3A and CYP2E1. [123]

3.2.1.1 Cell culture conditions

HaCaT cells were cultured in Dulbecco's modified eagle medium (DMEM) with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) and 1% penicillin/streptomycin (P/S). The 3T3 cells were cultured in DMEM with 5% v/v FBS and 1% P/S and incubated under 5% CO₂ environment at 37 °C. THLE-2 cells were cultured in commercially available LHC-9 media with 10% FBS. TAMH cells (kind gift from Prof. Nelson Fausto, University of Washington) were cultured in serum free Dulbecco's modified Eagle's Media/Ham's F12 (DMEM/F-12) media, supplemented with ITS (5 μ g/ml insulin, 5 μ g/ml transferrin, 5 ng/ml selenium), 10 mM nicotinamide, 100 nM dexamethasone and 10 μ g/ml gentamicin. [59]

Additionally, THLE-2 cells were also cultured with pre-coated flasks and plates. A fibronectin/collagen coating solution (0.01 mg/ml fibronectin, 0.03 mg/ml bovine collagen type I in LHC-9 media) were used for the coating. A volume of the coating solution was introduced (3 ml for T75 flasks and 50 μ l per well for 96-well plates), and left to stand for 24 hours in the incubator. Thereafter the coating solution is removed and the coated plates stored in a 4 °C refrigerator until use.

All cells were incubated under 5% CO_2 environment at 37 °C. Upon reaching 70 – 90% confluence, trypsin was used to passage the cells and was inhibited by fresh

media (HaCaT, 3T3 and THLE-2) or 0.5 mg/ml soybean trypsin inhibitor (TAMH) before the cells were plated.

3.2.1.2 Treatment and cell viability assay

Cells (2,000 – 10,000/well) were seeded in 96-well plates and incubated for 24 hours. Sunitinib or SU12662 dissolved in dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO), with concentrations ranging from 0.5 to 100 μ M were then added and allowed to incubate for another 24 hours (6 wells per concentration). After incubation, media was aspirated and replaced with 50 μ l of 2 mg/ml of methylthiazolyldiphenyl-tetrazolium bromide (MTT) dye in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) and 200 μ l of serum free media (HEPES-buffered for TAMH). [124, 125] Plates were then incubated in the dark for 2 hours at 37 °C. Subsequently, medium was then aspirated and the residual dye re-dissolved in 25 μ l of Sorensen's buffer (0.1 M glycine and 0.1 M NaCl equilibrated to pH 10.5 with 0.1 M NaOH) and 200 μ l of DMSO. Plates were read at 570 nm using the Infinite® 200. Experiments were performed in triplicates for each compound. Cell viability was expressed as a ratio normalized to the vehicle-treated control.

3.2.1.3 Statistical analysis

Average percentage viabilities at each concentration were calculated and the IC_{50} was estimated with Prism 6 (GraphPad, La Jolla, USA). T-test was conducted with SPSS 21, to compare IC_{50} of the two compounds. A p-value of less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

3.2.2 Results

3.2.2.1 Toxic potential of sunitinib and SU12662

A dose dependent relationship between concentration and cell viability was observed for all cell lines.

<u>HaCaT</u>

The IC₅₀ for sunitinib was 23.76, 24.90 and 21.34 μ M, while IC₅₀ for SU12662 was 37.02, 39.09 and 29.84 μ M. The lower mean IC₅₀ observed with sunitinib indicated that it was more toxic than SU12662 towards HaCaT cells and this was statistically significant (23.33 ± 1.82 μ M vs. 35.32 ± 4.85 μ M, p=0.02). (Table 11)

<u>3T3</u>

The IC₅₀ for sunitinib was 28.22, 20.08 and 17.65 μ M, while IC₅₀ for SU12662 was 31.92, 20.55 and 24.06 μ M. The mean IC₅₀ of sunitinib was 21.98 ± 5.54 μ M and for SU12662 25.51 ± 5.82 μ M, which were not significantly different (p=0.49), indicating that both sunitinib and SU12662 have an equal potential to cause direct toxic effect to 3T3 cells. (Table 11)

THLE-2

The IC₅₀ for sunitinib was 15.29, 15.03 and 9.48 μ M, while IC₅₀ for SU12662 was 17.87, 16.65 and 10.85 μ M. The mean IC₅₀ of sunitinib was 13.27 ± 3.28 μ M and for SU12662 15.12 ± 3.75 μ M, which were not significantly different (p=0.55), indicating that both sunitinib and SU12662 have an equal potential to cause direct toxic effect to THLE-2 cells. (Table 11)

<u>TAMH</u>

The IC₅₀ for sunitinib was 27.04, 31.75 and 22.42 μ M, while IC₅₀ for SU12662 was 12.76, 19.70 and 21.80 μ M. The mean IC₅₀ of sunitinib was 27.07 ± 4.67 μ M and for SU12662 18.09 ± 4.73 μ M, which were not significantly different (p=0.08), indicating that both sunitinib and SU12662 have an equal potential to cause direct toxic effect to TAMH cells. (Table 11)

	IC ₅₀	(µM)	
	Sunitinib	SU12662	р
HaCaT	23.33 ± 1.82	35.32 ± 4.85	0.02
3T3	21.98 ± 5.54	25.51 ± 5.82	0.49
THLE-2	13.27 ± 3.28	15.12 ± 3.75	0.55
TAMH	27.07 ± 4.67	18.09 ± 4.73	0.08

Table 11. Mean IC_{50} of sunitinib and SU12662 in various cell lines

3.2.3 Discussion

The results suggest a differential contribution of sunitinib and metabolite to toxicity. Sunitinib was observed to be more toxic towards keratinocytes while both sunitinib and metabolite were equally toxic to hepatocytes.

Although sunitinib has been shown to be more toxic than SU12662 in keratinocytes, it should also be noted that this statistical difference may not equate to a clinically significant difference. Previous clinical studies reported a correlation with oral adverse events, such as mucositis and HFSR. [126] Although we did not find such a correlation among our patients in the clinical study, our findings that the incidence of mucositis was related to high levels of exposure to sunitinib led us to believe that sunitinib rather than its metabolite may be the major contributor to mucositis. Our clinical study revealed a trend of higher total exposure in patients who reported grade 2 and above toxicity such as mucositis, HFSR, altered taste, anemia and hypertension than those who developed grade 1 or no toxicity. (Table 9 & Table 10) Patients who experience toxicities was also observed to have a high sunitinib exposure of more than 100 ng/ml, providing further indication that sunitinib may indeed be more toxic than its metabolite SU12662. As both in-vitro and clinical findings exhibits a trend where sunitinib was observed to be more toxic, it can thus be postulated that the toxicity arising from sunitinib is an extension of a pharmacological effect on keratinocytes and other skin cells, instead of an idiosyncratic outcome.

The differential toxicity of sunitinib and SU12662 in other cell types has not yet been specified. If differential toxicity exists for diverse cell types, variations in the

activation pathway, such as drug-drug interactions involving enzyme inducers or enzyme inhibitors, could affect the manifestation of toxicity. For example, a patient may experience greater dermatological toxicity when receiving sunitinib concurrently with a CYP3A4 inhibitor, due to the accumulation of the more dermatotoxic parent drug. Moreover, as not all toxicities are likely to be dose-dependent, dose reduction may not be a worthwhile strategy in all cases because efficacy could be compromised with no improvement in the risk of toxicity. Clinicians may have to adopt other strategies, such as providing supportive care or, if toxicity is severe, switching to an alternative agent.

3.2.4 Limitations of study

There may be an issue of longer term damage being done by the test drugs to cells that cannot be easily quantified, and which may not necessarily have a trend in the same direction as direct toxicity. In addition, hepatotoxicity and dermatological toxicity are ultimately organ-level phenomena, so while in-vitro studies like these provide a general indication as to what one may expect, emergent complexities within the organ system may yet lead to a different, unexpected result. Furthermore, only two cell lines per toxicity type was used, which may not be representative of the toxicity as a whole. Although there may be a difference between the IC_{50} of sunitinib and metabolite, the concentrations were much higher than reported human levels. There are also other toxicities relevant to the clinical usage of sunitinib which in-vitro studies are unable to model – such as effects on the nervous and digestive systems, among others. Fatigue, diarrhea and nausea are among the most common side effects of sunitinib therapy, which involve systems too complex for any tissue culture to satisfactorily model. Even should it be the case that hepatotoxicity and dermatological

toxicity are less significant with SU12662 usage as these results suggest, other toxicities may become more significant; as such would be challenging to alter therapy without being able to see the overall toxicity picture.

3.2.5 Summary of important findings

The results of this section suggest a differential contribution of sunitinib and metabolite to toxicity. Sunitinib was observed to be more toxic towards keratinocytes while both sunitinib and metabolite were equally toxic to hepatocytes. As SU12662 has similar clinical efficacy to sunitinib, and the clinical potential of sunitinib therapy is limited by the associated toxicities, modification of the balance between sunitinib and SU12662 has the potential to reduce side effects; this increases the clinical potential of sunitinib therapy in the event that the ratio of active effect to adverse effect between the two clinically active agents are different. By altering metabolism or changing the administered drug, it may possible to change the concentration balance between sunitinib and SU12662 to achieve this effect.

3.3 Supplementary analysis – association of toxicity with health-related quality of life (HRQoL)

Studies investigating health-related quality of life (HRQoL) with sunitinib and other TKIs in patients with mRCC have highlighted the importance of patient reported outcomes (PROs) in determining the overall treatment benefit to the patient. [127] Given the generally poor prognosis of patients with mRCC and the toxicities associated with therapy, PROs have become an increasingly important outcome in this patient population. [128] While some treatment-related toxicities such as HFSR or hypertension may not directly affect survival, they do adversely impact patients' HRQoL. The magnitude of these treatment-related toxicities may be serious enough to warrant dose reductions so as to improve patients' HRQoL, with the possibility to compromise treatment effectiveness or even treatment discontinuation. Hence, a trade-off between the impact of toxicities on patients' HRQoL and treatment efficacy appears inevitable.

It is a concern that toxicities would result in poor treatment adherence and thus poor treatment outcome. Nonetheless, although sunitinib is associated with multiple toxicities, not all of them may lead to poor treatment adherence and not all may warrant interventions. It is likely that only those with an impact on PRO will prompt self-initiated treatment discontinuation among patients. Hence, we conducted additional analysis on the same cohort of mRCC patients, with an objective to evaluate the association between toxicities and PRO. This would help inform treatment prioritization with regards to the management of toxicities among patients on sunitinib, with higher priority given to those toxicities that impair PRO.

3.3.1 Methodology

3.3.1.1 Patient recruitment and follow up

In addition to the procedures mentioned under chapter 2.3.1.2, questionnaires assessing PRO were administered before treatment commencement, to capture baseline PRO responses. Subsequently, patients were followed-up for PRO responses during week 4 of each treatment cycle.

3.3.1.2 Assessment of patient reported outcomes

Three tools were utilized to measure PRO: (1) EuroQoL Group's Five Dimensions Questionnaire (EQ-5D), (2) Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy-General (FACT-G), and (3) Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy-Kidney Symptom Index (FKSI-15).

EQ-5D is a validated and reliable generic measure of health outcome which comprises of a five-level health state classifier and a visual analog scale. [129] The classifier measures five different health dimensions namely, mobility, self-care, usual activities, pain/discomfort and anxiety and depression. Each dimension is described by three different statements, indicating "no problem", "moderate problem" or "extreme problem", with corresponding scores of 1, 2 and 3. The scores are translated into a single summary index (EQ-5D Index), where a higher index value corresponds to a better HRQoL. The vertical 0-100 point visual analogue scale (EQ-5D VAS) indicates the overall health state of patients. Zero indicates the worst imaginable health state while 100 indicates the best imaginable health state. [76] Clinically significant differences in scores are defined as a minimal 0.08-point change for EQ-5D Index and a minimal 7-point change for EQ-5D VAS. [130]

FACT-G is a validated 27-item scale to assess general HRQoL in cancer patients in the four domains of physical well-being (PWB), social/family well-being (SWB), emotional well-being (EWB) and functional well-being (FWB). [131] Patients rate the extent to which they agree with each statement using the 5-points Likert Scale ("not at all", "a little bit", "some-what", "quite a bit", "very much"). For negatively-phrased questions, scores are reversed. From each individual domain, question scores are summed up to obtain subscale scores. Subsequently, all 4 subscale scores are summed up to obtain the FACT-G Total score. The higher the total score, the better is the HRQoL (score range 0 - 108). [132] Clinically significant differences in scores are defined as a minimal 5-point change in FACT-G Total and a 2-point change in its subscale scores. [133]

FKSI-15 is a validated 15-item symptom index developed specifically to assess disease-related and treatment-related symptoms for patients with advanced kidney cancer. [134] Patients rate the extent to which they agree with each statement using a similar scale and scoring system as FACT-G. Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy-Kidney Symptoms Index – Disease Related Symptom (FKSI-DRS) is a subscale derived from 9 of the FKSI-15 questions and measures disease-related symptoms for patients with advanced kidney cancer. The higher the total score, the better is the HRQoL (score range 0 - 60). Clinically significant differences in scores are defined as a minimal 5-point change in FKSI-15 and 3-point change in FKSI-DRS. [134]

3.3.1.3 Statistical analysis

PRO scores for cycle 1 were compared between patients who experienced grade 2 and above toxicities and those who did not were compared using Mann-Whitney U test. PRO were compared between patients with and without Grade 2 and above AEs after cycle 1 as the number of patients is highest at this time point and also to determine the initial impact of the toxicity on QoL. Multiple linear regression was performed to adjust for age, gender and co-morbidities. These factors were selected as they are known to associate with PRO. [135, 136] Due to the small sample size, the number of confounders adjusted for was limited to three. All tests of statistical significance were two-sided with p-value of less than 0.05. A 5-point difference in total FACT-G scores [133] and a 5-point difference in total FKSI-15 scores [134] were considered clinically significant. All data analyses were conducted with IBM SPSS Statistics 21.

3.3.2 Results

3.3.2.1 Association between toxicity and HRQoL

Among the 36 patients recruited, 24, 21 and 13 sets of completed questionnaires were received at the end of cycle 1, 2 and 3 respectively, and analyzed. Patients were excluded for reasons such as did not initiate sunitinib therapy, unable to return for follow up to complete questionnaires and discontinuation of therapy.

In general, across commonly encountered Grade 2 and above toxicities (mucositis, HFSR, altered taste, anemia, neutropenia and hypertension), patients with toxicities reported lower PRO compared to patients with no events, reaching statistical significance for selected PRO in hypertension, neutropenia and altered taste. (Table 12)

Patients with altered taste reported significantly lower FKSI-15 (38.50 vs. 46.50, p=0.45) and FKSI-DRS (26.00 vs. 32.00, p=0.013) scores compared to patients without altered taste. After adjustment with age, gender and co-morbidities, the p-values were 0.09 and 0.03 respectively. Clinically significant poorer scores were observed in patients with altered taste compared to those without, for all scores with the exception of EQ-5D VAS. (Table 12)

Patients with hypertension reported significantly lower EQ-5D Index score compared to patients without (TTO: 0.73 vs. 1.00, p=0.03 and uVAS: 0.69 vs. 1.00, p=0.03).

After adjustment with age, gender and co-morbidities, p-values were 0.05 and 0.04 respectively. The difference in scores for all tools (EQ-5D, FACT-G and FKSI-15) were also clinically significant for hypertension, in other words, patients with hypertension reported clinically poorer scores compared to those without hypertension. (Table 12)

The EQ-5D Index scores were also significantly lower for patients with Grade 2 neutropenia compared to patients without (TTO: 0.66 vs. 0.80, p=0.05 and uVAS: 0.63 vs. 0.76, p=0.05). After adjustment with age, gender and co-morbidities, p-values were 0.05 and 0.13 respectively. Likewise, patients with neutropenia reported clinically poorer scores compared to those without, for EQ-5D index, FACT-G total and FKSI-DRS. (Table 12)

Clinically significant lower scores was also observed in patients with mucositis (EQ-5D VAS and FACT-G total), HFSR (EQ-5D uVAS and FACT-G total) and anemia (FACT-G total). (Table 12)

	Grade ≥ 2	Grade ≤ 1	Р		
EQ-5D Index (TTO	EQ-5D Index (TTO)				
Mucositis	0.73 (0.62, 0.88)	0.80 (0.66, 1.00)	0.53		
HFSR	0.71 (0.66, 0.82)	0.82 (0.66, 1.00)	0.40		
Altered taste	0.67 (0.63, 0.84)	$0.80^{\dagger} \ (0.66, 0.97)$	0.27		
Anemia	0.85 (0.66, 0.88)	0.80 (0.66, 1.00)	1.00		
Neutropenia	0.66 (0.39, 0.83)	$0.80^{\dagger} \ (0.69, 0.94)$	0.05/0.05¶		
Hypertension	0.73 (0.67, 0.87)	$1.00^{\dagger} (0.85, 1.00)$	0.03/0.05¶		
EQ-5D Index (uVA	S)		-		
Mucositis	0.70 (0.60, 0.81)	0.76 (0.63, 1.00)	0.53		
HFSR	0.67 (0.63, 0.77)	0.77 [†] (0.63, 1.00)	0.37		
Altered taste	0.64 (0.60, 0.78)	$0.76^{\dagger} (0.64, 0.95)$	0.27		
Anemia	0.77 (0.63, 0.81)	0.76 (0.63, 1.00)	1.00		
Neutropenia	0.63 (0.48, 0.81)	0.76 (0.66, 0.91)	0.05/0.13¶		
Hypertension	0.69 (0.64, 0.79)	$1.00^{\dagger} (0.82, 1.00)$	0.03/0.04¶		
EQ-5D VAS					
Mucositis	70.00 (65.00, 80.00)	80.00^{\dagger} (70.00, 90.00)	0.25		
HFSR	72.50 (65.00, 90.00)	77.50 (68.75, 86.25)	0.67		
Altered taste	72.50 (70.00, 78.75)	77.50 (65.00, 90.00)	0.63		
Anemia	75.00 (75.00, 80.00)	80.00 (65.00, 90.00)	0.86		
Neutropenia	80.00 (72.50, 87.50)	75.00 (65.00, 90.00)	0.65		
Hypertension	75.00 (62.50, 85.00)	90.00 [†] (68.75, 100.0)	0.20		
FACT-G					
Mucositis	91.00 (71.33, 101.83)	80.33 [†] (67.25, 93.67)	0.57		
HFSR	79.50(73.08, 97.83)	91.75 [†] (62.50, 96.46)	0.98		
Altered taste	77.00 (60.75, 95.87)	83.34 [†] (72.25, 99.29)	0.53		
Anemia	67.17 (58.33, 77.50)	92.25 [†] (71.33, 100.83)	0.05		
Neutropenia	67.17 (60.84, 87.67)	92.50 [†] (78.09, 98.83)	0.14		
Hypertension	83.00 (65.09, 95.75)	96.75 [†] (83.41, 101.58)	0.30		
FKSI-15					
Mucositis	45.00 (34.00, 55.00)	46.00 (42.00, 52.00)	0.82		
HFSR	44.00 (42.00, 52.50)	46.50 (40.75, 52.75)	0.47		
Altered taste	38.50 (32.25, 44.75)	46.50 [†] (42.45, 53.50)	0.05/0.09 [¶]		
Anemia	46.00 (42.00, 46.00)	45.00 (42.00, 54.00)	0.72		
Neutropenia	42.00 (32.50, 50.00)	46.00 (44.00, 53.00)	0.10		
Hypertension	45.00 (43.00, 52.00)	52.00 [†] (44.00, 54.75)	0.41		
FKSI-DRS					
Mucositis	29.00 (26.00, 34.00)	31.00 (28.50, 33.00)	0.42		
HFSR	31.00 (26.75, 33.00)	30.00 (26.75, 34.25)	0.67		
Altered taste	26.00 (22.25, 28.25)	32.00 [†] (27.75, 33.75)	0.01/0.03 [¶]		
Anemia	31.00 (31.00, 34.00)	30.00 (26.00, 33.00)	0.52		
Neutropenia	27.00 (23.50, 33.50)	33.00 [†] (28.00, 33.50)	0.40		
Hypertension	30.00 (26.50, 33.50)	33.00 [†] (30.75, 34.50)	0.30		

Table 12. Comparison of PROs at the end of cycle 1 between patients with and without grade 2 and above toxicities

Note: All values presented as median (Interquartile range); mucositis (n=24), HFSR (n=24); Altered taste (n=24), Anemia (n=22), Neutropenia (n=22), Hypertension (n=17) Abbreviations: *EQ-5D Index (TTO)*, EuroQoL Group's Five Dimension Questionnaire Index (Time Trade Off); *EQ-5D Index (uVAS)*, EQ-5D Index (Visual Analogue Scale); *EQ-5D VAS*, EQ-5D Visual Analogue Scale; *FACT-G*, Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy-General Total score; *FKSI-15*, Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy – Kidney Symptoms Index 15 items; *FKSI-DRS*, Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy – Kidney Symptoms Index Disease Related Symptoms

¶ Significant p-values are presented as before adjustment p-value/after adjustment p-value. Variables used for adjustment include age, gender and co-morbidities.

[†] Clinically significant (i.e. exceed 0.08 points for EQ-5D, 7-points for EQ-VAS, 5-point for FACT-G Total, 2-point for FACT-G subscales, 5-point for FKSI-15 Total and 3-point for FKSI-DRS subscale)

3.3.3 Discussion

Among several common Grade 2 and above toxicities, we found that hypertension, neutropenia and altered taste were most significantly associated with PRO. Instead of responding immediately to the presence of toxicities by dose reducing or discontinuation of treatment, the impact of toxicities on HRQoL may serve as a useful guide to inform the appropriate timing for dose reduction or treatment discontinuation. Our observation with regards to the impact of Grade 2 and above altered taste is novel as we are not aware of any previous reports, although a published systemic review did suggest that altered taste in chemotherapy patients could affect their diet, leading to weight loss and malnutrition, therefore affecting PRO. [137] One study reported that pharmacists who provided guidance and confirmed patients' awareness and knowledge regarding sunitinib toxicities were able to help patients better manage the toxicities and improved their treatment outcomes. [138] As such, our study provided important information on those sunitinib-induced toxicities that most significantly impaired PRO.

With regards to the effects of toxicities and PRO in mRCC patients, there was a published study that evaluated the association between HFSR and PRO among 23 patients treated with sorafenib or sunitinib. [139] The authors reported that HFSR had the most significant impact on the symptoms domain of the Skindex16 questionnaire, where the clinical severity was Grade 2 in 74% of the patients. In our study, patients with Grade 2 and above HFSR experienced only marginally lower PRO scores compared to patients without HFSR. For example, FKSI-DRS score was 31.00 among patients with Grade 2 and above HFSR while the FKSI-DRS score was 30.00 among patients without HFSR. This could suggest that the FKSI-DRS is less sensitive than

the symptoms domain of the Skindex16 questionnaire in detecting the impact of HFSR in patients with mRCC. However, this needs to be confirmed in a head-to-head comparison of the two instruments in the same study. The findings of that study would inform the choice of the optimal instrument for assessing the impact of HFSR on PRO among patients with mRCC.

3.3.4 Limitations of study

As this study was conducted with the same group of patients, limitations of the study have been previously described under chapter 2.3.4. Additionally, as we have terminated follow-up at the end of 3 cycles, we were unable to evaluate the long-term impact of sunitinib on PRO.

3.3.5 Summary of important findings

This is the first study to evaluate the PRO among Asian patients receiving the AD sunitinib for mRCC. This study has incorporated a wide range of tools, including both generic and disease-specific tools, which can provide a better understanding of the PRO. At the same time, this study identified several toxicities that significantly impaired PRO, namely hypertension, neutropenia and altered taste. Furthermore, we previously report that patients who develop altered taste demonstrated higher total exposure than those who did not develop altered taste. Altogether, this suggests that exposure levels as a result of intra-patient factors may affect the manifestation of altered taste, which in turn may adversely impact a patient's HRQoL. Hence, actively monitoring and managing these toxicities in patients taking sunitinib are warranted to prevent self-initiated treatment discontinuation among patients. Since altered taste
significantly impaired PRO, and it may be potentially associated with exposure levels, the impact of altered taste on HRQoL may serve as a useful guide to inform the appropriate timing for dose reduction or treatment discontinuation while a TDM program may serve as an objective guide for the optimization of dose. This can help to tailor the patient's dose of sunitinib such as there will be minimal impact on HRQoL, yet without compromising on treatment efficacy.

4 Exploring the association between genetic polymorphism of CYP3A5 and ABCB1 with the manifestation of toxicities in Asian mRCC patients receiving an attenuated dose of sunitinib

Disposition of sunitinib involves transportation through the ABCB1 transport protein and subsequent metabolism by CYP3A4/5 enzyme to its principal equipotent metabolite, SU12662. Differences in the safety profile of sunitinib in Asian and non-Asian patients allude to the possible role of genetic variability, although environmental differences cannot be excluded. [85]

The variability observed with TKIs is influenced not only by genetic heterogeneity of drug targets (i.e., pharmacodynamic differences), but is also contributed to by the patients' pharmacogenetic background (e.g., CYP450 and ABC drug transporter polymorphisms), adherence to treatment, and environmental factors that influence pharmacokinetics. [85] Thus, the disposition of sunitinib, which may be affected by the variability of proteins including drug metabolizing enzymes and transporters in its pharmacokinetic pathway, could play a role in explaining the differences in response and in toxicities observed. [45]

Highly polymorphic genes that play a significant role in sunitinib's pharmacological action may also play a role in explaining the variability in sunitinib exposure. [140] One enzyme of interest is the CYP3A5 enzyme. Although both CYP3A5 and CYP3A4 enzymes share substrate specificity, the relative importance of CYP3A5 and

CYP3A4 in overall CYP3A-mediated metabolism may differ between substrates. [141] The SNP in CYP3A5 is of importance as the mutant CYP3A5*3 allele is not uncommon in Asians (59 – 77%). [68] The defective CYP3A5 enzyme associated with the *3 allele may cause an accumulation of the parent drug, which has been shown in the previous sections to be more dermatotoxic than its metabolite. Coupled with the fact that Asian race and low body weight decrease sunitinib clearance [40], the defective CYP3A5 enzyme in Asians may exacerbate toxicities by further accumulating the parent drug. Furthermore, it has been previously suggested that there is an increased risk of dose reductions of sunitinib due toxicity associated with CYP3A5*1 allele. [142]

Pgp is a transmembrane efflux pump encoded by the ABCB1 gene. It is expressed in the intestines and liver and is involved in the oral absorption and biliary secretion of drugs. The genotype frequency of the homozygous TT genotype in the ABCB1 gene (C3435T) ranged from 28 to 43% in Asians compared with 0–6% in the African group [143] and 24% in the Caucasians. [144] Although this polymorphism is synonymous and there is no change in the amino acid of the resulting proteins, studies have demonstrated and suggested that it is likely to affect overall expression and function of the Pgp. [144] It has been proposed that the TT genotype could lead to increase activity or affinity of the efflux pump for sunitinib, hence leading to lower sunitinib levels. The TT genotype was also associated with a delay in dose reductions [145] and increased sunitinib clearance. [146]

The effect of SNPs on various response and toxicities has been studied previously. (Table 13) Effects of SNPs for both pharmacodynamics and pharmacokinetics targets have been evaluated. However, because the rates of SNPs differ across various populations, a focused population study was conducted to determine the effect of CYP3A5 and ABCB1 SNPs on the manifestation of toxicities and disposition of sunitinib and SU12662, in Asian mRCC patients.

	Ν	Gene	Significant findings
		studied	
Garcia-Donas et al	95	VEGFR2	Reduced PFS associated with VEGFR3
[142]	(mRCC)	VEGFR3	• Increased risk of dose reductions due to
		PDGFR-α	toxicity associated with CYP3A5*1
		VEGF-A	······································
		IL8	
		CYP3A4	
		CYP3A5	
		ABCB1	
		ABCG2	
van Erp et al	203	NR112	• Leukopenia associated with CYP1A1
[147]	(152	NR113	FLT3 NR113 haplotype
[]	mRCC.	CYP3A5	 Increased risk of developing any
	46 GIST	CYP1A1	toxicity higher than grade 2 associated
	5 others)	CYP1A2	with VEGER2 ABCG2
	2 outers)	ABCG2	 Increased rick of mucceel inflammation
		ABCB1	• Increased fisk of indeosal inflation
		PDGFRa	
		VEGER2	• Increased prevalence of HFSR
		VEGER3	associated with ABCB1 haplotype
		RET	
		FLT3	
Van der Veldt et al	136	ABCG2	• DES appointed with CVD2A5 ND112
	(mPCC)	ABCB1	• FFS associated with CTFSAS, NKTIS heplotype and APCP1 heplotype
[140]	(IIIKCC)	NP112	haplotype and ABCB1 haplotype
		ND112	
		CVD2A5	
		CYP1A1	
		CIFIAI CVD1A2	
		VECED 2	
		VEGFR-2	
		VEGFR-3	
		PDGFK-0	
Dougolingly of al	00	FLI-3	
LEUSEINICK et al	00 (mDCC)	ADCD1 CVD2A5	• PFS and US were associated with
[149]	(mrcc)	CIPSA5	ABCB1, NR1/3 and VEGFR3
		NR112 ND112	• PFS was associated with FGFR2 and
		INKII5	NR1/2
			• OS was associated with NR1/3 and
		PDGFKA VECED2	VEGFR3
		VEGFR2	
		VEGFRS	
		FGFR2	
Vim UD - (-1	65		
KIM HK et al		CYP2A5	• HFSR associated with ABCG2
[150]	(mkCC)	LIPSAS	• Thrombocytopenia, neutropenia also
		ABCBI	associated with ABCG2
		ABCG2	
		VEGFK2	
		KET FL TO	
		FLT3	

Beuselinck et al [145]	98 (mRCC)	ABCB1 CYP3A5 NR1/2 NR1/3 VEGFR1 VEGFR3	Increased time-to-dose-reduction associated with ABCB1		
Beuselinck et al [149]	91 (mRCC)	VEGFR1	Poorer response rate associated with VEGFR1		
Eechoute et al [151]	255 (mRCC)	VEGFA VEGFR2 EDN1 eNOS	 Greater elevations in SBP and MAP were associated with VEGFA Hypertension associated with VEGFA And eNOS 		
Kim J et al [152]	63 (mRCC)	VEGF	Hypertension and duration of hypertension associated with VEGF		
Scartozzi et al [153]	84 (mRCC)	VEGFA VEGFC VEGFR1 VEGFR2 VEGFR3	• PFS associated with VEGFA and VEGFR3		
Abbreviations: <i>GIST</i> , gastrointestinal stromal tumor; <i>HFSR</i> , hand-foot skin reaction; <i>mRCC</i> , metastatic renal cell carcinoma; <i>MAP</i> , mean arterial blood pressure; <i>OS</i> , overall survival; <i>PFS</i> , progression free survival; <i>SBP</i> , systolic blood pressure					

4.1 Methodology

The methodology adopted in this study was previously described under chapter 2.3.1 (methodology).

4.1.1 Definitions

Definitions used are previously described under chapter 2.3.1.9 (definitions). Patients will be genotyped if they provided at least one blood sample for the whole study, regardless of the number of cycles completed. Two mutually exclusive groups were defined based on patients' genotype. For CYP3A5 SNP, patients were categorized into *1*1/*1*3 genotype versus *3*3 genotype. For ABCB1 SNP, patients were categorized into CC genotype versus CT/TT genotype.

The maximum observed CTCAE grade for each toxicity across the cycles was used for analysis. Patients will be included in the analysis of the relative risk of toxicities if both genotype and toxicities data were available. Relative risk was compared in (1) patients with toxicities (any grade) vs. patients with no toxicities and (2) patients with clinically significant toxicities (grade 2 and above) vs. patients with no clinically significant toxicities (grade 1 and 0). Grade 2 and above toxicities were considered clinically significant as they could either require intervention or affect patients' daily functioning and living. Average exposure between cycles was used to compare these 2 groups of patients. If a patient had completed only 1 cycle, then only data from 1 cycle will be used. Exposure levels were compared between the two groups (*1*1/*1*3 versus *3*3 and CC versus CT/TT). Patients who had provided blood samples for pharmacokinetic analysis and genotyping will be included in the analysis between genotype and drug exposure. Patients will be included in the analysis of the relative risk of toxicities if both genotype and toxicities data were available.

4.1.2 Genotyping

This study assessed ABCB1 SNPs (C3435T, rs1045642) and CYP3A5 SNPs (CYP3A5*1*3, rs776746) relevant to sunitinib transport and metabolism. DNA was extracted from the buffy coat layer using DNeasy Blood and Tissue Kit (Qiagen, Venlo, The Netherlands), performed according to manufacturer's instructions. Genotyping was conducted with Polymerase Chain Reaction-Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphism (PCR-RFLP). For CYP3A, the forward primer was 5'-CTT TAA AGA GCT CTT TTG TCT CTC A-3' and the reverse primer was 5'-CCA GGA AGC CAG ACT TTG AT-3'. [154] For ABCB1, the forward primer was 5'-TGT TTT CAG CTG CTT GAT GG-3' and the reverse primer was 5'-AAG GCA TGT ATG TTG GCC TC-3'. [155]

The PCR assay was performed in a 50 μ l reaction volume containing 200 ng genomic DNA, 2 μ l of 10 μ M of forward and reverse primers, 5 μ l of 10x hot start buffer, 2 μ l of 25 μ M MgSO₄, 5 μ l of dNTPs, 1 μ l KOD hot start polymerase, 20 μ l of betaine and distilled water. PCR conditions were initial denaturation at 95 °C for 7 minutes, denaturation at 95 °C for 30 seconds, annealing at 60 °C for 20 seconds, elongation at 68 °C for 10 seconds, final elongation at 68 °C for 7 minutes and cooling at 12 °C. DNA was then purified using the DNA purification plate (Merck Millipore, Massachusetts, USA).

For CYP3A5 SNP, digestion of the amplified product with restriction enzyme, DdeI (New England Biolabs, Massachusetts, USA), for 2 hours at 37 °C yielded fragments of 107, 71 and 22 bp in the *3 allele, and fragments of 129 and 71 bp in the *1 allele. For ABCB1 SNP, digestion of the amplified product with restriction enzyme, Sau3A1 (New England Biolabs, Massachusetts, USA) for 2 hours at 37 °C yielded fragments of 158 bp and 39 bp in the mutant allele, and no fragments in the wild type allele. This was followed by separation of the digested DNA fragments on a 2.5% w/v agarose gel in 1X TAE buffer for 30 minutes at 120 V (New England Biolabs, Massachusetts, USA). DNA bands were stained with GelRedTM (Biotium, California, USA) for visualization of bands using Molecular Imager® Gel DocTM XR System (Bio-Rad Laboratories, California, USA).

4.1.3 Statistical analysis

Descriptive statistics was utilized to summarize patients' characteristics, incidence of toxicities and prevalence of SNPs. Chi-square or Fishers' exact test was performed to determine the association between SNPs and toxicities. Relative risks (RR) were also estimated. Genotype frequencies were tested for Hardy–Weinberg equilibrium. Mann-Whitney U test was used for determination of the relationship between SNPs and exposure. Given the explorative nature of this study, the p-values were not corrected for multiple testing. All tests of statistical significance were two-sided with p-values of less than 0.05 and analysis was conducted with the IBM SPSS statistics 21.

4.2 Results

4.2.1 Patient demographics and disease characteristics

As the cohort of patients were the same, please refer to chapter 2.3.2.1

4.2.2 Toxicities observed with sunitinib therapy

As the cohort of patients were the same, please refer to chapter 2.3.2.3

4.2.3 Frequencies of the genotype

The frequency of the CYP3A5*1 allele was 40% and frequency of the ABCB1 CC genotype was 66%. Allelic frequencies were in Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium. The allelic frequencies were also largely similar to a previous paper conducted in the Singaporean population, where the reported frequency of CYP3A5*1 allele was 34% [68] and frequency of the ABCB1 CC genotype was 44%. [156] The difference in the frequencies of the ABCB1 allele could be due to the small sample size in our study.

For the CYP3A5 SNP, the genotype frequencies for *1*1, *1*3 and *3*3 were 20% (n = 5), 40% (n = 10) and 40% (n = 10), respectively. For ABCB1 SNP, the genotype frequencies for CC, CT and TT were 36% (n = 9), 60% (n = 15) and 4% (n = 1), respectively.

4.2.4 Incidence of toxicities and SNPs

There was no significant association between CYP3A5 SNPs and the incidence of toxicities, with the exception of anemia. Patients with the *1*1/*1*3 genotype had a lower risk of all-grade anemia than patients with the *3*3 genotype (RR 0.47, 95% CI 0.27 – 0.80). However, this was not observed for grade 2 and above anemia. Risk of all-grade dermatological toxicities appeared to be similar between patients with the *1*1/*1*3 genotype and patients with the *3*3 genotype (RR 0.98, 95% CI 0.72 – 1.32). Risk of both all-grade (RR 0.90, 95% CI 0.35 – 2.35) and grade 2 and above (RR 0.30, 95% CI 0.03 – 2.86) rash was observed to be lower in *1*1/*1*3 carriers. There was a reduction in risk observed for all-grade anemia, neutropenia and thrombocytopenia, while a reverse trend was observed for leucopenia. There was a trend of *1*1/*1*3 carriers having a lower risk of all-grade transaminitis and elevations of total bilirubin (TB), alanine transaminase (ALT) and aspartate transaminase (AST), however this was not statistically significant. For other general toxicities, *1*1/*1*3 carriers were observed to have a reduced risk for toxicities compared with the other group. (Table 14)

A significant association between ABCB1 SNP and incidence of all-grade rash was observed, with the incidence of rash being 3 times higher in patients who were homozygous CC wild type than in patients who were heterozygous CT or mutant TT (RR 3.00, 95% CI 1.17 – 7.67). CC carriers were also at a higher risk for both all-grade (RR 1.60, 95% CI 1.10 – 2.34) and grade 2 and above (RR 2.00, 95% CI 1.23 – 3.27) mucositis. There was no significant association between ABCB1 SNPs and incidence of other toxicities. Risk of all-grade dermatological toxicities was observed to be higher in patients with CC genotype than in CT/TT patients (RR 1.23, 95% CI

0.97 - 1.56). Risk of grade 2 and above hematological toxicities was lower in CC patients than in CT/TT patients (RR 0.73, 95% CI 0.34 – 1.57). A trend of CC carriers having a higher risk of hepatotoxicity was observed. This trend was consistent for hepatotoxicity as a group, and for individual elevations of TB, ALT and AST, but it was not statistically significant. For other general toxicities, CC carriers were observed to have similar risk for all-grade fatigue, increase in blood pressure, and altered taste, compared with the other group. (Table 15)

	P3A5 (5) vs. *3*3 (n = 9)	
RR (95% CI)	All-grade	Grade 2 and above
Dermatological Toxicity ^a	0.98 (0.72 – 1.32)	0.86 (0.52 – 1.41)
Dry Skin	1.00 (0.56 - 1.79)	1.20 (0.27 – 5.29)
HFSR	1.32 (0.68 – 2.55)	1.20 (0.61 – 2.38)
Rash	0.90 (0.35 - 2.35)	0.30 (0.03 – 2.86)
Pruritus	N.A.	N.A.
Hematological Toxicity ^b	N.A.	1.20 (0.61 - 2.38)
Anemia	0.47 (0.27 – 0.80)	0.60 (0.15 – 2.36)
Leucopenia	2.70 (0.74 - 9.81)	3.00 (0.41 – 21.76)
Neutropenia	0.96 (0.45 – 2.04)	2.10 (0.55 - 7.99)
Thrombocytopenia	0.90 (0.35 – 2.35)	1.20 (0.13 – 11.43)
Hepatotoxicity ^c	1.00 (0.31 – 3.22)	N.A.
Transaminitis ^d	0.80 (0.23 – 2.79)	N.A.
Increase in TB	0.60 (0.04 - 8.46)	N.A.
Increase in ALT	0.60 (0.10 - 3.55)	N.A.
Increase in AST	0.40 (0.08 – 1.96)	N.A.
Gastrointestinal		
Mucositis	0.94 (0.59 – 1.50)	1.00 (0.56 – 1.79)
Constitutional		
Fatigue	0.83 (0.56 – 1.21)	0.60 (0.10 – 3.55)
Cardiac		
Increase in BP	1.14 (0.88 – 1.49)	2.00 (0.77 - 5.18)
Neurology		
Altered Taste	0.68 (0.42 – 1.08)	1.00 (0.31 – 3.22)
Abbreviations: <i>ALT</i> , Alanine tran	nsaminase; AST, Aspartate trans	saminase; <i>BP</i> , Blood pressure;
<i>CI</i> , Confidence interval; <i>HFSR</i> , 1	Hand-foot skin reaction; <i>RR</i> , Re	elative risk; TB, Total bilirubin
a Includes dry skin, HFSR, rash,	pruritus	
b Includes anemia, leucopenia, n	eutropenia, thrombocytopenia	

Table 14. Incidence of toxicities and CYP3A5 SNPs

c Includes elevation of TB, ALT, AST d Includes elevation of ALT, AST

	ABCB1 $CC (n = 8) vs. CT/TT(n = 16)$			
RR (95% CI)	All-grade	Grade 2 and above		
Dermatological Toxicity ^a	1.23 (0.97 – 1.56)	1.09 (0.65 - 1.83)		
Dry Skin	1.20 (0.69 - 2.08)	2.00 (0.52 - 7.77)		
HFSR	1.20 (0.69 - 2.08)	1.33 (0.74 - 2.40)		
Rash	3.00 (1.17 - 7.67)	1.00 (0.11 – 9.44)		
Pruritus	2.00 (0.52 - 7.77)	N.A.		
		•		
Hematological Toxicity ^b	N.A.	0.73 (0.34 – 1.57)		
Anemia	0.67 (0.32 – 1.41)	0.40 (0.06 - 2.88)		
Leucopenia	0.44 (0.12 – 1.59)	1.00 (0.23 - 4.35)		
Neutropenia	0.36 (0.11 – 1.26)	0.57 (0.15 – 2.15)		
Thrombocytopenia	1.33 (0.52 - 3.41)	4.00 (0.42 - 37.78)		
Hepatotoxicity ^c	2.00 (0.67 - 5.98)	2.00 (0.14 - 27.99)		
Transaminitis ^d	2.67 (0.78 - 9.15)	N.A.		
Increase in TB	2.00 (0.14 - 27.99)	N.A.		
Increase in ALT	2.00 (0.34 - 11.70)	N.A.		
Increase in AST	3.00 (0.62 - 14.49)	N.A.		
Gastrointestinal				
Mucositis	1.60 (1.10 – 2.34)	2.00 (1.23 – 3.27)		
Constitutional				
Fatigue	0.92 (0.58 – 1.47)	N.A.		
Cardiac				
Increase in BP	1.08 (0.93 – 1.25)	1.67 (0.88 – 3.14)		
Neurology				
Altered Taste	1.09 (0.65 – 1.83)	0.29 (0.04 – 1.94)		
Abbreviations: <i>ALT</i> , Alanine tran	saminase; AST, Aspartate trans	saminase; <i>BP</i> , Blood pressure;		
<i>CI</i> , Confidence interval; <i>HFSR</i> , H	land-foot skin reaction; RR, Re	elative risk; TB, Total bilirubin		
a Includes dry skin, HFSR, rash,	pruritus			
b Includes anemia, leucopenia, no	eutropenia, thrombocytopenia			
c Includes elevation of TB, ALT,	AST			

Table 15. Incidence of toxicities and ABCB1 SNPs

d Includes elevation of ALT, AST

4.2.5 Exposure levels and SNPs

When exposure levels ($C_{min,ss}$) were compared between the CYP3A5 *1*1/*1*3 genotype and the *3*3 genotype, there was no difference in the normalized and actual sunitinib levels, total levels and SM ratio between the 2 groups for CYP3A5. On the other hand, normalized and actual metabolite SU12662 levels were significantly higher in the *3*3 genotype than the other group (Normalized: 13.74 vs. 9.82 ng/ml, p = 0.05; Actual: 13.74 vs. 9.58 ng/ml, p = 0.05). Similar trends were observed with the $C_{max,ss}$ exposure levels. (Table 16 & Table 17)

Patients who were CC genotype for ABCB1 were observed to have higher normalized and actual sunitinib exposure ($C_{min,ss}$) than those who were CT/TT genotype (Normalized: 76.81 vs. 56.55 ng/ml, p = 0.02; Actual: 76.81 vs. 49.85 ng/ml, p = 0.003). Likewise, the CC genotype group demonstrated higher SM ratio for $C_{min,ss}$ when the 2 groups were compared (7.89 vs. 5.25, p = 0.02). However, no difference was observed between the 2 groups for total and metabolite levels of $C_{min,ss}$. Similar trends were observed with the $C_{max,ss}$ exposure levels. (Table 16 & Table 17)

CYP3A5	*1*1/*1*3 (n = 15)	*3*3 (n = 9)	Р			
Sunitinib, normalized	59.20 (45.66, 85.58)	74.67 (56.55, 87.19)	0.36			
Sunitinib, actual	59.29 (39.79, 75.97)	70.15 (53.62, 87.19)	0.33			
Metabolite, normalized	9.82 (8.29, 15.81)	13.74 (11.67, 18.90)	0.05			
Metabolite, actual	9.58 (5.98, 12.15)	13.74 (10.08, 18.90)	0.05			
Total, normalized	68.27 (53.95, 101.38)	89.65 (75.10, 115.75)	0.09			
Total, actual	64.97 (47.13, 85.55)	85.93 (65.46, 115.75)	0.08			
SM Ratio	5.50 (4.10, 7.93)	5.32 (4.00, 6.64)	0.42			
ABCB1	CC (n = 8)	CT/TT (n = 16)	Р			
Sunitinib, normalized	76.81 (64.49, 101.46)	56.55 (45.18, 76.65)	0.02			
Sunitinib, actual	76.81 (64.49, 101.46)	49.85 (39.84, 63.57)	0.003			
Metabolite, normalized	13.16 (9.07, 17.05)	11.13 (8.98, 15.29)	0.85			
Metabolite, actual	12.16 (9.07, 16.64)	10.40 (7.57, 13.35)	0.54			
Total, normalized	89.15 (80.05, 114.17)	69.10 (54.31, 98.45)	0.11			
Total, actual	89.15 (80.05, 114.17)	58.87 (48.10, 83.74)	0.04			
SM Ratio	7.89 (5.40, 9.10)	5.25 (4.07, 6.31)	0.02			
Note: All values are aver	Note: All values are average exposure (C _{min,ss} , ng/ml) between the cycles and reported as					
median (inter-quartile range)						
Abbreviations: SM ratio,	Sunitinib to metabolite rat	io				

Table 16. Exposure levels $(C_{min,ss})$ and SNPs

CYP3A5	$1^{1}1/1^{3} (n = 15)$	*3*3 (n = 9)	Р		
Sunitinib, normalized	90.90 (67.06, 135.31)	111.36 (87.41, 131.56)	0.30		
Sunitinib, actual	85.81 (58.43, 110.74)	106.11 (83.82, 130.42)	0.25		
Metabolite, normalized	11.50 (9.61, 18.57)	16.06 (13.59, 21.61)	0.06		
Metabolite, actual	11.09 (7.01, 14.28)	16.06 (11.74, 21.61)	0.06		
Total, normalized	103.37 (76.67, 153.88)	135.62 (110.24, 166.34)	0.13		
Total, actual	91.82 (66.95, 121.83)	124.46 (97.20, 166.34)	0.14		
SM Ratio	7.36 (5.34, 9.98)	6.97 (5.22, 8.70)	0.46		
ABCB1	CC(n=8)	CT/TT (n = 16)	Р		
Sunitinib, normalized	114.78 (98.57, 156.00)	87.41 (67.37, 118.67)	0.02		
Sunitinib, actual	114.78 (98.57, 151.44)	77.94 (59.24, 100.83)	0.008		
Metabolite, normalized	15.39 (10.56, 19.38)	12.98 (10.53, 17.94)	0.85		
Metabolite, actual	14.15 (10.56, 18.87)	12.18 (8.80, 15.61)	0.50		
Total, normalized	129.15 (117.35, 170.67)	103.68 (78.10, 149.31)	0.11		
Total, actual	129.15 (117.35, 167.63)	88.53 (68.85, 122.63)	0.03		
SM Ratio	10.08 (7.14, 11.88)	6.91 (5.26, 8.31)	0.02		
Note: All values are average exposure (C _{max,ss} , ng/ml) between the cycles and reported as					
median (inter-quartile range)					
Abbreviations: SM ratio, Sunitinib to metabolite ratio					

Table 17. Exposure levels $(C_{max,ss})$ and SNPs

4.3 Discussion

This study demonstrated that the ABCB1 polymorphism may affect the risk for toxicities and sunitinib levels, but that there was a lack of statistically significant evidence associating the polymorphism of CYP3A5 to the same outcomes. Patients expressing the CC genotype for ABCB1 were more likely than the CT/TT genotype to develop rash and mucositis in the course of their sunitinib therapy. Patients expressing the CC genotype had an increased risk for all-grade rash (3-fold increase), all-grade mucositis (1.6-fold increase) and grade 2 and above mucositis (2-fold increase) as compared with patients expressing the CT/TT genotype. Patients expressing the CC genotype for ABCB1 also achieved higher sunitinib levels, and consequently higher SM ratio, than patients who were CT/TT genotype.

Metabolism of sunitinib was unaffected by variations in the CYP3A5 SNP. This may be attributed to the redundancy between CYP3A5 and CYP3A4 enzymes as the relative metabolizing capacity of CYP3A4 for sunitinib may greatly exceed, and adequately compensate for, any variability in the CYP3A5 enzyme. As sunitinib possesses an intermediate hepatic extraction ratio (0.48), the dependence of the clearance on P450 activity may not be as strong as a low hepatic extraction ratio drug. It has been proposed that sunitinib is a much better substrate of CYP3A4 compared with CYP3A5, and therefore the contribution of CYP3A5 to the metabolism of sunitinib may be low. [141] A recent study has also suggested that CYP3A5 SNPs do not affect the clearance of sunitinib and SU12662. [146] This is in agreement with our findings that the CYP3A5 polymorphism may not be an important contributor to the disposition of sunitinib. One other study has demonstrated that the presence of a copy of the *1 allele in CYP3A5 is associated with an increased risk of dose reduction due to toxicity. [142] For that reason, we conducted additional analysis to evaluate whether CYP3A5*1 carriers were more likely to have their dose reduced, but did not observe such an association. Although CYP3A5 plays a minimal role in the disposition of sunitinib, several studies have highlighted the contributions of CYP3A4 in sunitinib exposure. Midazolam exposure was found to be highly correlated with sunitinib exposure and this accounted for 51% of the observed inter-patient variability in sunitinib pharmacokinetics. [157] A further study in a Caucasian population has also found that the clearance of sunitinib is affected by the CYP3A4*22 polymorphism. [146] These findings further support CYP3A4 as the main contributor to sunitinib metabolism and the reduced dependence on CYP3A5. However, the CYP3A4*22 polymorphism was not detected in Asians so it cannot explain the differences in exposure in Asians. [158] In addition, patients with the *3*3 polymorphism possessed higher median metabolite levels than the *1*1/*1*3 group. This can be attributed to one patient in the former group displaying an extremely high metabolite level, which skewed the results. In this patient, the level was 144 ng/ml, whereas the metabolite level in the rest of the patients ranged from 4 to 26 ng/ml. When the outlier was excluded from the *3*3 group, the statistical difference was no longer present.

Our results also demonstrated that presence of the ABCB1 SNP is correlated with a higher sunitinib level and SM ratio in patients with the CC genotype compared with those with the CT/TT genotype. The functional effect of the ABCB1 polymorphism on Pgp has been heavily debated. [69] Several studies have provided conflicting results, with the 3435 TT genotype associated with both increased [159-161] and decreased [144, 162-164] expression of Pgp. For sunitinib, it has been shown that the

TT, TC and CC genotypes for ABCB1 affect sunitinib clearance by +7%, +3%, and -11.5%, respectively. [146] This is in line with our results in which the CC group displayed higher levels of sunitinib, possibly due to a decrease in its clearance. Patients exhibiting the CC genotype had an increased risk for all-grade rash (3-fold increase), all-grade mucositis (1.6-fold increase) and grade 2 and above mucositis (2fold increase) compared with the CT/TT patients. This is not surprising, as the accumulation of sunitinib in the former group of patients could have resulted in the higher exposure and occurrence of toxicity. This is further supported by our previous findings in which sunitinib exhibited greater dermatological toxicity than its metabolite. [165]

Studies conducted in Korea and Japan have demonstrated an association between the ATP-binding cassette sub-family G member 2 (ABCG2) polymorphism, toxicities such as thrombocytopenia, HFSR, and hypertension [150], and the pharmacokinetics of sunitinib. [166] The polymorphic effects of ABCG2, which encodes for the breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP) have also been very recently identified as a significant covariate for the prediction of sunitinib clearance. [166] To confirm such associations with ABCB1, future studies should be performed in our local South-East Asian population, which encompasses different ethnicities of that in Korea and Japan. As all the patients in our study used the AD regimen and demonstrated a lower incidence and severity of toxicities, the effects of SNPs on severe toxicities may have been downplayed. Future studies involving a larger sample should be conducted to confirm these findings. If the role of the ABCB1 polymorphism on exposure and toxicities is confirmed, genotyping for ABCB1 and TDM should be considered in clinical practice to aid in the personalization of drug therapy. Even with the AD

sunitinib, our patients managed to achieve sufficient exposure to sunitinib and experience frequent toxicities, thus further dose reductions may be necessary in this group of patient. Thus, TDM may complement clinical evaluation by providing additional information on efficacy, adherence and toxicity. By ensuring that the optimal dose is prescribed to the right patient according to the genotype, we can achieve maximum efficacy with minimal toxicity.

4.4 Limitations of study

As previously mentioned under chapter 2.3.4, the limitations of our study included limited sampling points and a small sample size. As tumor type (mRCC, GIST and other solid tumor) accounted for a major portion of the variability in the clearance of sunitinib and its metabolite [40], our study only included patients with mRCC and this may have resulted in the small sample size. Furthermore, as this was an exploratory study with small sample size, no statistical adjustments was performed.

4.5 Summary of important findings

In Asian mRCC patients, polymorphism of ABCB1 may be associated with drug exposure and manifestation of toxicities, but the polymorphism of CYP3A5 is not. Although CYP3A5 is highly polymorphic in Asian population, the CYP3A5 polymorphism may be excluded as a cause of high drug exposure and/or toxicity as this enzyme plays a minimal role in the disposition of sunitinib. The ABCB1 polymorphism may affect sunitinib levels and the occurrence of dermatological toxicities, including rash and mucositis.

5 Metabolism-related pharmacokinetic drug-drug interactions in tyrosine kinase inhibitors

5.1 Role of metabolism-related drug-drug interactions in tyrosine kinase inhibitor therapy

DDIs occur when a patient's pharmacological or clinical response to the drug is modified by administration or co-exposure to another drug. Pharmacokinetic interactions occur when one drug influences the pharmacokinetic processes such as absorption, distribution, metabolism and excretion, of another drug. Altered metabolism is among the most complex of these processes by which DDIs can occur, and induction or inhibition of hepatic enzymes by drugs are often implicated. The clinical consequences of enzyme induction or inhibition depend on the pharmacological and toxic effect of both the parent drug and its metabolite(s). For example, if the parent compound is more active than its metabolite, inhibition of metabolism increases the exposure to the drug and also its therapeutic and/or toxic effects. However, if the parent compound is a pro-drug, inhibition of metabolism may result in a decrease in therapeutic efficacy. More recently, another paradigm of interaction arises when the metabolite is more toxic, and hence induction of metabolism down this pathway can exacerbate toxicity. (Figure 3)

106



Figure 3. (A) Metabolism of parent drug to metabolite by drug metabolizing enzyme (B) Enzyme induction and increased formation of metabolite (C) Enzyme induction and increased formation of toxic metabolite (D) Enzyme inhibition and decreased formation of metabolite (E) Enzyme inhibition and decreased formation of toxic metabolite

A recent study revealed that co-prescription of drugs that induce or inhibit metabolic pathways used by TKIs was high. Overall co-prescribing rates for DDI drugs that may decrease TKIs effectiveness ranged from 23 - 57%, while co-prescribing rates with drugs that may increase TKI toxicity ranged from 24 - 74%. [167] In another study which studied the pattern of DDI in cancer patients, the frequency of at least one potential DDI occurring was 63%. Among them, almost 62% of the identified DDIs were considered as major, where the effects of the interaction may result in serious consequences such as hospitalization, therapeutic failure, permanent injury or even death. [168] Although many studies highlighted the problem of frequent DDI among TKIs, these studies did not address the clinical consequences of the potential DDIs, such as increased toxicity or therapeutic failure. In some cases, these combinations could have been intentionally prescribed, where physicians may have knowingly prescribed a potentially interacting combination because they considered the potential benefits to outweigh the risks or because the patient had tolerated the combination in the past. [169] As these TKIs are relatively new to the market, the scientific evidence that support their DDI is limited. Therefore, it is not unexpected to observe that oncology professionals are unable to identify TKI DDI pairs which that might have a high probability of causing deleterious effects in cancer patients. [170]

Cancer patients are susceptible to DDIs as they receive many medications, either for supportive care or for treatment of therapy-induced toxicity. [72] For instance, an observational study highlighted that patients were receiving on average 6.8 drugs in addition to sunitinib. Among them, antihypertensive drugs were most commonly prescribed, followed by analgesics, antiemetics and thyroid substitution therapy. [73] In certain cases, a cancer patient's pharmacokinetic parameters may be also altered,

for example, edema affecting volume of distribution or impaired drug absorption due to malnutrition or mucositis; these issues may also affect the consequences of DDIs. Since most cancers typically occur at a later age, these patients may also be receiving other drugs for the management of their comorbidities. Differences in DDI outcomes are generally minor due to the wide therapeutic windows of common drugs; however, in cancer chemotherapy with anti-cancer drugs, serious clinical consequences may occur from small changes in drug metabolism and pharmacokinetics. [74] We described in previous chapters that sunitinib is more dermatotoxic than SU12662, suggesting that patients who receive concomitant CYP3A4 inhibitors would be at a higher risk of dermatological toxicities, due to a lower ability to metabolize sunitinib. Consequently, this may result in an increased risk of non-compliance, dose reduction, or therapy discontinuation and thereby leading to suboptimal therapy.

Due to the substantial potential for interaction between TKIs and other drugs that modulate the activity of metabolic pathways, unwanted clinical consequences may occur from small changes in drug metabolism and pharmacokinetics in cancer patients. Furthermore, it is a challenge to determine the clinical effects of the DDIs due to the large inter-patient variability in the pharmacokinetics of the TKIs. Therefore, the objective of this chapter is to highlight the current understanding of DDIs among TKIs, with a specific focus on DDIs involving metabolism, to identify challenges in the prediction of DDIs and provide some possible recommendations. Henceforth, this chapter provides insights on DDIs among TKIs, which will be helpful in appreciating the following chapters, when actual DDIs cases involving TKIs like lapatinib and also erlotinib are studied.

5.2 Methods

A search was conducted to identify all small molecule TKIs approved by the FDA from January 2000 to February 2014. A comprehensive literature search of articles involving TKIs was performed using the PubMed and Scopus databases. Meetings abstracts presented at American Association for Cancer Research (AACR) and American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO) were also reviewed. The search was conducted by using the generic names of all the identified TKIs (afatinib, axitinib, bosutinib, cabozantinib, crizotinib, dasatinib, erlotinib, gefitinib, imatinib, lapatinib, nilotinib, pazopanib, ponatinib, regorafenib, sorafenib, sunitinib, vandetanib), and terms such as "drug interaction", "metabolism" and "pharmacokinetics". The search was limited to English language articles published between January 1995 and February 2014.

5.3 Results

5.3.1 Metabolic profile of tyrosine kinase inhibitors

Almost all of the TKIs undergo metabolism by CYP enzymes. The CYP3A4 is the CYP enzyme involved in the metabolism of the majority of the TKIs. Some of these TKIs, including imatinib, sunitinib and dasatinib, form an active metabolite upon metabolism. These TKIs can also act as an inducer or inhibitor to the CYP enzymes. All TKIs are primarily excreted in the feces. However, the percentage of unchanged drug recovered in the feces and urine varies widely between the TKIs. For instance, the percentage of unchanged erlotinib recovered in the feces was 1%, compared to almost 70% for nilotinib. (Table 18)

	% of dose (% rec uncha	recovered overed inged)	Metabolism		Induces	Inhihita
	Feces	Urine	Major CYPs	Minor CYPs & others	induces	Innibits
Afatinib	85 (N.R.)	4 (N.R.)	Negl	igible	-	-
Axitinib	41 (12)	23 (N.D.)	CYP3A4 CYP3A5	CYP1A2 CYP2C19 UGT1A1	-	CYP1A2 CYP2C8
Bosutinib	91 (N.R.)	3 (N.R.)	CYP3A4	-	-	-
Cabozantinib	54 (N.R.)	27 (N.R.)	CYP3A4	CYP2C9	CYP1A1	CYP2C8 CYP2C9 CYP2C19 CYP3A4
Crizotinib	63 (53)	22 (2)	CYP3A4 CYP3A5	-	-	CYP3A CYP2B6
Dasatinib	85 (19)	4 (< 1)	CYP3A4	FMO-3 UGT	-	CYP3A4
Erlotinib	83 (1)	8 (< 1)	CYP3A4	CYP1A2 CYP1A1	-	CYP1A1 CYP3A4 CYP2C8
Gefitinib	86 (N.R.)	4 (N.R.)	CYP3A4 CYP2D6	-	-	CYP2C19 CYP2D6
Imatinib	68 (20)	13 (5)	CYP3A4 CYP2C8	CYP1A2 CYP2D6 CYP2C9 CYP2C19	-	CYP2C8 CYP2C9 CYP3A4/5 CYP2D6
Lapatinib	(27)	(< 2)	CYP3A4 CYP3A5	CYP2C19 CYP2C8	-	CYP3A CYP2C8
Nilotinib	93 (69)	N.R.	CYP3A4	CYP2C8	CYP2B6 CYP2C8 CYP2C9	CYP3A4 CYP2C8 CYP2C9 CYP2D6
Pazopanib	Majority in feces	4	CYP3A4	CYP1A2 CYP2C8	-	CYP1A2 CYP3A4 CYP2B6 CYP2C8 CYP2C9 CYP2C19 CYP2D6 CYP2E1
Ponatinib	87 (N.R.)	5 (N.R.)	CYP3A4	CYP2C8 CYP2D6 CYP3A5	-	-
Regorafenib	71 (47)	19 (2)	CYP3A4	UGT1A9	-	CYP2C8 CYP2C9 CYP2B6 CYP3A4 CYP2C19
Sorafenib	77 (51)	19 (N.D)	CYP3A4	UGT1A9	-	CYP2B6 CYP2C8

Table 18. Metabolism profile of FDA-approved tyrosine kinase inhibitors

						CYP2C9 CYP2C19 CYP2D6 CYP3A4
Sunitinib	61 (N.R.)	16 (N.R.)	CYP3A4	-	-	-
Vandetanib	44 (N.R.)	25 (N.R.)	CYP3A4	FMO-1 FMO-3	-	-
Note: All information was obtained from product information labels [70, 71] Abbreviations: <i>N.R.</i> , not reported; <i>N.D.</i> , not detected						

5.3.2 Potential effect of enzyme inducer/inhibitor on pharmacokinetics of tyrosine kinase inhibitors

As most of these TKIs are substrates of the CYP3A4 enzyme, inducers and inhibitors of this enzyme can affect the exposure to these TKIs. The most common inducer and inhibitor used for the study of the potential pharmacokinetic interaction are rifampicin and ketoconazole respectively. As expected, ketoconazole increases the exposure of TKIs due to the inhibition of metabolism. However, the extent to which the exposure is increased varied widely between the TKIs. For instance, concomitant ketoconazole can result in a slight increase of imatinib AUC by 40%. [171] But for bosutinib, the increase in AUC is more than 8 times with concomitant ketoconazole. [172] It is also interesting to note that exposure to TKI is much increased by concomitant ketoconazole, as CYP3A4 is the only enzyme involved in the TKI's metabolic pathway. This is also supported by a report by Scripture et al, whereby drug interactions are likely to be significant when drug elimination occurs primarily through a single metabolic pathway. [173] Similarly for rifampicin, the combination of drugs resulted in a decrease in exposure to the TKIs. However, the extent to which the exposure is decreased is not as large as that observed with ketoconazole. The decrease in TKI AUC ranged from 40% for vandetanib [174] to 94% for bosutinib. [14] Among all the TKIs, sorafenib seems to be an exception, where studies have consistently demonstrated that clinically important interaction between sorafenib and drugs metabolized primarily by CYPs 3A4, 2C19, or 2D6 are not expected. [175, 176] Although co-administration of sorafenib with capecitabine has been shown to result in a mild increase in capecitabine exposure, these findings were not statistically significant and the mechanism of interaction is unclear. [177] As strong CYP3A4 inducers and inhibitors generally cause a change in exposure, the concomitant use of such agents with TKIs is not recommended and should be avoided if possible. If such combinations must be used, manufacturers generally recommend that dose increase or decrease may be considered and that patients should be monitored closely following any changes in dosages. (Table 19)

	Changes in PK of TKI	Recommendations	Ref
Afatinib	Unlikely	Unlikely	[6]
	Ketoconazole: $\uparrow 1.5 x C_{max}$,	Strong 3A4/5 inhibitors \rightarrow Avoid;	[178]
	\uparrow 2x AUC of axitinib	Consider alternative agents;	[179]
Avitinih		Consider \downarrow dose of axitinib by half	[13]
AXILIIIU			
	Rifampicin: \downarrow 71% C _{max} ,	Strong 3A4/5 inducers \rightarrow Avoid;	
	\downarrow 79% AUC of axitinib	Consider alternative agents	
	Ketoconazole: $\uparrow 5.2 \text{ c}_{\text{max}}$	Strong 3A inhibitors \rightarrow Avoid	[172]
	\uparrow 8.6x AUC of bosutinib		[14]
Bosutinib			
	Ritampicin: $\downarrow 86\% C_{max}$,	Strong 3A inducers \rightarrow Avoid	
	↓ 94% AUC of bosutinib		51.57
	Ketoconazole: ↑ 38% AUC of	Strong 3A4 inhibitors \rightarrow Avoid;	[15]
	cabozantinib	Consider \downarrow daily dose of	
Cabarantinih		cabozantinib by 40 mg	
Cabozantinio	Difempicin : 177% AUC of	Strong 3A4 inducers \rightarrow Avoid:	
	cabozantinib	Consider \uparrow daily dose of	
	cabozantinio	cabozantinih by 40 mg	
	Ketoconazole: ↑ 1 4x C	Strong 3A4 inhibitors \rightarrow Avoid	[17]
	\uparrow 3 2x AUC of crizotinib	Strong Stree minortons 7 Proofe	[1/]
Crizotinib			
	Rifampicin: $\downarrow 69\%$ C _{max} ,	Strong 3A4 inducers \rightarrow Avoid	
	\downarrow 82% AUC of crizotinib		
	Ketoconazole: $\uparrow 4x C_{max}$,	Strong 3A4 inhibitors \rightarrow Avoid;	[180]
	\uparrow 5x AUC of dasatinib	Consider alternative agents;	[18]
		Consider \downarrow dose of dasatinib to 20	
		mg daily (for patients taking 100	
Dasatinib		mg) or 40 mg daily (for patients	
		taking 140 mg)	
	Diferminian $1 + 810/C$	Strong 2 A 4 inducers -> Consider	
	Kirampicin : $\downarrow 81\%$ C _{max} ,	strong SA4 inducers 7 Consider	
		of desatinib	
	Ketoconazole: 1 67% AUC of	Strong 3A4 inhibitors \rightarrow Use with	[19]
	erlotinib	caution	[17]
	Ciprofloxacin: ↑ 17% C _{max}		
	↑ 39% AUC of erlotinib		
Erlotinib			
	Rifampicin: \downarrow 58% AUC of	Strong 3A4 inducers \rightarrow Consider	
	erlotinib	alternative agents; consider \uparrow dose	
		of erlotinib (up to maximum of	
		450 mg)	
	Itraconazole: $\uparrow 51\%$ C _{max} ,	Strong 3A4 inhibitors \rightarrow Use with	[181]
	\uparrow 78% AUC of getitinib	caution	[182]
Cofitinih	Diferminine 650/ C	Strong 2 1 1 inducers - Consider 1	[20]
Genuino	$\downarrow 83\% \text{ AUC of a fittinih}$	dose of gefitinib to 500 mg daily	
	Phenytoin: 26% C	dose of gentino to 500 mg dally	
	47% AUC of gefitinib		

Table 19. Potential effect of enzyme inhibitor/inducer on pharmacokinetics of tyrosine kinase inhibitors

Imatinib	Ketoconazole: $\uparrow 26\% C_{max}$, $\uparrow 40\% AUC of imatinib$ Gemfibrozil ^a : $\downarrow 56\% C_{max}$, $\downarrow 48\% AUC of N-$ desmethylimatinib	Strong 3A4 inhibitors → Use with caution	[171] [183] [184] [185] [21]
	Rifampicin: ↓ 54% C _{max} , ↓ 74% AUC of imatinib EIAEDs: ↓ 68% C _{trough} of imatinib	Strong 3A4 inducers → Consider alternative agents	
	Ketoconazole: ↑ 114% C _{max} , ↑ 257% AUC of lapatinib	Strong 3A4 inhibitor → Avoid; Consider ↓ dose of lapatinib to 500 mg daily	[186] [22]
Lapatinib	Carbamazepine: $\downarrow 59\% C_{max}$, $\downarrow 72\% AUC of lapatinib$	Strong 3A4 inducers \rightarrow Avoid; Consider \uparrow dose of lapatinib up to 4500 mg daily (for HER2+ metastatic breast cancer) or 5500	
		mg daily (for HR+, HER2+ breast cancer)	
Nilotinib	Ketoconazole: ↑ 1.8x C _{max} , ↑ 3x AUC of nilotinib	Strong 3A4 inhibitors → Avoid ; Consider ↓ dose of nilotinib to 300 mg daily (in resistant or intolerant Ph+ CML) or 200 mg daily (newly diagnosed Ph+ CML-CP)	[187] [23]
	Rifampicin: ↓ 64% C _{max} , ↓ 80% AUC of nilotinib	Strong 3A4 inducers \rightarrow Avoid; Consider alternative agents	
Pazopanib	Ketoconazole: \uparrow 45% C _{max} , \uparrow 66% AUC of pazopanib	Strong 3A4 inhibitors \rightarrow Avoid; Consider \downarrow dose of pazopanib to 400 mg	[188] [24]
		Strong 3A4 inducers \rightarrow Pazopanib should not be used	
Ponatinib	Ketoconazole: ↑ 47% C _{max} , ↑ 78% AUC of ponatinib	Strong 3A4 inhibitors \rightarrow Consider \downarrow dose of ponatinib to 30 mg daily	[189] [25]
Decoustanih	Ketoconazole: ↑ AUC of regorafenib	Strong 3A inhibitors → Avoid	[26]
Regoratemo	Rifampicin: ↓ AUC of regorafenib	Strong 3A4 inducers \rightarrow Avoid	
	Ketoconazole: no change in AUC of sorafenib		[27]
Sorafenib	Rifampicin: ↓ 37% AUC of sorafenib	Strong 3A4 inducers → Consider ↑ dose of sorafenib	
Sunitinib	Ketoconazole: $\uparrow 49\% C_{max}$, $\uparrow 51\% AUC of combinedsunitinib & N-desethylsunitinibRitonavirb: \downarrow 48\% C_{max},\downarrow 40\% AUC of N-desethylsunitinib$	Strong 3A4 inhibitor → Consider alternative agents; Consider ↓ dose reduction of sunitinib to a minimum of 37.5 mg (GIST & RCC) or 25 mg (pNET)	[28] [190]

	sunitinib & N-desethyl sunitinib Efavirenz ^c : \uparrow 410% C _{max} , \uparrow 390% AUC of N-desethyl sunitinib	alternative agents; Consider ↑ dose of sunitinib to a maximum of 87.5 mg (GIST & RCC) or 62.5 mg (pNET)	
Vandetanib	Itraconazole: ↑ 9% AUC of vandetanib Rifampicin: ↓ 40% AUC of vandetanib	Strong 3A4 inducers → Avoid	[174] [29]

Abbreviations: *AUC*, area under the curve; C_{max} , peak concentration; C_{trough} , trough concentration; *EIAEDs*, enzyme-inducing antiepileptic drugs; *GIST*, gastrointestinal stromal tumor; *PK*, pharmacokinetics; *Ph*+ *CML*, Philadelphia chromosome-positive chronic myeloid leukemia; *Ph*+ *CML*-*CP*, Philadelphia chromosome-positive chronic myeloid leukemia in chronic phase; *pNET*, progressive, well-differentiated pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors; *RCC*, renal cell carcinoma; *TKI*, tyrosine kinase inhibitor

a Gemfibrozil inhibits the CYP2C8-mediated formation of N-desmethylimatinib (equipotent metabolite of parent imatinib)

b Ritonavir inhibits the CYP3A4-mediated formation of N-desethyl sunitinib (equipotent metabolite of parent sunitinib)

c Efavirenz induces the CYP3A4-mediated formation of N-desethyl sunitinib (equipotent metabolite of parent sunitinib)

5.3.3 Effect of tyrosine kinase inhibitors as an enzyme inducer/ inhibitor on pharmacokinetics of other drugs

While the effect of enzyme inhibitors or inducers (such as ketoconazole and rifampicin) on pharmacokinetics of TKI has been extensively studied, the reciprocal effect of a TKI acting as an enzyme inducer or inhibitor has been comparatively less investigated. The ability for TKIs to increase or decrease plasma concentration of non-anticancer drugs is mainly unclear, especially within in-vivo conditions. Concomitant imatinib and simvastatin has resulted in a 2-fold increase in simvastatin's C_{max} and 3-fold increase in simvastatin AUC. This is likely due to inhibition by imatinib of the CYP3A4 enzyme, which is responsible for the metabolism of simvastatin to other metabolites. This also suggests that in the presence of imatinib, plasma levels of standard doses of drugs which are degraded by CYP3A4 enzyme may also be increased. As such, caution is required when imatinib is administered with other CYP3A4 substrates with a narrow therapeutic window. [191] Imatinib has also shown to increase the exposure to metoprolol (23% increase in metoprolol AUC) when both agents are used together, due to the inhibition of CYP2D6 enzyme by imatinib. [192] Although the combination of gefitinib and metoprolol also resulted in an increased exposure to metoprolol (35% increase in metoprolol AUC), this change was not statistically significant. Despite this, gefitinib has a potential to increase plasma concentrations of CYP2D6 substrates and caution should be exercised when using CYP2D6 substrates that have a narrow therapeutic window. [181] Concomitant use of two TKIs has also been investigated in certain cases. Clearance of erlotinib was markedly enhanced by sorafenib when the 2 agents were given concurrently, although the potential mechanism for this seeming interaction is not obvious. [193] In another example, co-administration of lapatinib

and pazopanib lead to an increase in pazopanib exposure, and it has been suggested that this might be the result of inhibition of CYP3A4 and/or cellular transporters such as ABCB1 and ABCG2 by lapatinib. [194] The effect of lapatinib on clearance of vinorelbine has also been studied, where lapatinib resulted in a lower clearance of vinorelbine due to the inhibition of CYP3A4. [195] (Table 20)

ТКІ	Interacting drug	Change in PK	Remarks	Ref
Imatinib	Simvastatin	\uparrow 2-fold simvastatin C _{max}		[191]
		\uparrow 3-fold simvastatin AUC		
	Metoprolol	↑ 23% metoprolol AUC		[192]
Erlotinib	Sorafenib	↓ erlotinib AUC & C _{max}	Mechanism unclear	[193]
Lapatinib	Pazopanib	↑ pazopanib AUC & C _{max}	Inhibition of CYP3A4 and/or cellular transporters such as ABCB1 and ABCG2 by lapatinib	[194]
	Vinorelbine	↓ 30–40% vinorelbine clearance	Inhibition of CYP3A4 by lapatinib, resulting in lower clearance of vinorelbine	[195]
Abbreviations: <i>PK</i> pharmacokinetics, <i>TKI</i> tyrosine kinase inhibitor, C_{max} maximum concentration, <i>AUC</i> area under the curve				

Table 20. Reported effect of TKIs as enzyme inhibitor/inducer onpharmacokinetics of other drugs
5.3.4 Applicability of in-vitro and in-vivo data within clinical practice

Majority of the available pharmacokinetics information are resulting from in-vitro data, preclinical animal studies or from small phase I studies which evaluated healthy volunteers who were administered single dose of the drugs. Emerging methods includes creating a simulator where in-vivo clearances can be predicted from their invitro data. For instance, the impact of co-administration of ketoconazole was simulated, and the predicted two-fold increase in erlotinib exposure was found to be consistent with the results of a clinical study. [196] However, in most cases, the prediction may not be entirely accurate, especially when most of these studies evaluate DDIs in the form of two interacting drugs, and these results may not be realistic where multiple drugs are used concurrently. In addition, several reasons have been proposed to highlight the inability of clinical interactions to be accurately predicted. Firstly, the therapeutic concentration of a new drug and its metabolites in specific tissues are not always possible to determine. To further complicate the issue, the multiplicity of enzymes and transporters involved in the disposition of the said drugs and the intricacy of the pathways and interactions, in addition to overlapping substrate specificities of these proteins result in complex and sometimes perplexing pharmacokinetic interactions with multidrug regimens. Large differences in genotype and expression level of each of these contributors can lead to a very complex influence on actual drug disposition. There can also be compensatory responses when one enzyme or transporter is inhibited, "cushioning" any resulting change in metabolism. Each drug has a different level of dependence on intrinsic clearance for its overall clearance. Drugs with a high extraction ratio may be less sensitive to enzyme inhibition and induction, as their clearance is limited by blood flow rather than intrinsic activity. This makes it very challenging to test all of them in an in-vitro

Chapter 5

system. Furthermore, the clinical significance of an interaction is unknown even if the in-vitro or in-vivo effect was established. Moreover, underlying disease states may influence the occurrence of an interaction that is unaccounted for by in-vitro studies or by studies involving healthy volunteers alone. [197, 198] Endogenous CYP isoforms expressed in tumor cells also contributes to the metabolism of active drug, thereby playing a role in altering the half-life and pharmacokinetics of the administered TKI. [199] In summary, it is complex and challenging to extrapolate these preliminary results to routine clinical practice, where TKIs are used to treat patients with cancer, many of whom are receiving multiple drugs and many of whom have impaired renal or hepatic function. [200]

5.3.5 Formation of reactive intermediates/ metabolites and implications for toxicity

Several TKIs such as dasatinib, erlotinib, gefitinib, imatinib, lapatinib, nilotinib, pazopanib, sorafenib and sunitinib undergo bioactivation to form reactive intermediates, which has implications in the generation of idiosyncratic adverse drug reactions (ADR). [201] One TKI whose metabolism and implications for toxicity has been extensively studied is lapatinib. Lapatinib has been shown to be extensively metabolized, as exemplified by diverse biotransformations to form metabolites. A number of the metabolites could potentially form reactive electrophilic intermediates that could contribute to hepatotoxicity. [202] It is also worthy of note that the daily dose of these TKIs are high, for example the daily dose of lapatinib is more than 1000 mg. A high daily dose of more than 50 mg has been demonstrated to be a risk factor for ADR [95]; thereby setting 14 out of the 18 approved TKIs at risk. (Table 21) Due to the high dose, there would be high amounts of these reactive intermediates or

metabolites generated, thus increasing the risk for toxicities. [203] A recent study also further demonstrates that a dose more than 100 mg per day and being a substrate of CYP450 enzymes are two important predictors of DILI. [96] This further suggests that TKIs are at a significant risk of DILI due to its high daily dose (Table 21) and being a substrate of CYP450 enzymes (Table 18).

	Daily dose (mg)	Substrate of CYP450
	Dany dose (mg)	enzymes
Afatinib (Gilotrif)	40	No
Axitinib (Inlyta)	10	Yes
Bosutinib (Bosulif)	500	Yes
Cabozantinib (Cometriq)	140	Yes
Ceritinib (Zykadia)	750	Yes
Crizotinib (Xalkori)	500	Yes
Dasatinib (Sprycel)	100	Yes
Erlotinib (Tarceva)	100 - 150	Yes
Gefitinib (Iressa)	250	Yes
Imatinib (Gleevec)	300 - 800*	Yes
Lapatinib (Tykerb)	1250 - 1500*	Yes
Nilotinib (Tasigna)	600	Yes
Pazopanib (Votrient)	800	Yes
Ponatinib (Iclusig)	45	Yes
Regorafenib (Stivarga)	160	Yes
Sorafenib (Nexavar)	800	Yes
Sunitinib (Sutent)	37.5 - 50*	Yes
Vandetanib (Caprelsa)	800	Yes
* Daily dose may differ depending	on indication	

Table 21. Characteristics of TKIs (daily dose and substrate of CYP450 enzymes)

5.3.6 Actual drug-drug interaction cases involving tyrosine kinase inhibitors as documented in literature

There have been several reports demonstrating actual DDI cases in clinical practice. (Table 22) The events reported were potentially fatal ones such as hepatotoxicity and anticoagulation abnormalities. The concomitant use of imatinib and voriconazole resulted in markedly elevated levels of imatinib (between 3500 - 4700 ng/ml), than compared to when imatinib was used alone (2000 ng/ml). The raised plasma levels resulted in severe pustular eruption in the patient, and this was deemed due to the inhibition of imatinib metabolism by voriconazole. [204] Transaminase elevations have also been observed in drug pair involving pazopanib and simvastatin. As both drugs are substrates of the same enzymes and transporters, it is plausible that the concomitant administration of pazopanib and statins may alter systemic and/or hepatic exposures, leading to increased toxicities such as liver injury. [205] However, this list of DDI cases is not exhaustive as there remains a possibility that many DDI cases remain unreported in the literature. Even if the drug pair is not listed in this table, it does not indicate that it is entirely safe for use. Healthcare professionals should still be aware of the potential interactions that may occur, and be vigilant in monitoring those patients who are receiving any potentially-interacting drug pairs.

ТКІ	Interacting drug	Event	Remarks	Recommendations	Ref
	Anastrozole	Liver toxicity	-	Routinely monitor liver transaminases in all patients treated with gefitinib	[206]
Gefitinib	Warfarin	Coagulation abnormalities (Prothrombin time [PT] & international normalized ratio [INR] abnormalities)	Gefitinib could inhibit the metabolism of warfarin, which is a substrate of CYP1A2, CYP2C9, and CYP3A4. The degree of the inhibitory effect of gefitinib on CYP enzymes varies from patient to patient. This may in part explain the variability of the PT-INR values observed on the coadministration of gefitinib and warfarin	Close monitoring of PT-INR are recommended for patients receiving gefitinib and warfarin, especially during the first 2 weeks in the beginning of warfarin therapy. Appropriate adjustment of the warfarin dose should be done if an altered response to warfarin is observed.	[207]
Instinik	Voriconazole	Severe pustular eruption	Plasma levels of imatinib markedly elevated during simultaneous administration with voriconazole, possibly due to inhibition of imatinib metabolism by voriconazole	Use of imatinib in association with CYP3A4 inhibitors has to be considered with caution. When such association is considered, the monitoring of imatinib plasma levels in patients may be of help for identifying individuals with high imatinib concentration who are at risk of developing toxicity, including skin lesions.	[204]
maimo	Amlodipine	Peripheral neuropathy	Amlodipine inhibits CYP3A4, which could increase imatinib levels	Therapeutic monitoring of plasma imatinib levels may be useful to investigate unexpected imatinib toxicity.	[208]
	Phenytoin		AUC of imatinib was decreased by about 80%. After phenytoin was discontinued and the imatinib dose was increased to 500 mg/day, a complete hematological response was observed.	-	[209]
	Levothyroxine	Hypothyroidism	Mechanism unclear	Evaluate thyroid function in hypothyroid patients on tyrosine kinase inhibitors	[210]

Table 22. Actual drug-drug interaction cases involving tyrosine kinase inhibitors as documented in literature

Lapatinib	Dexamethasone	Hepatotoxicity	Concomitant use may cause an increase in metabolizing capacity by dexamethasone, which in turn increases the formation of lapatinib-derived RM and thereby, elevating the risk of toxicity	Clinicians should be aware of this risk when considering the use of this combination and follow through with close monitoring where necessary.	[211]
Pazopanib	Simvastatin	Transaminase elevations	As pazopanib and statins are substrates for the same key metabolizing enzymes e.g. CYP3A4 and drug transporters, it is plausible that concomitant administration of pazopanib and statins may alter their systemic and/or hepatic exposures, leading to increased toxicities such as liver injury	In addition to implementing the recommended dose modification guidelines for pazopanib, discontinuation of simvastatin should be considered to manage the risk of liver injury in cancer patients receiving both medications	[205]
Sorafenib	Prednisolone		Serum concentration of sorafenib was gradually increased following tapering of prednisolone, possibly due to prednisolone inducing sorafenib metabolism	Therapeutic drug monitoring could be useful during sorafenib therapy in combination with prednisolone and for determining the optimal dosage of sorafenib.	[212]
Sunitinib	Levothyroxine	Hypothyroidism	Mechanism unclear	Evaluate thyroid function in hypothyroid patients on tyrosine kinase inhibitors	[210]

5.3.7 Challenges and recommendations

The large amount of published research into drug interactions might have overwhelmed most healthcare practitioners. As a clinician cannot know all potential clinically significant drug interactions, this emphasizes the need for practical identification and management systems. [72] The inefficiency of updating and maintaining drug labels poses a serious threat to patients. For example, despite the recent evidence supporting a larger contribution of CYP2C8 and a less significant role for CYP3A4 in the metabolism of imatinib, drug labels continue to warn against potential interactions with CYP3A4 inhibitors but fail to mention any risk with a CYP2C8 inhibitor. [213] Few databases and software programs are capable of checking for all potential interactions among multiple medications. More importantly, the absence of reported interactions does not guarantee of a lack of interaction. [214]

Majority of the phase I trials evaluated two drug combinations of therapeutic interest, rather than combinations hypothesized to have a DDI. When DDI studies were performed with a clear rationale, the probability of identifying a DDI increased from 8% to 32%. This demonstrates the importance of understanding the mechanism behind a DDI and the value to which this translates clinically and suggests that DDI studies should only be performed when there is a pre-specified plausible hypothesis. [215]

Most pharmacokinetic studies would report changes in TKI exposure as a result of the enzyme inhibitor or inducer; however it would be useful if the investigators also provided information regarding its potential effect on toxicity or efficacy. [216]

Chapter 5

5.3.8 Utilization of therapeutic drug monitoring in drug-drug interactions

The prerequisites of being a candidate for TDM in clinical practice include long-term therapy, significant inter-individual but limited intra-individual PK variability, narrow therapeutic index, a well-defined exposure-response (efficacy/toxicity) relationship, availability of appropriate bio-analytical methods for quantification. [35, 75-77] As most of the TKIs fulfill the traditional criteria for a TDM program, the role of TDM in TKI therapy is increasingly being studied. Furthermore, as TKIs have the potential to be involved in multiple interactions (e.g. drug-drug, drug-food and drug-herb) involving the pharmacokinetic or pharmacodynamics pathways, TDM could complement clinical evaluation by providing additional information on efficacy, adherence and toxicity. [77]

The application of TDM may be useful in DDIs for several reasons: for monitoring of patient when high-risk drug pairs cannot be avoided; for diagnosis of DDIs; for dose adjustments. [75] In such cases, the changes in drug levels, together with patient's response and toxicity, could be used together to make an informed decision, on whether the drug pair can be continued safely or whether dose adjustments should be performed. For example, we have demonstrated that sunitinib is more dermatotoxic than its active metabolite, SU12662. If sunitinib is used concomitantly with a CYP3A4 inducer, the total effective plasma concentration (sunitinib and SU12662) may still be above the therapeutic target, however, patients may experience less toxicity due to the lesser accumulation of the parent drug.

Although TDM of TKIs is still in its infancy, there are growing suggestions that dose adjustments based on pharmacokinetic targets would help to increase efficacy and reduce toxicity of TKIs, and might be beneficial for patients treated with most of the TKIs. [76] Currently, target plasma concentration of TKIs and its respective doseadaptation strategy are only available for several of the FDA-approved TKIs. Recommended therapeutic targets for efficacy are available for crizotinib, erlotinib, gefitinib, imatinib, nilotinib, pazopanib and sunitinib, and targets for safety are available for dasatinib and sunitinib. [76] Thus, application of TDM may be limited to those TKIs which have a recommended target for and may be challenging in those TKIs which have a lack of information. Although there are recommended therapeutic targets available for some of the TKIs, there has not been prospective studies conducted to validate these targets, and thus applications of TDM may best be reserved for individual situations relating to a lack of therapeutic response, severe or unexpected toxicities, drug-drug interactions or treatment adherence. [77] In summary, future research should focus on the role and benefits of TDM in TKI therapy, especially those with a well-established dose-response relationship and well established pharmacokinetic targets. Prospective, randomized studies should be performed to confirm the benefits of implementation of TDM, such as reductions in toxicity and/or improvement in outcomes.

5.4 Summary

As we are able to achieve a better control of the disease over the longer lifespan of a patient, these TKIs are now being considered as chronic medications taken in an outpatient setting. Due to the large inter-patient variability in pharmacokinetics of these TKIs, any potential DDI could have serious consequences in a patient's therapy.

Thus far, there have been numerous phase I and in-vitro studies conducted to evaluate DDIs. These information have been incorporated into drug labels or drug information databases, to warn prescribers of the risk of such DDIs. However, as previously mentioned, it is somewhat challenging to extrapolate results from phase I and in-vitro studies to routine clinical practice. During the drug development phase, potentially clinically relevant drug interactions are not usually detected. Only after receiving regulatory approval and after widespread usage, new DDI may surface. Therefore, healthcare professionals especially physicians and pharmacist play a vital role in identifying these new interactions. Perhaps scheduled drug utilization reviews can be conducted routinely to identify any common DDI-pairs. Prospective data can then be collected regarding these DDI pairs, to identify any increase in toxicity or lack of efficacy events. Where possible, investigators can also subsequently recreate the interaction in an in-vitro system to determine the mechanisms which may be involved. However, such research takes time and in the meantime, suspected DDI pairs would have to be used cautiously in patients. Nevertheless, using both clinical and in-vitro data to validate claims of potential DDI would ensure accuracy of data as well as clinical relevance. The utilization of TDM in DDIs may be useful when high-risk drug pairs cannot be avoided, especially during initiation of therapy or when there is lack of response or occurrence of severe toxicities. Instead of withholding a beneficial drug therapy from a patient, the high-risk drug pair may be continued safely with regular monitoring if the patient is not experiencing excessive toxicity, even when the drug levels are increased. In these situations, using additional information on drug levels together with patient's response and toxicity data, a more informed decision can be made.

6 Understanding tyrosine kinase inhibitor associated toxicities: a focus on hepatotoxicity

The liver is the regulator of chemical homeostasis in the body and is the main site for bioactivation and detoxification of drugs and their metabolites. Hence, any potentially toxic metabolite generated in the process can readily exert a localized damage. The human liver has immense regenerative and recovery capabilities, such that even after a drastic resection, the liver responds with rapid regrowth to its original size. Unfortunately, it is also this extensive regenerative capacity that threatens it with cytotoxicity from chemotherapy. As such, hepatic injury may be an inadvertent ramification of attempting to kill cancerous cells, but which may also generate more problems if the secondary hepatotoxicity becomes too severe. [217]

6.1 Hepatotoxicity with tyrosine kinase inhibitors

Hepatotoxicity is one of the serious class-related safety issues signaled in preapproval clinical trials with TKIs and is now gradually being reported relatively more frequently following their wider clinical use. Among the 18 FDA-approved TKIs (as of October 2014), 5 of them have black box warnings issued, namely lapatinib, sunitinib, pazopanib, regorafenib and ponatinib. Frequencies of all grade hepatic adverse events of TKIs varies from 11%, as seen with gefitinib [20] to more than 50% as seen with pazopanib. [24] The frequency of grade 3 and above hepatic adverse events for all FDA-approved TKIs ranges from 1% to 12%. Although these hepatotoxicity events may be self-limiting or even undetected, there have been several fatalities. [218, 219] Therefore, hepatotoxicity is a rare but serious issue with the use of TKIs and a better understanding of the problem may help in the management of patients and improve the use of TKIs.

6.2 Risk of tyrosine kinase inhibitor-induced hepatotoxicity

Although existing evidence from clinical trials has demonstrated manifestation of hepatotoxicity with the use of TKIs, overall risks among all commercially available TKIs of such events have yet to be reported. By and large, individual studies are designed with the key purpose on testing efficacy outcomes. Consequently, sample sizes of these studies are insufficiently powered to detect the occurrences of adverse events. By conducting a meta-analysis, multiple studies can be pooled to increase the sample size and thus the power to study rare events of interest, which in this case, is hepatotoxicity. Therefore, a meta-analysis was conducted with an objective to determine the risk of hepatotoxicity associated with the use of TKIs, by comparing the occurrence of hepatotoxicity of the TKI arms against that of comparison arms.

6.2.1 Methodology

6.2.1.1 Search strategy

A search was conducted to identify all small molecule TKIs approved by the FDA since January 2000. A comprehensive literature search of RCTs involving TKIs was performed using the PubMed, Scopus and ClinicalTrials.gov databases. The search was conducted by using the generic names of all the identified TKIs, and terms such as "randomized controlled trials", "phase 2" and "phase 3". The search was limited to

English language articles of human studies published between January 1995 and June 2012.

6.2.1.2 Study selection

In this analysis, only randomized, double-blind and placebo-controlled phase II or phase III human trials were included. The included studies must involve the comparison of a TKI against placebo, or the comparison of TKI with chemotherapy agent against placebo with the same chemotherapy agent. Since the objective of this analysis was to quantify the differences in occurrence of hepatotoxicity of the TKIs arm compared to the comparison arms, phase I trials, single-arm studies and those studies which did not report any liver adverse events (AEs) were excluded. When encountered with multiple publications of the same trial, only the most recent publication was selected. Study quality was assessed using the Jadad scoring system [220], with poor quality studies, indicated by a score of 2 or less, being excluded from analysis.

6.2.1.3 Data collection

Data collection was performed by the candidate on all the included studies. Data collected were: first author's name, year of publication, name of journal, trial phase, targeted malignancy, TKI involved, treatment arms, line of treatment, number of patients enrolled, name and version of adverse event criteria used, presence of randomization, type of blinding, and data on events of interest. The events of interest in this analysis are all-grades and high-grade (grade 3 and above) liver AEs, which can be further classified into the elevation of ALT, AST and TB.

6.2.1.4 Endpoints

The primary endpoint of this analysis was the risk of all-types high-grade hepatotoxicity. Secondary endpoints include the risk of all-types all-grades hepatotoxicity, high-grade ALT, AST and TB elevation. High-grade ALT, AST and TB elevations were defined as grade 3 or higher elevation of the corresponding liver enzyme, which is an elevation of more than 5 times upper limit of normal (ULN).

6.2.1.5 Data analysis

Data were included and analyzed using the RevMan 5.1 software. [221] The odds of experiencing all-grades and high-grade liver AEs were calculated as the proportion of patients with these events divided by the proportion of patients without these events. The OR and corresponding 95% confidence intervals (CIs) were computed as the ratio of these odds in the TKI arm compared to the comparison arm. Pooled estimates of OR were computed using the Mandel-Haenszel method, which is recommended when there is low event rates and substantial variability in effect sizes. [221] Statistical heterogeneity between trials was assessed using the Cochran's Q statistic, with a pvalue of less than 0.1 representing statistically significant heterogeneity. Inconsistency between trials was quantified with the I^2 statistic, which represents the percentage of variability in effect estimate that is due to heterogeneity rather than sampling error. [221] Random-effects model was used for evaluation when there is statistically significant heterogeneity. Effect measures were presented for all studies, as well as pre-determined subgroup and sensitivity analyses. For the subgroup analyses, trials were classified into two subgroups: (1) TKI versus placebo and (2) TKI with chemotherapy versus placebo with chemotherapy. This was to determine whether the administration of chemotherapy would impact the risk of manifesting

hepatotoxicity. Sensitivity analyses were conducted to compare the following: random-effects versus fixed-effects model, phase II versus phase III studies, small sized versus large sized studies, first-line treatment versus non-first-line treatment studies, epidermal growth factor receptor inhibitor (EGFRI) versus non-EGFRI and long duration versus short duration of therapy. Funnel plots were generated to identify for any publication bias within included studies.

6.2.2 Results

6.2.2.1 Literature search results

A total of 14 TKIs were approved by the FDA between January 2000 to June 2012 and they are: axitinib, crizotinib, dasatinib, erlotinib, gefitinib, imatinib, lapatinib, nilotinib, pazopanib, ruxolitinib, sorafenib, sunitinib, vandetanib, vemurafenib. Among them, there are 4 EGFRIs and they are erlotinib, gefitinib, lapatinib and vandetanib. From the literature search, 3269 articles were identified. After duplicates were removed and abstracts were screened, 136 articles were left to be assessed for eligibility. A total of 12 articles were included in the analysis, and reasons for exclusion were lack of liver AEs (n=92), duplicate trials (n=3), single-arm trials (n=9), TKI versus TKI comparison (n=8) and non-placebo controlled (n=12). (Figure 4)



Figure 4. Study flow diagram

6.2.2.2 Study characteristics

Eight studies were categorized under subgroup 1 (TKI versus placebo) [11, 135, 222-227] and 4 studies under subgroup 2 (TKI with chemotherapy versus placebo with chemotherapy). [228-231] TKIs included in the analysis were gefitinib (n=4), lapatinib (n=2), pazopanib (n=2), erlotinib (n=1), imatinib (n=1), sorafenib (n=1) and vandetanib (n=1). As per inclusion criteria, all included studies were randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trials, with a Jaded score of 3 or more. Four studies (33%) were investigating the use of TKIs as first-line therapy. [223, 228, 229, 231] There were 5 (42%) phase II [222, 225, 228-230] and 7 (58%) phase III trials. [11, 135, 223, 224, 226, 227, 231] Only 1 out of 12 studies (8%) had a Jadad score of less than 4. [230] Almost all studies adopted the CTCAE criteria for grading of adverse events, with the exception of one study which did not mention the grading criteria used. [228] Nine out of 12 studies [11, 135, 223-225, 227, 229-231] adopted version 3.0 of the CTCAE which another 2 studies [222, 226] adopted version 2.0. Nevertheless, the grading criteria were consistent between the 2 versions. Summarized characteristics of the included studies can be found in Table 23.

Reference n Phase M		Malignancy	TKI arm	Control arm						
(1) TKI alone vs. Pl	acebo									
Arnold, 2007 [222]	105	II	SCLC	Vandetanib	Placebo					
De Matteo, 2009 [223]	682	III	GIST	Imatinib	Placebo					
Sternberg, 2010 [11]	435	III	Locally advanced or metastatic RCC	Pazopanib	Placebo					
Kudo, 2011 [224]	456	III	Unresectable HCC	Sorafenib	Placebo					
De Censi, 2011 [225]	60	II	HER2-positive breast cancer	Lapatinib	Placebo					
Gaafar, 2011 [226]	171	III	Advanced NSCLC	Gefitinib	Placebo					
Zhang, 2012 [135]	295	III	Locally advanced or metastatic NSCLC	Gefitinib	Placebo					
Van der graaf, 2012 [227]	graaf, 362 III Metastatic soft tissue sarcoma Pazopa		Pazopanib	Placebo						
(2) TKI + Chemoth	erapy	vs. Place	bo + Chemotherapy							
Guarneri, 2007 [228]	90	II	Breast cancer	Gefitinib + Chemotherapy	Placebo + Chemotherapy					
Mok, 2009 [229]	153	II	Advanced NSCLC	Erlotinib + Platinum doublet chemotherapy	Placebo + Platinum doublet chemotherapy					
Viéitez, 2010 [230]	76	II	Metastatic colorectal cancer	Gefitinib + Raltitrexed	Placebo + Raltitrexed					
Schwartzberg, 219 II		III	HER2- and hormone-receptor- positive advanced or metastatic breast cancer	Lapatinib + Letrozole	Placebo + Letrozole					
Abbreviations: <i>GIST</i> Human epidermal re- lung cancer; <i>RCC</i> , R	Abbreviations: <i>GIST</i> , Gastrointestinal stromal tumor; <i>HCC</i> , Hepatocellular carcinoma; <i>HER2</i> , Human epidermal receptor type 2; <i>TKI</i> , Tyrosine kinase inhibitor; <i>NSCLC</i> , Non-small cell lung cancer: <i>RCC</i> , Renal Cell Carcinoma; <i>SCLC</i> , Small cell lung cancer									

Table 23. Characteristics of included studies

6.2.2.3 Primary endpoint – all-type, high-grade hepatotoxicity

There was a significant overall increase in the odds of developing high-grade hepatotoxicity with the use of TKIs compared to the control arms (Pooled OR 4.35, 95% CI 2.96 – 6.39, p<0.001). However, increase in odds was observed for only subgroup 1 (OR 5.61, 95% CI 3.63 – 8.68, p<0.001). The ORs between the two subgroups were statistically different (p<0.001). (Figure 5)



Figure 5. All-types high-grade hepatotoxicity

6.2.2.4 Secondary endpoints

6.2.2.4.1 All-type, all-grade hepatotoxicity

There was a significant overall increase in the odds of hepatotoxicity with the use of TKIs compared to the controls (Pooled OR 2.42, 95% CI 1.52 - 3.85, p<0.001). Increase in odds were observed for both subgroups, although increase in odds for subgroup 2 did not achieve statistical significance (Subgroup 1 vs. Subgroup 2: OR 3.43, 95% CI 2.02 - 5.83, p<0.001 vs. OR 1.13, 95% CI 0.58 - 2.21, p=0.18). (Figure 6)

TKI Control Odds Ratio Odds Ratio											
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Random, 95% Cl	Year	M-H, Random, 95% Cl			
2.1.1 TKI alone vs. Plac	ebo:										
Arnold et al 6	28	104	9	106	9.4%	3.97 [1.77, 8.92]	2007	_ _			
DeMatteo et al 7	98	674	78	690	12.4%	1.33 [0.97, 1.84]	2009	-			
Sternberg et al *	406	870	74	435	12.6%	4.27 [3.22, 5.67]	2010	-			
Kudo et al 9	151	458	34	454	12.0%	6.08 [4.07, 9.07]	2011				
Gaafar et al ''	0	0	0	0		Not estimable	2011				
de Censi et al *°	4	29	0	31	2.1%	11.12 [0.57, 216.28]	2011				
Zhang et al 📽	52	294	18	296	11.1%	3.32 [1.89, 5.83]	2012				
van der Graaf et al 📪	46	717	8	369	9.7%	3.09 [1.44, 6.63]	2012				
Subtotal (95% CI)		3146		2381	69.3%	3.43 [2.02, 5.83]		•			
Total events	785		221								
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0	l.37; Chi ≇	= 43.8	5, df = 6 (P < 0.0	0001); I ² :	= 86%					
Test for overall effect: Z	= 4.57 (F	° < 0.00	001)								
-			~								
2.1.2 TKI + Chemothera	apy vs. P	lacebo	+ Chem	otherap	by						
Guarneri et al 14	8	59	3	31	6.0%	1.46 [0.36, 5.97]	2007				
Mok et al 15	3	74	7	79	6.1%	0.43 [0.11, 1.75]	2009				
Vieitez et al 16	16	38	18	38	8.8%	0.81 [0.33, 2.00]	2010				
Schwartzberg et al 17	23	226	11	212	9.9%	2.07 [0.98, 4.36]	2010				
Subtotal (95% CI)		397		360	30.7%	1.13 [0.58, 2.21]		-			
Total events	50		39								
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0	1.18; Chi²	= 4.91,	df = 3 (P	= 0.18); I ² = 399	6					
Test for overall effect: Z	= 0.35 (F	P = 0.72	2)								
T / 1/05/ 00					400.00						
Total (95% CI)		3543		2741	100.0%	2.42 [1.52, 3.85]					
Total events	835		260								
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0	I.43; Chi²	= 61.2	8, df = 10	(P < 0.	00001); P	²= 84%					
Test for overall effect: Z	= 3.72 (F	P = 0.00)02)					Favours TKI Favours control			
Test for subgroup differ	rences: C	:hi² = 6.	.50, df = 1	(P = 0)	.01), I ² = 8	34.6%					

Figure 6. All-types all-grades hepatotoxicity

6.2.2.4.2 High-grade ALT elevation

The odds of developing high-grade hepatotoxicity due to elevation in ALT was higher with the use of TKI than compared to the controls (Pooled OR 5.22, 95% CI 2.88 – 9.46, p<0.001). Similarly, increase in odds was observed for only subgroup 1 (OR 6.35, 95% CI 3.32 – 12.16, p<0.001). The ORs between the two subgroups were statistically different (p=0.03). (Figure 7)

TKI Control Odds Ratio Odds Rat												
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl	Year	M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl				
3.1.1 TKI alone vs. Plac	cebo											
Arnold et al 6	5	52	2	53	13.8%	2.71 [0.50, 14.66]	2007					
DeMatteo et al 7	9	337	0	345	3.7%	19.98 [1.16, 344.71]	2009					
Sternberg et al *	35	290	2	145	18.0%	9.81 [2.33, 41.40]	2010					
Kudo et al %	18	229	5	227	35.5%	3.79 [1.38, 10.38]	2011	 −− ∎ −−				
Gaafar et al ''	9	85	1	86	6.8%	10.07 [1.25, 81.30]	2011					
van der Graaf et al 📪	0	0	0	0		Not estimable	2012					
Zhang et al 📪	3	147	0	148	3.7%	7.19 [0.37, 140.50]	2012					
Subtotal (95% CI)		1140		1004	81.5%	6.35 [3.32, 12.16]		•				
Total events	79		10									
Heterogeneity: Chi ² = 3	.15, df = !	5 (P = 0	1.68); I² =	0%								
Test for overall effect: Z	.= 5.58 (F	° < 0.00	001)									
2 4 2 Tkl . Channether												
3.1.2 TKI + Chemother	apy vs. P	lacebo	+ Cheme	otnerap	у 							
Mok et al 15	0	74	2	79	18.5%	0.21 [0.01, 4.41]	2009	• • •				
Schwartzberg et al ¹⁷	0	0	0	0	40.5%	Not estimable	2010					
Subtotal (95% CI)	_	74	_	79	18.5%	0.21 [0.01, 4.41]						
Total events	0		2									
Heterogeneity: Not app	licable											
Test for overall effect: Z	:= 1.01 (F	P = 0.31)									
Total (95% CI)		1214		1083	100.0%	5.22 [2.88, 9.46]		•				
Total events	79		12									
Heterogeneity: Chi ² = 7	.26, df = I	6 (P = 0	l.30); l² =	17%								
Test for overall effect: Z	5.44 (F	, < 0.00	0001)					U.UT U.T T TU 100 Eavours TVL Eavours control				
Test for subgroup diffe	rences: C	¦hi² = 4	61, df = 1	(P = 0	.03), I ž = 7	78.3%						

Figure 7. High-grade hepatotoxicity due to ALT elevation

6.2.2.4.3 High-grade AST elevation

The odds of developing high-grade hepatotoxicity due to AST elevation was higher with the use of TKI than compared to the controls (Pooled OR 6.15, 95% CI 3.09 - 12.25, p<0.001). There were no trials in subgroup 2 for this group analysis, hence pooled OR was contributed by studies in subgroup 1 only. (Figure 8)

	ткі		Contr	ol		Odds Ratio Odds Ratio				
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl	Year	M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl		
4.1.1 TKI alone vs. Pla	cebo									
DeMatteo et al 7	7	337	0	345	5.2%	15.68 [0.89, 275.65]	2009	↓ • • •		
Sternberg et al *	23	290	1	145	13.2%	12.40 [1.66, 92.80]	2010			
Gaafar et al 11	7	85	1	86	9.8%	7.63 [0.92, 63.41]	2011			
Kudo et al ⁹	27	229	7	227	66.6%	4.20 [1.79, 9.86]	2011	∎		
van der Graaf et al 📪	0	0	0	0		Not estimable	2012			
Zhang et al 🐕	1	147	0	148	5.3%	3.04 [0.12, 75.26]	2012			
Subtotal (95% CI)		1088		951	100.0%	6.15 [3.09, 12.25]		•		
Total events	65		9							
Heterogeneity: Chi ² = 1	.87, df = -	4 (P = 0	l.76); l² =	0%						
Test for overall effect: Z	C= 5.17 (P	° < 0.00	0001)							
4 1 2 TKI + Chemother	anvve D	lacoho	+ Chom	othora	w					
Cobwortzborg of ol 17	apy və. r 0	naceno 0	• chem		'y	Not optimoble	2010			
Subtotal (95% CI)	U	0	U	0		Not estimable	2010			
Total events	0		0							
Heterogeneity: Not app	licable									
Test for overall effect: N	lot applic	able								
Total (95% CI)		1088		951	100.0 %	6.15 [3.09, 12.25]		•		
Total events	65		9							
Heterogeneity: Chi ² = 1	.87, df = -	4 (P = 0	l.76); l² =	0%			L L			
Test for overall effect: Z	1 = 5.17 (F	o < 0.00 ×	0001)				υ.	Eavours TKL Eavours control		
Test for subgroup diffe	rences: N	lot app	licable							

Figure 8. High-grade hepatotoxicity due to AST elevation

6.2.2.4.4 High-grade TB elevation

The odds of developing high-grade hepatotoxicity due to TB elevation was higher with the use of TKI than compared to the controls (Pooled OR 1.76, 95% CI 0.59 - 5.24, p=0.31). However, this was not statistically significant. There were no trials in subgroup 2 for this group analysis, hence pooled OR was contributed by studies in subgroup 1 only. (Figure 9)

	ткі		Contr	ol		Odds Ratio		Odds Ratio
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl	Year	M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl
5.1.1 TKI alone vs. Pla	cebo							
Arnold et al 6	2	52	0	53	8.9%	5.30 [0.25, 113.04]	2007	
Sternberg et al *	9	290	3	145	72.7%	1.52 [0.40, 5.69]	2010	
Gaafar et al 11	1	85	1	86	18.4%	1.01 [0.06, 16.44]	2011	
van der Graaf et al ¹	0	0	0	0		Not estimable	2012	
Subtotal (95% CI)		427		284	100.0 %	1.76 [0.59, 5.24]		-
Total events	12		4					
Heterogeneity: Chi ² = 0).70, df = :	2 (P = 0	0.71); I ² =	0%				
Test for overall effect: 2	Z = 1.01 (F	° = 0.31	1)					
5.1.2 TKI + Chemother	apy vs. P	lacebo	+ Chem	othera	py			
Subtotal (95% CI)		0		0		Not estimable		
Total events	0		0					
Heterogeneity: Not app	olicable							
Test for overall effect: N	Not applic	able						
Total (95% CI)		427		284	100.0%	1.76 [0.59, 5.24]		
Total events	12		4					
Heterogeneity: Chi ² = 0).70, df = :	2 (P = 0	0.71); I ^z =	0%				
Test for overall effect: 2	Z = 1.01 (P	° = 0.31	1)				0.0	Favours TKL Favours control
Test for subgroup diffe	rences: N	lot app	licable					

Figure 9. High-grade hepatotoxicity due to TB elevation

6.2.2.5 Sensitivity and bias analysis

There was no statistical difference between using the random-effects model or the fixed effects model, although using the fixed-effects model tends to generate higher ORs. A statistical difference was observed between phase II and phase III studies for all-types, high-grade hepatotoxicity, where phase III studies reported higher ORs (phase II vs. phase III: OR 1.57, 95% CI 0.73 – 3.38 vs. OR 5.7, 95% CI 3.61 – 9.05). A similar trend was observed between phase II and phase III studies for elevation of ALT, where higher OR was observed with phase III studies (phase II vs. phase III: OR 1.28, 95% CI 0.36 – 4.57 vs. OR 7.09, 95% CI 3.49 – 14.41). When small sized studies (defined as sample size 200 or less) were compared against large sized studies (defined as sample size greater than 200), a statistical difference was observed in alltype, high-grade hepatotoxicity, where larger studies had higher OR than smaller studies. (large size vs. small size: OR 5.66, 95% CI 3.45 - 9.29 vs. OR 2.49, 95% CI 1.33 - 4.68). Studies that investigated the use of TKIs as first-line therapy tend to offer higher ORs than studies where TKIs were investigated as non-first-line therapy; nevertheless there was no statistical difference between the groups. Comparing between non-EGFRIs and EGFRIs, the former was associated with a higher risk of all-types, all-grades hepatotoxicity (non-EGFRIs vs. EGFRIs: OR 3.21, 95% CI 1.54 -6.68 vs. OR 1.90, 95% CI 1.04 -3.47), although the ORs were not statistically different. The trend of non-EGFRIs associating with a higher risk of hepatotoxicity compared to EGFRIs was similarly observed for all-types high-grade hepatotoxicity as well as high-grade ALT and AST elevation. In terms of the duration of therapy, shorter duration of therapy (defined as median therapy of less than 12 weeks) tend to demonstrated significantly higher ORs than compared to a longer duration (defined as median therapy of 12 weeks or more) for all-types all-grades hepatotoxicity. The

association of higher ORs with shorter duration of therapy was also observed for high-grade elevation of ALT and AST, though not statistically significant. Due to a small number of studies reporting elevations in TB (n=3), sensitivity analysis for TB elevation was not conducted. (Table 24)

The fixed-effects model was used for all-types high-grade hepatotoxicity, as well as for high-grade ALT, AST and TB elevation, due to a lack of heterogeneity within the included studies. The random-effects model was used for all-types all-grades hepatotoxicity due to presence of heterogeneity. Funnel plot for all-types, high grade hepatotoxicity was largely symmetrical, with equal number of studies on each side and 90% of the included studies were within the lines of 95% CI. (Figure 10) This suggests that publication bias is unlikely.

Table 24. Sensitivity analyses

				All-t	ypes				AL	T-type	AST-type			
		All grades				Grades	3 and above	(Grades	3 and above		Grades	3 and above	
		n	OR	95% CI	n	OR	95% CI	n	OR	95% CI	n	OR	95% CI	
	Random-effects model	11	2.42	1.52 - 3.85	10	3.63	2.00 - 6.59	7	4.79	2.24 - 10.22	5	5.43	2.71 - 10.89	
	Fixed-effects model	11	2.94	2.52 - 3.44	10	4.35	2.96 - 6.39	7	5.22	2.88 - 9.46	5	6.15	3.09 - 12.25	
	Phase II	5	1.53	$0.57 - 4.07^{*}$	5	1.57	$0.73 - 3.38^{*}$	2	1.28	$0.36 - 4.57^{*}$	-	-	-	
	Phase III	6	3.03	1.77 – 5.19	5	5.71	3.61 − 9.05¶	5	7.09	3.49 – 14.41 [¶]	5	6.15	3.09 - 12.25	
	Small sized ($n \le 200$)	5	1.53	$0.57 - 4.07^{*}$	6	2.49	$1.33 - 4.68^{\dagger}$	3	2.81	1.04 - 7.62	1	7.63	$0.92 - 63.41^{*}$	
	Large sized (n>200)	6	3.03	1.77 – 5.19	4	5.66	$3.45 - 9.29^{\dagger}$	4	6.76	3.17 – 14.38	4	5.99	2.89 - 12.42	
	First-line	5	1.65	$0.94 - 2.90^{*}$	4	3.83	1.67 - 8.80	3	3.20	1.14 - 8.94	1	15.68	$0.89 - 275.65^{*}$	
14	Non-first-line	6	3.42	2.15 - 5.43	6	4.50	2.91 - 6.94	4	6.35	3.04 - 13.26	4	5.63	2.76 - 11.49	
Ľ														
	EGFRI	7	1.90	1.04 - 3.47	7	2.73	1.48 - 5.03	4	3.20	1.25 - 8.16	2	6.02	1.05 - 34.55	
	Non-EGFRI	4	3.21	1.54 - 6.68	3	5.57	3.37 – 9.20	3	6.73	3.08 - 14.69	3	6.17	2.92 - 13.07	
	Long duration $(> 12 \text{ weeks})$	7	1.91	$0.97 - 3.74^{\circ}$	7	2.88	1.18 - 7.06	5	4.51	2.21 - 9.22	4	5.20	2.50 - 10.83	
	Short duration													
	(< 12 weeks)	3	4.27	3.27 – 5.57	3	5.53	2.68 - 11.40	2	6.74	2.31 – 19.70	1	12.40	1.66 – 92.80	
	Abbreviations: ALT, Alanin	e trans	saminase	e; AST, Aspartate t	ransar	ninase;	EGFRI, Epidermal	l grow	th factor	receptor inhibitor	;; OR,	Odds rati	0	
	[*] p>0.05 for OR													

[¶] p<0.05 for difference between phase II and phase III
 [‡] p<0.05 for difference between small sized and large sized
 ^ p<0.05 for difference between long duration and short duration



Figure 10. Funnel plot of trials included for analysis for all-types high-grade hepatotoxicity (primary endpoint)

6.2.3 Discussion

It is currently recognized that the use of TKIs can lead to hepatic AEs; however, the risk has yet to be evaluated. This is the first meta-analysis to demonstrate a significantly increased risk of hepatic AEs associated with TKIs use. Overall, the risk of developing hepatic AEs was more than two-fold higher in patients receiving TKIs compared to patients in the control or placebo arms. As for more serious high-grade hepatic AEs, patients receiving TKIs were 4-times more likely to experience such events, compared to patients receiving placebo. On the whole, there was also a significant increase in odds of hepatotoxicity due to the elevation of AST and ALT. There was however a lack of significant effect on elevation of TB. A similar meta-analysis was conducted recently by Ghatalia et al, which evaluated the effect of VEGFR inhibitors on hepatotoxicity. Likewise, an increased risk of all-grades and high-grades ALT, AST and TB elevation was observed. [232]

The use of TKIs increased the risk of hepatotoxicity independently of trial phase, the sequence of therapy and mechanism of action. The OR of subgroup 1 (TKI alone vs. placebo) tend to be higher than that of subgroup 2 (TKI with chemotherapy vs. placebo with chemotherapy). This is expected as the use of chemotherapy contributes to some toxicity itself, and thus leading to a smaller difference in the event rates across the 2 groups. The odds of developing high-grade hepatotoxicity due to ALT and AST elevation were also comparable, at 5-fold and 6-fold respectively. Although non-statistically significant, the risk of hepatotoxicity for non-EGFRI was demonstrated to be higher compared to EGFRIs. There were four non-EGFRIs trials in the analysis, namely pazopanib (n=2), imatinib (n=1) and sorafenib (n=1). High frequencies of ALT and AST elevations have been observed with pazopanib therapy,

where 53% and more than 10% of patients experienced all-grades and high-grade ALT elevation respectively. [24] This could have significantly contributed to the high OR observed with non-EGFRIs. Higher ORs have been demonstrated due to shorter duration of therapy. There are only 3 trials which were categorized as short duration of therapy, and they were vandetanib, lapatinib and pazopanib. Both lapatinib and pazopanib are at a considerably higher risk of hepatotoxicity, as observed with its mandatory black-box warning. As such, this could have influenced the higher ORs observed. Generation of RM upon metabolism of lapatinib have been demonstrated previously [89], and these RM have been implicated in other examples of idiosyncratic hepatotoxicity. [233]

Despite our stringent inclusion and exclusion criteria, we managed to include more than 3000 patients in this meta-analysis, even though a number of phase II or III trials evaluating TKIs were excluded. The most common reason for exclusion was due to lack of reporting of liver AEs, where 89 out of 133 (67%) full articles assessed for eligibility did not report such events. The rigorous criterion offers confidence of good quality data and a purer comparison, whereby the risk of hepatotoxicity can be regarded with assurance to be associated with TKI.

Existing clinical evidence indicates that TKIs are associated with hepatotoxicity, and although we have demonstrated an increased risk of hepatotoxicity with the use of TKIs, the mechanism of toxicity remains largely unknown. Some have attributed the toxicity to generation of RM upon metabolism. [89, 234, 235] These RM are highly reactive and can interfere with cellular molecules and thereby affecting cell function

and cell death. Immune-mediated mechanisms have also been proposed to be a mechanism of toxicity. [236]

6.2.4 Limitations of study

There were several challenges and limitations in this analysis. Firstly, the analysis was based on published aggregated data and not using individual patient's data. Secondly, TKIs of various mechanism of action were pooled and analyzed as a group. However, sensitivity analysis was conducted to assess the effects of the different mechanisms of action. Studies were classified as 'EGFRIs' and 'non-EGFRIs' and although there were some differences observed between the 2 groups, it was not statistically significant. Thirdly, the reporting of hepatic AEs were lacking in many studies, leading to their exclusion from analysis. Unlike efficacy outcomes, AEs are rarely predetermined for systematic data collection in clinical trials. Therefore, reporting of adverse events depends highly on the investigators, and could likely be confounded by other variables as well, such as presence of liver metastasis. Furthermore, it may be possible that in studies that did not report elevations in liver AEs, it may be due to the absence of such events. Hence, the increase in risk could have been inflated. Fourthly, the type of reporting of hepatic AEs were highly variable, where some studies reported hepatotoxicity as a whole, whereas some presented hepatotoxicity in terms of elevation of various liver chemistries such as ALT, AST etc. In spite of that, studies were consistent in grading the adverse events, where the CTCAE criteria were used for grading. A total of two versions of the CTCAE criteria were involved, version 2 and version 3, though classifications of the various liver adverse events were unchanged across the two versions.

6.2.5 Summary of important findings

In summary, this meta-analysis has quantified the risk for TKI-associated hepatotoxicity and has demonstrated that TKI usage is associated with a two-fold and four-fold increased risk of all-types all-grades and all-types high-grade hepatotoxicity respectively. It is currently recognized that the use of TKIs can lead to hepatic AEs; however, the risk has yet to be evaluated. This study provides evidence as well as quantification of this risk. Clinicians should be aware of this risk and provide close monitoring in patients receiving these therapies.

Following the quantification of the risk of hepatotoxicity, in the next few sections, this thesis will seek to understand why these TKIs are at risk for hepatotoxicity as well as to look into the various proposed strategies to managed TKI-associated hepatotoxicity.

6.3 Why tyrosine kinase inhibitors are at risk for hepatotoxicity

A recent study reported that a high daily dos (100 mg) and being a substrate of P450 enzyme had significantly higher likelihood of causing DILI. [96] In a separate study, compounds with significant hepatic metabolism (> 50%) were found to be more likely to cause elevation of liver enzymes, liver failure and fatal DILI. [237] The authors described that drugs that fulfill both criteria of significant hepatic metabolism and daily doses of more than 50 mg are at the highest risk of hepatic adverse events. [237] Therefore, based on what is known as the risk factors for development of hepatotoxicity, it is not surprising to observe these events with TKIs use, as most of these drugs possess the risk factors for developing DILI.

Genetic characterization of hepatotoxicity caused by TKIs has been well studied in 2 TKIs, lapatinib and pazopanib. Lapatinib-related liver injury has a robust, confirmed association with the class II HLA locus containing DRB1*07:01/DQA1*02:01 alleles [236], while pazopanib-associated ALT elevations have a robust, confirmed association with HFE polymorphisms. [33] A recent review by Spraggs et al highlighted the benefits of genetic characterization of liver safety signals observed for TKI therapies, as it will reveal insights into the mechanisms of DILI, and inform the characteristics and risk. [238] This may allow individualization of therapy according to the severity of the hepatotoxicity and the risk associated with the genotypes. This is particularly important in the use of TKI therapies in cancer treatment, since improved characterization and understanding of the hepatotoxicity may enable continued treatment for many non-susceptible patients, without increasing the risk of serious DILI. This may then lead to more favorable clinical outcomes with improved disease management and patient survival. [238]

Additionally, several of the TKIs were capable of forming reactive metabolites, which constitutes a risk for potential toxicity. In the following subsections, those TKIs which form RM will be highlighted, together with the effect of RM on direct and indirect toxicity.

6.3.1 Tyrosine kinase inhibitors that form reactive metabolites

It has been demonstrated that TKIs such as dasatinib, erlotinib, gefitinib, imatinib, lapatinib, nilotinib, pazopanib, and sunitinib were capable of generating reactive intermediates upon bioactivation. [201] Hence, these agents are at risk for potential toxicity. However, RM has only been characterized in erlotinib, gefitinib, lapatinib and dasatinib, and they will be highlighted below. (Table 25)

Bioactivation of erlotinib is proposed to be related to the formation of a reactive epoxide and quinoneimine, which may contribute to some of the serious clinical toxicities, such as hepatotoxicity, interstitial lung disease and severe skin disorders such as Stevens-Johnson syndrome and toxic epidermal necrolysis. The CYP3A4 enzyme in the liver and intestines, and the CYP1A1/2 enzyme in the lungs, are the main enzymes responsible for the catalysis of reactive erlotinib metabolites. Although reactive epoxides and quinoneimine metabolites cannot diffuse significant distances from the organ where they were formed, para-hydroxyerlotinib is in general circulation and is the major erlotinib metabolite in human plasma. This may diffuse to other tissues where it is oxidized to generate the reactive quinoneimine. [234]

Similar to erlotinib, the P450-mediated bioactivation of gefitinib generates reactive quinoneimine and epoxide compounds. The CYP3A4 and CYP1A1 were found to be the major enzymes responsible for adduct formation in the liver and intestines and in the lungs respectively. Furthermore, the significant distribution of gefitinib to the liver and lung tissue, where it can be bioactivated to reactive compounds, is likely to increase the incidence of toxicity. [235]

Dasatinib is bioactivated by CYP3A4 to form of both quinoneimine and iminemethide reactive intermediates, indicating that dasatinib is likely to form protein adducts in the liver. [239]

Lapatinib has been shown to be extensively metabolized, as exemplified by diverse biotransformations to form metabolites. A number of the metabolites generated from the metabolism by CYP3A4 and CYP3A5 could potentially form reactive electrophilic intermediates that could contribute to hepatotoxicity. [202] An electrophilic quinoneimine reactive intermediate can be generated from further oxidation of the O-dealkylated lapatinib. [89] Subsequent studies demonstrated that CYP3A4, an enzyme that catalyzes the formation of the reactive quinoneimine metabolite, is inactivated by another lapatinib metabolite that it generated, most likely a nitroso compound. [90] Similarly, the CYP3A5 enzyme can also be inactivated by lapatinib. [91] These studies confirmed the reactivity of lapatinib metabolites and the likely risk they can impose on the liver, where CYP3A4 is the major drug metabolizing enzyme.

	Parent compound	Reactive metabolites	Ref
Erlotinib		NH CH	[234]
Gefitinib		N CI	[235]
Lapatinib	N N N HN C C F	$\begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\$	[90]
Dasatinib			[239]

Table 25. Tyrosine kinase inhibitors and their reactive metabolites
6.3.2 Effect of reactive metabolites on direct and indirect toxicity

During drug metabolism, a drug is converted to a more hydrophilic metabolite, which can be readily excreted from the body. However, in some situations, the process of metabolism gives rise to the formation of chemically reactive species or RM and this includes a diverse group of compounds including unstable conjugates, reactive oxygen species (ROS) and other free radicals, electrophilic metabolites such as epoxides and quinones. [240] These RM can cause direct toxicity or can lead to secondary immune reactions, depending, in part, on the reactivity and formation rate of the reactive metabolites as well as host response.

The RMs are capable of inducing dysfunction through direct adduction to neighboring host proteins or macromolecular targets. The binding to nucleophilic macromolecules in target cells, leads to covalent modifications which are often disruptive to endogenous protein, lipids and DNA function. The presence of RM may lead to DNA damage, induction of proapoptotic proteins, depletion of hepatic glutathione, disruption of intercellular calcium concentrations and ultimately resulting in mitochondrial permeability transition as a hallmark commitment to cell death via both apoptotic and necrotic mechanisms. In addition, oxidative stress as an orthogonal mode of cellular damage may occur as a result of oxidative imbalance between the large production of ROS and the depletion of endogenous antioxidants. This may then result in several sites of cellular damage (i.e. protein damage, lipid peroxidation and nucleotide oxidation), leading to loss of function. Consequently, this alters cellular homeostasis, resulting in impairment of cellular function, which can lead to cell death and possible organ failure. [92, 233, 241-243] Similar mechanisms have been demonstrated to be responsible for other drug-induced toxicities such as

acetaminophen and diclofenac-mediated liver injury. [244, 245] Although most drugs form RM, not all drugs are associated with idiosyncratic drug toxicities. This may be due to the RM being detoxified by cellular defense mechanisms. [233] The covalently modified proteins may be repaired or degraded; otherwise they may impair important cellular functions, which could be directly pathogenic. [233] Moreover, a larger dose of a drug may exacerbate the toxicity, by generating a larger quantity of toxic metabolites, which may likely overwhelm the host defense mechanism.

Some modifications may also elicit a host immune response if the structurally altered proteins are recognized as a foreign macromolecule. This may lead to drug-induced immune toxicities. Such immunological consequences were demonstrated with tienilic acid-induced hepatitis. [246] The formation of a reactive compound that covalently binds to proteins alone might be insufficient to trigger an immune reaction or induce a non-pathogenic immune response. [247] In the presence of a 'danger' signal, such as underlying infection or presence of cytokines due to inflammation and cellular injury, a full-blown immune response may be triggered. [248] The outcome in either direct or indirect toxicity event is cell death caused by either apoptosis or necrosis, depending on several factors like the inherent properties of the drug, dose, duration of exposure, and a variety of environmental and genetic factors that modulate drug metabolism and transport, and the innate and adaptive immune systems. [249]

The liver is the main site for bioactivation and detoxification of drugs and their metabolites. Hence, any potentially toxic metabolite generated in the process can

readily exert a localized damage. As such, the sites of RM formation usually correlate with the major targets of idiosyncratic reactions, in this case, hepatotoxicity.

There also seems to be a correlation between the amount of RM formed and the risk of idiosyncratic reactions. One study demonstrates that a dose more than 100 mg per day and being a substrate of CYP450 enzymes are two important predictors of drug-induced liver injury. [96] High levels of RM may also be due to presence of high levels of enzyme that activates the drug to the RM or low activities of enzymes to detoxify the RM. The activities of the enzymes may be influenced by genetic polymorphisms, such as CYP2D6, or DDIs. For instance, in the case of acetaminophen, an archetypal example of DILI, metabolism of acetaminophen in the liver includes the formation of a RM, the N-acetyl-p-benzoquinoneimine, [93] and in the presence of an inducer, RM formation was increased which markedly enhanced hepatotoxicity. [94]

6.4 Characteristics of tyrosine kinase inhibitors-induced hepatotoxicity

The onset of TKI-induced hepatotoxicity is highly variable. A literature search of published case reports suggests that the median onset is 7 weeks, with a range of 1 - 72 weeks. (Table 26) Although most manufacturers recommend close monitoring of LFTs prior initiation of TKI, liver toxicity can also occur even after long periods of TKI treatment. It is also important to note that drugs that produce severe injury often induce a higher incidence of mild injury. Cases of apparent drug-induced hepatotoxicity may be rare, and they belong to a large subset of patients who display asymptomatic ALT abnormalities, which in certain cases may transform into severe

injury. [250, 251] Take tacrine for example, although overt hepatic injury only occurred in 2% of the patients receiving the drug, half of patients developed minor elevations of liver enzymes and one-quarter had ALT levels that are greater than three times the upper normal limit. [252] The incidence of mild, asymptomatic, and transient ALT abnormalities may occur 10 to 20 times more often than the overt disease [250] and therefore serves as an excellent proxy for the low frequency of severe DILI events which do not frequently occur in clinical practice.

In most instances, TKI-induced hepatotoxicity is mostly reversible. Unfortunately, it has been reported that the liver injury may be fatal in some cases, especially when the liver injury is detected too late and complications such as lactic acidosis have occurred. Based on our literature search, the median time to recovery of LFTs to baseline or normal range was around 6 weeks, with a range of 1 to 44 weeks. (Table 26)

6.5 Overcoming tyrosine kinase inhibitors-induced hepatotoxicity

Currently, there are several strategies that have been adopted to overcome TKIinduced hepatotoxicity. The strategies that have been successful so far are (1) switching to an alternative TKI with similar mechanism of action; (2) using an alternative dosing of the TKI and (3) introduction of steroids for treatment and prevention of hepatotoxicity. However, it should be noted that although these strategies have been successfully introduced to patients without the recurrence of hepatotoxicity, their effect on survival benefits have not been evaluated. Hence, these strategies should be adopted with caution.

6.5.1 Switching tyrosine kinase inhibitors

Substituting with an alternate TKI of similar mechanism of action has been adopted as a strategy in clinical practice. As some TKIs have similar pharmacological action by acting on similar receptors, such as erlotinib and gefitinib, the alternative TKI can be prescribed if patients experience serious toxicities with one TKI. Successful use of erlotinib has been observed in patients who experience gefitinib-associated toxicities, including hepatotoxicity, and vice versa for the use of gefitinib in erlotinib-associated toxicities. [253-258] Although the structures of gefitinib and erlotinib are highly similar, the successful switch between the two TKIs without inducing another episode of hepatotoxicity suggests that minor differences in chemical structure in substituents attached to quinazoline and aniline rings between gefitinib and erlotinib may present different haptens to induce allergic reaction. [255] The positive switches for other classes of TKIs like from imatinib to dasatinib or nilotinib have also been observed. This observation indicates that these TKIs represent an option for maintaining therapeutic responses in patients in whom continuation of imatinib is not possible because of its hepatic toxicity. [259] The successful switch between TKIs to prevent hepatotoxicity also proposes the lack of cross-reactivity between the TKIs. In another words, this implies that the toxicological target is unrelated to the common pharmacological target shared between the TKIs. Also, this effectively eliminates hepatotoxicity as an on-target toxicity related to the inhibition of the target tyrosine kinase pathway shared by the TKIs at risk. [260] (Table 26)

6.5.2 Alternative dosing

Re-challenge of the implicated TKI usually leads to a second episode of hepatotoxicity with a quicker onset, suggesting that the underlying mechanism is immune-mediated. Nevertheless, re-initiation of the implicated TKI at reduced doses or at reduced dosing frequency have been effective in prevent further hepatotoxicity.

The use of reduced doses of TKIs has been implemented in a few cases. The alteration of the dosing frequency of gefitinib from every day to every other day [261] or every 5 days [262] has been successful to prevent recurrent toxicity. However, as these dosing regimens are neither properly studied nor approved, there is no evidence on its effect on disease response and survival, and this may pose a risk of under-dosing in a patient. Seki et al hypothesized a reduction of hepatotoxicity when gefitinib is administered once every 5 days as the C_{max} and AUC of gefitinib were dependent on the number of consecutive days it was administered and the development of hepatitis depended on the dosage of gefitinib in the IDEAL-1 trial. [262] (Table 26)

6.5.3 Reversibility of toxicities with corticosteroids

Current limited information on TKI-associated hepatotoxicity suggest that it is an idiosyncratic drug reaction (IDR), due to characteristics like rare occurrence, generation of reactive metabolites, dose-independent although a higher daily dose may pose as a risk factor for toxicity etc. If TKI-associated hepatotoxicity is immunemediated, then corticosteroids may be useful for management of the toxicity. There have been documented cases in the literature where TKI-associated hepatotoxicity has been successfully treated and prevented with the introduction of corticosteroids. Harbaum et al [259] and Ferrero et al [263] demonstrated that when corticosteroids are applied early after the onset of imatinib-induced hepatotoxicity, it may result in rapid and complete hepatic recovery. The concurrent use of corticosteroids with imatinib has also allowed the continuance of imatinib therapy without hepatotoxicity recurrence in many cases. [263-269] (Table 26)

In most of the cases, the corticosteroid of choice is prednisolone, although methylprednisolone has also been used. Unlike dexamethasone, prednisolone and methylprednisolone do not induce CYP3A4, hence avoiding the potential interactions with TKIs which are mostly CYP3A4 substrates. The dosing regimens as well as the duration of usage of the corticosteroids are also highly variable. For the purpose of treatment, doses of prednisolone can be up to 100 mg/day and duration of usage ranges from several days to 3 months. For the prevention of subsequent episodes of hepatotoxicity, prednisolone has been used at doses ranging from 12.5 - 50 mg daily and for several months of usage. (Table 27)

A danger hypothesis has been suggested by Matzinger, which proposes that presentation of an antigen in the absence of danger results in tolerance, while the presence of a danger signal will result in a full-blown immune response. [248] Therefore, if only a small amount of RM is formed, a significant response is unlikely. However, if the RM formed is more toxic, either due to a larger amount formed or the nature of the RM, cell stress or necrosis can result which may present as an additional 'danger' signal that amplifies the response. This unprogrammed cell death serve as a sign to the immune system that an unplanned destruction is impending, which leads to the activation of a full-fledge immune response. Additionally, in the context of a clear danger signal, such as underlying inflammation, infection or trauma, all of which may constitute the danger signal, the risk of idiosyncratic drug reactions increases. [270] The usefulness of corticosteroids may be based on their ability to suppress the inflammatory response in the liver as a part of drug-hypersensitivity or an immunoallergic reaction, and supports the speculation that an allergic mechanism may be involved in the TKI-associated liver injury seen in these patients. [266, 267] Therefore, cautiously re-challenging after complete resolution of the liver injury under steroid administration and with very gradual dose increment may allow patients who have developed severe liver toxicity to continue taking the drug. [269] In summary, corticosteroids are a promising approach for managing TKI-induced hepatotoxicity, in order to avoid the permanent discontinuation of a very effective anti-neoplastic drug. [263] Future studies should evaluate the choice of the corticosteroids, dose and duration of usage for the purpose of treatment as well as prevention of TKI-induced hepatotoxicity. More importantly, the effect of the corticosteroids on the efficacy of TKIs should also be evaluated. As some corticosteroids such as dexamethasone possess CYP3A4-inducing capabilities, pharmacokinetics and safety of the combination of steroids and TKIs should also be assessed.

	Age, gender	Malignancy	Onset (weeks)	Outcome	Time to recovery (weeks)	Treatment and successful approaches adopted to overcome hepatotoxicity	Reference
(1) Swit	ching tyros	ine kinase inhibitor				·	
ERL	64, F	NSCLC	5	Recovery	2	ERL discontinued Ursodeoxycholic acid for treatment Switched to GEF	[253]
ERL	31, F	NSCLC	4	Recovery	N.A.	ERL discontinued Switched to GEF	[254]
GEF	67, F	Metastatic lung carcinoma	4	Recovery	4	GEF discontinued Switched to ERL	[255]
GEF	83, F	Metastatic lung carcinoma	8	Recovery	8	GEF discontinued Switched to ERL	[255]
GEF	52, M	NSCLC	10	Recovery	4	GEF discontinued Switched to ERL	[25.6]
GEF	88, M	NSCLC	20	Recovery	5	GEF discontinued Switched to ERL	[236]
GEF	73, M	NSCLC	6	Recovery	N.A.	GEF discontinued Switched to ERL	[257]
GEF	66, F	NSCLC	13	Recovery	7	GEF discontinued Switched to ERL	[258]
IMA	32, F	CML	24	N.A.	N.A.	IMA discontinued Prednisolone for treatment Switched to DASA	[259]
IMA	41, F	CML	24	Recovery	N.A.	IMA discontinued Switched to NILO	[271]
IMA	F	GIST	7	Recovery	9	IMA discontinued Switched to SUNI	[272]
IMA	53, F	GIST	10	Recovery	N.A.	IMA discontinued Prednisolone for treatment	[273]

Table 26. Strategies to overcome TKI-induced hepatotoxicity

165

Γ							Switched to SUNI	
Γ	SUNI	76 M	mRCC	2	Recovery	ΝΔ	SUNI discontinued	[274]
	50141	70, 11	mixee	2	Recovery	IN.A.	Switched to SORA	
_	(2) Alter	rnative dos	ing	-	1		1	1
	GEF	69, F	NSCLC	4	Recovery	20	GEF use reduced from daily to every other day at the same dosage	[261]
	GEF	61, F	NSCLC	8	Recovery	4	GEF discontinued GEF dosing changed to 250 mg once every 5 days	[262]
_	IMA	64, M	CML	1	Recovery	6	IMA discontinued IMA restarted at reduced dose	[275]
	(3) Use	of corticost	eroids					
Ī	ERL	74, M	NSCLC	4	Recovery	1	ERL discontinued Methylprednisolone for treatment	[276]
166	IMA	65 M	GIST	4	Recovery	12	IMA discontinued Ursodeoxycholic acid and prednisone for treatment IMA re-initiated with ursodeoxycholic acid and prednisone	[264]
	IMA	18, F	CML	2	Recovery	15	IMA discontinued Prednisolone for treatment IMA re-initiated with prednisolone	[265]
	IMA	50, M	CML	8	Recovery	8	IMA discontinued IMA re-initiated with prednisolone	
	IMA	66, F	CML	32	Recovery	4	IMA discontinued Prednisolone for treatment IMA re-initiated with prednisolone	
	IMA	79, F	CML	20	Recovery	12	IMA discontinued Methylprednisolone for treatment IMA re-initiated with prednisolone	[263]
	IMA	78, M	CML	24	Recovery	N.A.	IMA discontinued Prednisolone for treatment IMA re-initiated with prednisolone	
F	IMA	60, F	CML	24	Recovery	4	IMA discontinued	-

[Prednisolone for treatment	
-							IMA re-initiated with prednisolone	
	IMA	20 F	CML	2	Recovery	3	IMA discontinued	[266]
		20,1		2	Recovery	5	IMA re-initiated with prednisolone	[200]
							IMA discontinued	
							Preparation of glycyrrhizin (Stronger Neo-	
	IMA	51, F	CML	13	Recovery	N.A.	Minophagen C [SNMC]) and ursodeoxycholic acid for	[267]
							treatment	
							IMA re-initiated with prednisolone	
	ПЛ A	17 E	CMI	70	Decovery	2	IMA discontinued	[269]
	INIA	1/, Г	CML	12	Recovery	5	IMA re-initiated with steroids	[208]
Γ							IMA discontinued	
	IMA	57, F	CML	12	Recovery	4	Prednisolone for treatment	[269]
							IMA re-initiated with prednisolone	
Γ							IMA discontinued	
<u> </u>	IMA	32, F	CML	24	N.A.	N.A.	Prednisolone for treatment	[259]
67							Switch to DASA	
Γ							IMA discontinued	
	IMA	53, F	GIST	10	Recovery	N.A.	Prednisolone for treatment	[273]
					-		Switch to SUNI	
Ī	Abbrevia	ations: CMI	L, chronic myeloid leuker	nia; DASA, da	asatinib; <i>ERL</i> , e	rlotinib; GE	F, gefitinib; GIST, gastrointestinal stromal tumours; IMA, i	matinib;
<i>mRCC</i> , metastatic renal cell carcinoma; <i>N.A.</i> , not available; <i>NSCLC</i> , non-small cell lung cancer; <i>NILO</i> , nilotinib; <i>SORA</i> , sorafenib; <i>SUNI</i> , sunitinib							ib	

		Steroids for treatment/ prevention	Choice of steroids	Dosing regimen	Duration of usage	Reference
	ERL	Treatment	Methylprednisolone	IV high dose pulse therapy (1000 mg/day)	3 days	[276]
	IMA	Treatment	Prednisolone	100 mg/day	3 days	[259]
	IMA	Treatment	Prednisolone	0.8 mg/kg/day	2 months	[273]
	IMA	Prevention	Prednisolone	25 mg/day	5 months	[263]
	IMA	Prevention	Prednisolone	25 mg/day	2 months	[266]
	IMA	Prevention	Prednisolone	20 mg/day	N.A.	[267]
	IMA	Prevention	Prednisolone	50 mg/day	N.A	[268]
	IMA	Treatment & prevention	Prednisolone	1 mg/kg/day	6 months	[264]
	IMA	Treatment & prevention	Prednisolone	(T) 1 mg/kg/day (P) 30 mg/day*	N.A.	[265]
<u> </u>	IMA	Treatment & prevention	Prednisolone	(T) 50 mg/day(P) 25 mg and then 12.5 mg/day	(T) 6 weeks (P) 6 months	
89	IMA	Treatment & prevention	(T) Methylprednisolone	(T) 40 mg/day	(T) 3 months	
			(P) Prednisolone	(P) 25 mg/day	(P) 8 months	[263]
	IMA	Treatment & prevention	Prednisolone	(T) 25 mg/day (P) 12.5 mg/day	(T) 3 weeks (P) N.A	[200]
	IMA	Treatment & prevention	Prednisolone	(T) 25 mg and then 37 mg/day (P) 25 mg and then 12.5 mg/day	(T) 4 weeks (P) 2 months	
	IMA	Treatment & prevention	Prednisolone	(T) 30 mg/day (P) 30 mg/day	(T) 1 month (P) 4 months	[269]
	Note: O predniso Abbrevi	utcomes were positive in all ca plone and therapy was eventua ations: <i>ERL</i> , erlotinib: <i>IMA</i> , in	ases except in Dhalluin-Venier lly switched to peg-IFN (*) natinib: <i>IV</i> , intravenous: <i>N.A</i> , n	et al, where ALT and AST elevation occurred again ot available: <i>P</i> , prevention: <i>T</i> , treatment	n after imatinib was rei	introduced with

 Table 27. The use of corticosteroids to manage TKI-induced hepatotoxicity

6.5.3.1 Supplementary analysis – concurrent use of erlotinib and dexamethasone – where steroids help to reduce toxicity

The management of DILI with corticosteroids has often been discussed and has been highlighted in the previous section. Corticosteroids may be useful in patients whose hepatic injury display immune-like features. It is also well recognized that the use of corticosteroids may mask the manifestations of injury in some patients, while hasten the recovery in others. [277] While there are no prospective studies performed to investigate the role of corticosteroids in the management of hepatotoxicity, there are numerous cases in the literature as previously mentioned, where they have been successfully implemented.

Although corticosteroids are able to suppress the immune system and prevent or treat hepatotoxicity, there is also a possible risk of drug-drug interaction. More than 50% of the drugs in the market are metabolized by CYP3A4, and most steroids are inducers of CYP3A4. Hence, a theoretical drug-drug interaction risk exists. In the case of most TKIs, induction of metabolism may increase the formation of reactive metabolites and therefore increase in risk of hepatotoxicity. Therefore, there seems to be a dual and competing role of corticosteroids in hepatotoxicity.

In order to investigate the role of corticosteroids on hepatotoxicity, an observational study was conducted with an objective to evaluate the incidence of dose modification, which is defined as discontinuation, dose reduction or hold and re-challenge of erlotinib due to hepatotoxicity event.

Erlotinib has been selected as it is metabolized by CYP3A4, CYP1A2 in the liver and by the inducible hepatic isoform CYP1A1 in the lungs [278] and current findings suggest that para-hydroxyerlotinib can generate reactive quinoneimine by oxidation in the liver. Due to the electrophilic nature of quinoneimine, it can covalently bind to proteins to trigger oxidative stress, and react with glutathione to form adducts. As cancer patients with brain metastases usually manifest neurologic symptoms associated with increased intra-cranial pressure, corticosteroids have been used to alleviate these symptoms by reducing cerebral edema. [279] Moreover, corticosteroids are generally utilized in managing chemotherapy-induced nausea and vomiting in pancreatic cancer patients. [280] Therefore, concomitant usage of erlotinib with dexamethasone is not uncommon among cancer patients. Due to the coadministration of dexamethasone with erlotinib, a potential theoretical drug-drug interaction may potentially occur, as erlotinib is extensively metabolized by the hepatic CYP3A4 enzyme [234], and dexamethasone induces CYP3A4 via pregnane X receptor (PXR) gene activation in the liver. In addition, there is currently limited evidence on the clinical impact of the interaction between erlotinib and dexamethasone on hepatotoxicity.

6.5.3.2 Methods

6.5.3.2.1 Study design

This was a single-centered, observational, retrospective study conducted in NCCS. Patients who received erlotinib between October 2007 and June 2012 were reviewed for eligibility. Patients who used erlotinib concurrently with CYP3A4 inhibitor drugs, and drugs that affect absorption of erlotinib were excluded. [98, 99] In addition, this study excluded patients who did not receive baseline LFT assessment before the erlotinib therapy, and at least one follow-up of LFT during or within 6 half-lives after the cessation of erlotinib therapy.

6.5.3.2.2 Definitions and endpoints

Those who received erlotinib without dexamethasone were classified under group E while patients who received erlotinib with dexamethasone were classified under group E+D. Concomitant usage or co-administration was defined as the use of dexamethasone during the period of erlotinib treatment. A hepatotoxicity event was defined as the first clinically significant increase (comparing against baseline levels) of any liver enzyme including TB, ALT, and AST levels by at least 1 grade in the subsequent liver function tests. The grading is according to the CTCAE criteria version 4.0.2. [103] The primary endpoint was the incidence of dose modification, which is defined as discontinuation, dose reduction or hold and re-challenge of erlotinib due to hepatotoxicity event. In addition, the secondary endpoint was the incidence of clinically significant hepatotoxicity event.

6.5.3.2.3 Statistical analysis

For the continuous variables, parametric test such as the independent samples t-test and non-parametric test like Mann Whitney-U test was used to determine statistical significance between the two groups. For the categorical variables, the Chi-square test or Fisher's test was used. Multivariate logistic regression was performed to adjust the relative risk ratio based on clinically important (such as baseline LFTs) and statistically significant variables. A p-value of less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant. All data was recorded and analyzed using IBM SPSS Statistics 20.0.

6.5.3.3 Results

6.5.3.3.1 Patient demographics and disease characteristics

A total of 202 patients were screened for eligibility. After application of the inclusion and exclusion criteria, 127 patients were excluded due to various reasons such as: lack of LFTs monitoring, drug-drug interactions via absorption and/or CYP enzymes inhibition. Out of the 75 patients included in the analysis, 16 (21%) were classified into group E+D while 59 (79%) were classified into group E. (Figure 11)



Figure 11. Distribution of patients (erlotinib and dexamethasone)

Majority of the patients were males (56%) and the median age was 63 years old (Inter-quartile range, IQR – 57, 70). Majority of the patients received erlotinib for treatment of NSCLC (88%) and 53 patients (71%) had previously received at least one prior chemotherapy regimen before the usage of erlotinib. Half of the patients (53%) had bone metastasis and 24 (32%) had liver metastasis. Three patients (4%) had underlying liver disease. The overall median baseline LFTs was within the normal range. Twenty-one patients (28%) received erlotinib in combination with chemotherapy. Most of the patients (65%) received 150 mg of erlotinib. In the E+D group, the median dose of dexamethasone used was 4 mg/day (IQR – 4, 8). Meanwhile, the median duration of concomitant usage with erlotinib was 2 days (IQR – 1, 6). (Table 28)

	Total (%)	E + D(%)	E (%)
	n = 75	n = 16	n = 59
Age, years [median, (IQR)]	63 (57, 70)	62 (55, 68)	64 (57, 73)
Body weight*, kg [median,	50 (40, 66)	50 (44, 61)	60 (50, 70)
(IQR)]	59 (49,00)	50 (44, 01)	00 (30, 70)
Male gender	42 (56)	9 (56)	33 (56)
Ethnicity			
Chinese	63 (84)	14 (88)	48 (81)
Indian	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)
Malay	5 (7)	2 (2)	3 (5)
Others	7 (9)	0 (0)	7 (12)
Cancer type			
NSCLC	66 (88)	14 (88)	52 (88)
Pancreatic	6 (8)	2 (13)	4 (7)
Others	3 (4)	0 (0)	3 (5)
Metastasis	73 (97)	16 (100)	57 (97)
Liver	24 (32)	6 (38)	18 (31)
Bone	40 (53)	7 (44)	33 (56)
Brain	23 (31)	5 (31)	18 (31)
Others	25 (33)	6 (38)	19 (33)
Underlying hepatitis	3 (4)	0 (0)	3 (5)
Previous chemotherapy*	53 (71)	15 (94)	38 (64)
Platinum-based drugs	13 (17)	3 (19)	10 (17)
Others	40 (53)	12 (75)	28 (47)
Erlotinib therapy			
Monotherapy*	54 (72)	7 (44)	47 (80)
With gemcitabine*	6 (8)	2 (13)	4 (7)
With other chemotherapy drugs ^a	15 (20)	7 (44)	8 (14)
Erlotinib dose			
100 mg	26 (35)	4 (25)	22 (37)
150 mg	49 (65)	12 (75)	37 (63)
[median, (IQR)]	150 (100, 150)	150 (113, 15)	150 (100, 150)
Duration of erlotinib therapy,	00 (42, 199)	152 (52, 255)	61(12,176)
days	70 (43, 100)	155 (52, 255)	04 (43, 170)

Table	28.	Patient	demographics	and	disease	characteristics	(erlotinib	and
dexam	etha	sone)						

Abbreviations: E+D, coadministration of erlotinib and dexamethasone; E, use of erlotinib only; IQR, interquartile range; NSCLC, non-small cell lung cancer; TB, total bilirubin; AST, aspartate aminotransferase; ALT, alanine transaminase; ALP, alkaline phosphatase; $\mu mol/L$, micromole/liter; U/L units/liter

*p<0.05 between in the presence of dexamethasone and the absence of dexamethasone ^a Other chemotherapy drugs include bevacizumab, carboplatin, pemetrexed, cisplatin, and docetaxel.

6.5.3.3.2 Dose modification and concomitant use of erlotinib and dexamethasone Among all patients, 31 patients (41%) developed all grade hepatotoxicity. Incidence of hepatotoxicity was similar between E+D and E patients (44% vs. 41%). Sixteen (21%), 14 (19%) and 13 (17%) patients showed hepatotoxicity associated with TB, AST and ALT grade increase, respectively. The median onset was 26 days (IQR – 11, 41). Among those patients who demonstrated hepatotoxicity, 10 patients (32%) fully recovered from hepatotoxicity, and the median time for the patients to recover was 43 days (IQR – 33, 65). (Table 29)

Table 29. Evaluation of hepatotoxicity

	Total (%)	E + D(%)	E (%)			
	n = 75	n = 16	n = 59			
Hepatotoxicity	31 (41)	7 (44)	24 (41)			
Elevated TB ^a	16 (21)	5 (31)	11 (19)			
Elevated AST ^a	14 (19)	3 (19)	11 (19)			
Elevated ALT ^a	13 (17)	1 (6)	12 (20)			
Onset, days [median (IQR)]	26 (11, 41)	20 (7, 119)	27 (13, 41)			
Outcome of hepatotoxicity						
Full recovery	10 (13)	3 (19)	7 (12)			
Time to recovery, days [median, (IQR)]	43 (33, 65)	69 (33, 69)	38 (33, 48)			
Hepatic enzymes level, [median (IQR)]						
TB						
Baseline level (µmol/L)		16 (10, 17)	14 (12, 20)			
Hepatotoxicity level (µmol/L)		29 (28, 32)	28 (25, 36)			
AST						
Baseline level (U/L)		32 (27, 32)	26 (24, 30)			
Hepatotoxicity level (U/L)		38 (37, 32)	42 (38, 51)			
ALT						
Baseline level (U/L)		23	20 (17, 26)			
Hepatotoxicity level (U/L) 49 42 (38, 85						
Abbreviations: $E+D$, coadministration of erlotinib with dexamethasone; E , use of erlotinib						
only; IQR, interquartile range; TB, total bilirubin; AST, aspartate aminotransferase; ALT,						
alanine transaminase; <i>µmol/L</i> , micromole/lit	er; U/L, units/lite	r				
p < 0.05 between in the presence of dexame	thasone and the a	bsence of dexam	ethasone			

a Due to the different mechanisms of liver injury, patients may exhibit different patterns of elevations of liver biochemistries

Among those 31 patients who had developed hepatotoxicity, 17 (55%) received a modified dose of erlotinib. None of the patients in the E+D group and 17 (30%) patients in the E group received dose adjustments (p < 0.01). (Table 30)

	E + D (%)	E (%)				
	n = 16	n = 59				
Dose modification due to hepatotoxicity* ^a	0 (0)	17 (30)				
Management of adverse events						
Continue with previous dose	5 (31)	6 (10)				
Continue with dose reduction (150mg to 100mg) due to:	0 (0)	2 (3)				
Hepatotoxicity	0 (0)	2 (3)				
Hold and re-challenge due to:	1 (6)	2 (3)				
Hepatotoxicity	0 (0)	2 (3)				
Skin rash	1 (6)	0 (0)				
Discontinue	1 (6)	14 (24)				
Hepatotoxicity	0 (0)	13 (22)				
Skin rash	0 (0)	1 (2)				
Disease progression	1 (6)	0 (0)				
Abbreviations: $E+D$, coadministration of erlotinib with dexa	methasone; E, us	e of erlotinib				
only						
*p < 0.05 between in the presence of dexamethasone and the absence of dexamethasone						
^a Dose modification is defined as discontinue or continue with dose reduction or hold and						
rechallenge of erlotinib						

Table 30. Dose modification and concomitant use of erlotinib with
dexamethasone

6.5.3.4 Discussion

This study has documented the concurrent use of erlotinib and dexamethasone and the reduced likelihood of developing hepatotoxicity. While there is no reduction in frequency of hepatotoxicity, there were more patients who received erlotinib having experienced dose adjustments due to hepatotoxicity than patients who received dexamethasone concomitantly with erlotinib. This is further supported by the observation that the incidence of recovery from erlotinib-induced hepatotoxicity was higher in patients receiving the combined regimen, compared to those receiving erlotinib without dexamethasone.

Our findings alluded to the possibility that the effect of dexamethasone in suppressing immune response evoked by the reactive metabolite may be more prominent than the CYP3A4 inducing effect in hepatotoxicity events. The dose of dexamethasone recommended for anti-inflammatory indications ranges from 0.75 - 9 mg/day. [281] Hence, at the median dose of 4 mg/day used in the E+D patients, an anti-inflammatory effect will also be observed in addition to its original purpose of antiemesis and cerebral edema. Moreover, dexamethasone concentrations (nmol concentrations), CYP3A4 mRNA. At low dexamethasone concentrations (nmol concentrations), CYP3A4 may be transactivated at a low amplitude in a xenobiotic-independent manner. However, at higher levels (> 10 μ M), dexamethasone binds to and activates the PXR and producing a high amplitude of induction. [282] In addition, there have been reports in the literature where erlotinib-induced hepatitis and acute interstitial pneumonitis was successfully treated with high-dose corticosteroids. [276] Although RM adduction results in hapten formation, this usually leads to tolerance. However, in the presence of a danger signal, such as underlying inflammation, an

immune response would be prompted, and this may explain the beneficial effects of corticosteroids. Henceforth, suggesting that glucocorticoids, such as dexamethasone, are potentially effective in preventing and treating erlotinib-induced hepatotoxicity. Reproducibility of this clinical finding with a different concomitantly taken steroid would be beneficial to support the findings.

6.5.3.5 Limitations of study

There were a few limitations in this study. Several confounding factors were identified, which include body weight, concurrent use of other chemotherapy agents and baseline LFTs. Additionally, dose reductions of erlotinib may have been influenced by other factors such as physicians' and patients' preference, which were unable to be considered in the analysis due to the lack of data. This study is further challenged by a small sample size (75 patients). After application of several exclusion criteria, more than half of our patients were excluded from the study. In this process, we might have eliminated patients who manifested erlotinib-induced hepatotoxicity but did not have baseline LFT and/or subsequent LFT follow-ups in the database. Consequently, the incidence of hepatotoxicity may be underestimated. However, it is crucial to utilize strict exclusion criteria to ensure the scientific rigor of our results.

6.5.4 Summary of important findings

While the data on formation of RM suggest a possible role in the mechanism of idiosyncratic hepatotoxicity, it is important to note that the role of RM in causality of TKI-induced hepatotoxicity has not been demonstrated and its influence may differ on a case-by-case basis. Numerous events need to occur in an individual patient prior to

the occurrence of an IDR, of which the formation of a reactive intermediate appears to be the prerequisite. The usages of TKIs are associated with a risk of developing hepatotoxicity. Although the mechanism of TKI-induced hepatotoxicity has yet to be clearly established, several strategies have been adopted successfully to overcome TKI-induced hepatotoxicity. However, it should be noted that the effect of these strategies on disease response and survival benefits have not been formally evaluated, and hence they should be adopted with caution. Positive results from our observational study is hypothesis generating; it suggests that future studies can be conducted to examine the role of glucocorticoids such as prednisolone and dexamethasone, in the curative treatment of TKI-induced hepatotoxicity, which may also include the evaluation of the mediators involved in the immune response, such as the level of cytokines and auto-antibodies.

Several strategies are adopted to prevent and treat TKI-induced hepatotoxicity, with the use of corticosteroids being most promising in the treatment and prevention of these toxicities – as there may be a role for the immune system in the development of these IDR. We have observed that there were more cases of dose reductions in patients who received erlotinib only than compared to those who received concomitant erlotinib and dexamethasone, possibly due to the immune suppression effect of dexamethasone. Taken together with our findings from the literature search, the use of glucocorticoids may prevent or even treat hepatotoxicity during the course of TKI therapy. However, further evidence would be required before they can be recommended to the larger populations. Furthermore, the possible risk of increased RM formation through enzyme induction would have to be carefully considered. Drug manufacturers should also look into developing strategies to treat and prevent TKI- induced hepatotoxicity during drug development, especially when high incidences of elevated liver enzymes are associated with the drug. This could ensure that patient continue to receive treatment, without increasing the risk of serious DILI. 7 Effect of metabolism-related pharmacokinetic drug-drug interaction on risk for TKI-associated hepatotoxicity – a case study of lapatinib and dexamethasone

The use of dexamethasone, a CYP3A4 inducer, together with lapatinib is not uncommon in clinical practice. About one-third of all HER2-positive breast cancer patients would develop brain metastasis [283, 284], and its management involves relieving symptoms of peritumor edema, such as headache, nausea, vomiting, and mental state alterations, which are seen commonly in patients with increased intracranial pressure. These symptoms can be effectively managed with corticosteroids such as dexamethasone [285], with up to 75% of patients demonstrating marked neurological improvement within 24-72 h of dexamethasone initiation [279]. Therefore, both dexamethasone and lapatinib are indicated in metastatic HER2-positive breast cancer patients, which may lead to their concomitant usage. Additionally, the scientific basis of this study is based on the idea that since dexamethasone is a CYP3A4 inducer and lapatinib a CYP3A4 substrate, concomitant use may cause an increase in metabolizing capacity, which in turn increases the formation of lapatinib-derived RM and thereby, elevating the risk of toxicity. Furthermore, in light of the discussion in the previous chapter that dexamethasone possesses enzyme inducing as well as anti-inflammatory effects, it would be challenging to predict the resultant effect of this DDI, which would need to be investigated objectively, using both clinical as well as in-vitro data.

184

Therefore, this study was conducted with an objective to evaluate the incidence of elevated LFTs in the presence or absence of dexamethasone in clinical setting. The effect of dexamethasone on lapatinib-induced hepatotoxicity was evaluated in a drug utilization review based on patient data obtained from our records. In addition, a parallel in-vitro experimental setup was adopted to provide mechanistic information on the proposed association.

7.1 Drug utilization review

7.1.1 Methodology

7.1.1.1 Study design

This was a single-centered, observational, retrospective, nested case-control study conducted at NCCS. This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board.

7.1.1.2 Data collection

All HER2-positive breast cancer patients who received lapatinib from January 2007 to September 2011 were screened for eligibility. To be included, patients must have baseline LFT monitored and at least one set of LFT follow-up at least 3 days after initiation of lapatinib. Patients were excluded if, during the course of lapatinib therapy, were concomitantly using any CYP3A4 inhibitors or inducers (with the exception of dexamethasone). Two commercially available databases, Micromedex [98] and Lexicomp [99] were utilized to verify the status of CYP3A4 inducers or inhibitors. Patient information such as demographics, medical history and laboratory parameters were collected through medical records.

7.1.1.3 Endpoints and definitions

Two groups were defined after verification of medication history: Patients who received lapatinib with dexamethasone formed the L+D group, and patients who received lapatinib without dexamethasone, formed the L group. The primary endpoint was the incidence of hepatotoxicity, which was defined by the first clinically significant change (comparing against baseline) of any liver enzyme including TB, ALT or AST by at least 1 grade. Grading of liver enzyme was in accordance of the CTCAE version 4.0.2. [103] Concomitant usage was defined as the use of dexamethasone, during the period of lapatinib therapy. The concomitant usage overlap period was defined as from the day patient starts taking the drug to 6 elimination half-life period after drug discontinuation. Hepatotoxic drugs were defined as drugs with a potential to cause liver injury. [286] Recovery from hepatotoxicity was defined as the normalization of the affected liver enzymes to normal or baseline level at 3 - 4 weeks after the hepatotoxicity event.

7.1.1.4 Statistical analysis

Categorical variables, such as presence of hepatotoxicity, were analyzed with Chisquare or Fisher's exact test. Continuous variables were analyzed using Independent sample t-test or Mann-Whitney U test. Paired data, comparing LFTs at baseline and at hepatotoxicity event, were analyzed using the Wilcoxon Sign Rank test. Univariate analysis was performed to identify variables that are significantly different between the L+D and L group. Multivariate logistic regression was performed to adjust the odds ratio based on clinically important (e.g. age, presence of liver metastasis, underlying hepatitis, baseline LFT) and statistically significant variables. For 2-tailed tests, a p-value of less than 0.05 was considered significant. Data was analyzed with PASW 18.0.

7.1.2 Results

7.1.2.1 Patient demographics

A total of 120 patients were identified based on lapatinib usage. After assessing inclusion criteria, 23 patients were excluded (3 due to lack of baseline LFT, 14 due to lack of follow up LFT and 6 due to concomitant usage of other CYP3A4 inducer or inhibitor). Ninety-seven patients were included in the analysis, of which 24 (25%) were concomitantly receiving lapatinib with dexamethasone (Figure 12). Median dose of dexamethasone used was 8 mg/day (range 1 – 16), which is within the recommended dosage for management of symptoms of brain metastasis. [279] Median duration of concomitant usage was 11 days (range 2 - 28).

Mean age of the patients was 54 ± 11 years and majority of them were Chinese (77%). Ninety-two patients (95%) had metastatic breast cancer. Only four patients (4%) had underlying liver disease (Table 31). Eighty-seven patients (90%) were using lapatinib as combination therapy, with capecitabine being the most common combination. Usage of concurrent hepatotoxic drugs was observed in 45 patients (46%). Overall baseline LFT was within normal range (Table 32).



Figure 12. Distribution of patients

	Total (%)	'L+D' (%)	'L' (%)
	<i>n</i> =97	<i>n</i> =24	<i>n</i> =73
Age, years	54 + 11	50 ± 10	56 + 10
$(\text{mean} \pm \text{SD}) *$	54 ± 11	50 ± 10	50 ± 10
Ethnicity			
Chinese	75 (77)	17 (71)	58 (80)
Malay	8 (8)	3 (13)	5 (7)
Indian	6 (6)	1 (4)	5 (7)
Others	8 (8)	3 (13)	5 (7)
Metastasis	92 (95)	24 (100)	68 (93)
Liver	54 (56)	13 (54)	41 (56)
Bone	50 (52)	13 (54)	37 (51)
Brain *	26 (27)	13 (54)	13 (18)
Lung	51 (53)	12 (50)	39 (53)
Others	3 (3)	2 (8)	1 (1)
Hormonal status			
ER+PR+	39 (40)	11 (46)	28 (38)
ER+ PR-	15 (16)	4 (17)	11 (15)
ER-PR+	12 (12)	1 (4)	11 (15)
ER- PR-	30 (31)	8 (33)	22 (30)
Unknown	1 (1)	0 (0)	1 (1)
Underlying hepatitis	4 (4)	1 (4)	3 (4)
History of chemotherapy	93 (96)	22 (92)	71 (97)
Anthracycline	49 (51)	11 (46)	38 (52)
Taxanes	69 (71)	17 (71)	52 (71)
Vinca alkaloid	36 (37)	6 (25)	30 (41)
History of hormonal therapy	65 (67)	16 (67)	49 (67)
Aromatase inhibitor	49 (51)	13 (54)	36 (49)
Tamoxifen	48 (50)	11 (46)	37 (51)
Abbreviations: <i>L</i> + <i>D</i> , Lapatinib	and dexamethasone	combination; L, Lapat	inib only; ER,
Estrogen receptor; PR, Progeste	erone receptor		

Table 31. Patient demographics

* p<0.05 between with dexamethasone and without dexamethasone group

	Total (%)	'L+D' (%)	'L' (%)	
	<i>n</i> =97	<i>n</i> =24	<i>n</i> =73	
Lapatinib therapy				
Monotherapy	10 (10)	4 (17)	6 (8)	
Combination therapy	87 (90)	20 (83)	67 (92)	
Capecitabine	76 (78)	19 (79)	57 (78)	
Hormonal therapy	16 (17)	7 (29)	9 (12)	
Vinorelbine	4 (4)	1 (4)	3 (4)	
Herceptin	4 (4)	1 (4)	3 (4)	
	1250	1250	1250	
Lapatinib dose, mg	(500, 1500)	(1000, 1500)	(500, 1500)	
(median, (range))				
	Mean = 1199	Mean = 1229	Mean = 1188	
Concurrent use of	45 (46)	20 (80)	25 (34)	
hepatotoxic drugs *	45 (40)	20 (80)	23 (34)	
Baseline liver function test	s (median, (IQR))			
	14	15	13	
IB (0/L)	(10, 18)	(11, 17)	(10, 18)	
	31	29	32	
AST(0/L)	(24, 56)	(23, 48)	(25, 57)	
	27	24	27	
ALI(0/L)	(18, 41)	(17, 58)	(19, 39)	
	70	71	70	
ALF (U/L)	(53, 146)	(43, 161)	(54, 146)	

Table 32. Lapatinib therapy in patients

Abbreviations: *L*+*D*, Lapatinib and dexamethasone combination; *L*, Lapatinib only; *TB*, Total bilirubin; *AST*, Aspartate aminotransferase; *ALT*, Alanine aminotransferase; *ALP*, Alkaline phosphatase; *U/L*, Units/liter

* p<0.05 between with dexamethasone and without dexamethasone group

7.1.2.2 Observed differences between L+D and L groups

Patients in the L+D group were younger than those in the L group (50 ± 10 vs. 56 ± 10 years, p=0.03). Brain metastasis was more common in the L+D group (54% vs. 18%, p<0.005). (Table 31) Although more patients in the L+D group were using concurrent hepatotoxic medication (80% vs. 34%, p<0.005), the doses and frequencies of these medications were within normal range. Presence of liver metastasis, underlying hepatitis and baseline LFT were not significantly different between the two groups of patients (p>0.05). (Table 32)

7.1.2.3 Hepatotoxicity evaluation

Sixty-five patients (67%) manifested hepatotoxicity after lapatinib treatment and the median onset was 50 days (range 4 – 528). Generally, hepatotoxicity was associated with a change in AST grading. When compared, the LFT at baseline and at hepatotoxicity event were also significantly different (p<0.005). Twenty-one patients (32%) recovered from the elevated liver enzymes. Among those patients who manifested hepatotoxicity, 46 patients (71%) continued lapatinib use at the same dosage and only 3 (5%) discontinued lapatinib use due to hepatotoxicity. (Table 33)

7.1.2.4 Hepatotoxicity and concomitant use of lapatinib and dexamethasone

Twenty-one patients (88%) in the L+D group developed hepatotoxicity, while it occurred in 44 patients (60%) in the L group (p=0.01). The onset of hepatotoxicity between the groups was also different, with a trend to appear earlier in the L+D group (44 vs. 55 days, p=0.63). Elevation of ALT was observed to be more frequent in the

L+D group compared to the other (42% vs. 19%); and this was significantly different (p=0.03). (Table 33)
	Total	L+D	L		
	<i>n</i> =97	<i>n</i> =24	<i>n</i> =73		
n (%)					
Hepatotoxicity *	65 (67)	21 (88)	44 (60)		
Elevated TB [†]	29 (30)	8 (33)	21 (29)		
Elevated AST [†]	39 (40)	12 (50)	27 (37)		
Elevated ALT [†] *	24 (25)	10 (42)	14 (19)		
Onset (days), median (IQR)	50 (22, 110)	44 (22, 107)	55 (20, 110)		
Recovery from	21(22)	9 (29)	12 (20)		
hepatotoxicity	21 (52)	8 (38)	15 (50)		
TB, median (IQR)					
Baseline level (U/L) 15 (11, 27)					
Hepatotoxic event level (U/L)35 (27, 46)					
AST, median (IQR)					
Baseline level $(U/L)^{\ddagger}$ 29 (23, 35)					
Hepatotoxic event level (U/L) 50 (38, 107)					
ALT, median (IQR)	ALT, median (IQR)				
Baseline level $(U/L)^{\ddagger}$ 24 (16, 32)					
Hepatotoxic event level (U/	L)	51 (39, 87)			
Management of hepatotoxicity, n (%)					
Continuation of lapatinib th	erapy				
With the same dose46 (71)					
With dose reduction $0(0)$					
Discontinuation of lapatinib therapy due to					
Adverse drug reactions					
Hepatotoxicity		3 (5)			
Diarrhea		2 (3)			
Disease progression 14 (22)					
Abbreviations: L+D, Lapatinib and dexamethasone combination; L, Lapatinib only; TB, Total					
bilirubin; AST, Aspartate aminotransferase; ALT, Alanine aminotransferase; U/L, Units/liter					
* p<0.05 between with dexame has one and without dexame thas one group					
Patients may manifest more than one type of hepatotoxicity					
* p<0.05 between baseline and hepatotoxic event level					

 Table 33. Evaluation and management of hepatotoxicity

7.1.2.5 Risk for developing hepatotoxicity

Patients in the L+D group were 4.61 times (95% CI 1.26 - 16.88, p=0.01) more likely to develop hepatotoxicity, than those in the L group. After adjusting with confounding factors such as age, baseline LFT (TB, AST, ALT, ALP), liver and brain metastasis, underlying hepatitis and concurrent usage of hepatotoxic drugs, the odds ratio was 4.57 (95% CI 1.23 - 17.00, p=0.02). (Table 34)

Those in the L+D group were also 3.01 times (95% CI 1.11 - 8.18, p=0.03) more likely to develop a clinically important change in ALT compared to the other group. After adjustment with age, baseline ALT, liver and brain metastasis, underlying hepatitis and concurrent usage of hepatotoxic drugs, the adjusted odds ratio was 3.48 (95% CI 1.24 - 9.80, p=0.02). (Table 34)

N=97	OR (95% CI)	Adjusted OR (95% CI)
Hepatotoxicity *	4.61 (1.26 – 16.88)	4.57 ¶ (1.23 – 17.00)
Elevated TB	1.24 (0.46 – 3.33)	-
Elevated AST	1.70 (0.67 – 4.32)	-
Elevated ALT *	3.01 (1.11 – 8.18)	3.48 ¶¶ (1.24 – 9.80)

Table 34. Risk for developing hepatotoxicity in concomitant usage of dexamethasone

Abbreviations: TB, Total bilirubin; AST, Aspartate aminotransferase; ALT, Alanine aminotransferase

* p<0.05 between with dexamethasone and without dexamethasone group

¶ Adjusted for age, liver metastasis, brain metastasis, baseline LFT (TB, AST, ALT, ALP), underlying liver disease, concurrent use of hepatotoxic medications

¶¶ Adjusted for age, liver metastasis, brain metastasis, baseline ALT, underlying liver disease, concurrent use of hepatotoxic medications

7.2 Cell culture model

7.2.1 Methodology

7.2.1.1 Cell culture conditions

As previously mentioned under 3.2.1.1 Cell culture conditions

7.2.1.2 CYP3A4 induction and RT-PCR

Induction of cyp3a11, the mouse homologue of CYP3A4 was evaluated. TAMH cells (approximately 10,000 – 15,000/well) were seeded in a 6-well plate and were treated with solvent (control) or dexamethasone and incubated for 72 hours. After incubation, cells were harvested using the cell scraper. RNA was extracted and purified using the RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen, Venlo, The Netherlands). Subsequently, cDNA synthesis was performed using the SuperScript III First-Strand Synthesis System for RT-PCR (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA). PCR primer for cyp3a11, the CYP3A4 mouse homologue, was used. The primer pair sequences were obtained from literature [287], forward primer TCA CAC ACA CAG TTG TAG GGA GAA and reverse primer GTC CAT CCC TGC TTG TTT GTC. Real-time quantitative PCR (RT-PCR) was performed with the CFX96 Real-Time PCR Detection System (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA). Data obtained were normalized to reference gene and solvent control to obtain the $\Delta\Delta$ CT value, which was converted to fold change in mRNA expression levels.

7.2.1.3 Treatment and cell viability assay

TAMH cells (approximately 2000/well) were seeded in a 96-well plate. At 24 hours, cells were treated with vehicle-only or dexamethasone (10 and 20 μ M) and allowed to incubate for an additional 72 hours. After incubation, various concentration of lapatinib (2.5 to 15 μ M) was added and incubated for 24 hours. Thereafter, media was aspirated and replaced with 50 μ l of 2 mg/ml of MTT dye (in PBS) and 200 μ l of HEPES-buffered DMEM/F12 media, as previously established. [124, 125] The plate was incubated in the dark for 2 hours at 37 °C. Medium was then aspirated and the residual dye re-dissolved in 20 μ l of Sorensen's buffer (0.1 M glycine and 0.1 M NaCl equilibrated to pH 10.5 with 0.1 M NaOH) and 200 μ l of DMSO. Plates were read at 570 nm using the Infinite® 200 (Tecan, Männedorf, Switzerland). Cell viability is expressed as a ratio normalized to the vehicle-treated control.

7.2.2 Results

7.2.2.1 Evidence of dexamethasone induction

TAMH cells were pre-treated with dexamethasone and RT-PCR was used to quantify the mRNA expression, which was compared against treatment with solvent control. Treatment with 10 μ M and 20 μ M dexamethasone resulted in a 2-fold and 2.5-fold increase in cyp3a11 mRNA levels respectively. (Figure 13)



Figure 13. Evidence of dexamethasone induction on TAMH cells

7.2.2.2 Cell viability

The presence of lapatinib (more than 5 μ M) as compared to treatment with solvent control, reduced viability in a concentration-dependent manner. The average viability was 91% and 29% for 5 μ M and 10 μ M lapatinib respectively. There was a further reduction in viability, with the introduction of dexamethasone and this decrease was even more evident with a higher concentration of dexamethasone. At 5 μ M lapatinib, the introduction of 10 μ M and 20 μ M dexamethasone resulted in a 19% and 59% decrease in viability respectively. This result offers complementary in-vitro evidence that the combination of lapatinib and dexamethasone affects the cell viability (Figure 14).



Figure 14. Change in cell viability with treatment of lapatinib and dexamethasone (DEX) (top) 10μ M and (bottom) 20μ M

7.3 Discussion

This is the first study to document a clinically important interaction between lapatinib and dexamethasone, which associates with an increased occurrence of hepatotoxicity. Patients who were using this combination exhibited about 5-fold higher risk of developing hepatotoxicity than those who were not using the combination.

With the intent to investigate the in-vitro role of dexamethasone in lapatinib-induced hepatotoxicity, a parallel experimental setup was included and the findings have provided substantiating evidence to verify our hypothesis. Treatment of the metabolically-competent TAMH cells with both compounds resulted in a further reduction in viability as compared to treatment with lapatinib alone. In this interaction, dexamethasone induces the enzyme, which increases lapatinib metabolism and RM formation. In addition, this result also provides in-vitro evidence on our first aim, which is to determine the association between TKI plasma levels and toxicities. Treatment of TAMH cells with lapatinib alone resulted in a concentration-dependent reduction in viability, suggesting a possible relationship between exposure and toxicity. Moreover, since this work was published, further corroboration was observed with a similar study in HepaRG using rifampicin as an inducer. [288]

Our study alluded to the possibility that this increase in risk of toxicity could similarly be observed in other CYP3A4 inducers [71]. The usage of CYP3A4 inducers in cancer patients is not uncommon, where they can be part of anticancer therapy, supportive care or management of co-morbidities. The impact of this interaction has also led us to contemplate if other co-administered drugs could be accountable for the onset of idiosyncratic toxicities with lapatinib. Lapatinib, together with letrozole, is indicated for use in HER2-positive metastatic breast cancer in postmenopausal women. Lapatinib is an inhibitor of CYP3A4, while letrozole is a CYP3A4 substrate, thus leading to the possibility for an interaction where lapatinib could inhibit letrozole metabolism. Interestingly, the expected interaction was not observed, but instead serum levels of both drugs decreased. [289] With that in mind, strong CYP3A4 inducers and inhibitors should be used cautiously with lapatinib. The effect of altering metabolism and toxicity by dexamethasone suggests that genetic differences among individuals may also impact the occurrence of lapatinib-induced hepatotoxicity.

In the previous chapter, it was demonstrated that there was a decrease in risk of hepatotoxicity with the concomitant use of erlotinib and dexamethasone, which is contrasting with the observations in this study. One possible reason may be due to the doses of the drugs. The median dose of lapatinib in the study was 1250 mg, compared to the median dose of 150 mg of erlotinib in that study. Although a dose-toxicity association has yet to be established, a higher dose is usually associated with a higher risk of IDR due to the increase exposure of both drug and RM. The remarkably large load of RM formed may generate a danger signal which may then trigger off a response. Secondly, it could also be due to the innate toxicity of the RM, where RM of lapatinib could be highly toxic compared to the RM of erlotinib. It may also be attributed to the two agents being metabolized by a different panel of P450 enzymes. Erlotinib is also metabolized by CYP1A2 to a large extent, as compared to lapatinib. Hence, the effect of dexamethasone on the expression of these enzymes may be slightly different. As such, the difference in toxicity may not be due to the effects of

dexamethasone alone, but rather a combination of that with the inherent toxicity of the drug.

7.4 Limitations of study

There were several limitations in this study. Several confounding factors were identified, which include age, liver metastasis status, baseline LFT, underlying liver disease and concurrent usage of hepatotoxic medications. These were either clinically important and/or statistically significant variables between the groups and were all included in the multivariate model for adjustment of the odds ratio. These variables had minimal impact on the risks, where the odds of developing hepatotoxicity in patients receiving dexamethasone were 4.61 (95% CI 1.26 - 16.88) and 4.57 (95% CI 1.23 - 17.00), before and after adjustment respectively. Due to the retrospective nature of this study, HLA allele type (DQA1*02:01 and DRB1*07:01 are identified as risk factors for lapatinib-associated hepatotoxicity [290]), alcohol usage and nutritional status were lacking, which undermined the contribution of additional risk factors for developing hepatotoxicity. [291] Patients may also be using medications or CAM such as St John's Wort obtained elsewhere such as community pharmacies, and these were not captured in this study due to the retrospective nature. Next, it is challenging to define and diagnose drug-induced hepatotoxicity, due to the absence of definitive signs and symptoms, biomarkers and findings such as liver biopsy. [292] This is further complicated by the highly variable onset of injury. Since this was a retrospective study, the schedule for laboratory tests was not standardized and hence highly variable. The robust hepatic responses of repair and regeneration may allow seemingly life-threatening liver injury to subside without clinical consequences, despite continuation of drug therapy [293], making it even more challenging to detect

the onset and recovery of drug-induced liver injury. This study also used a definition of hepatotoxicity which is more lenient than the standard DILI working group criteria, and hence the number of hepatotoxicity events observed could have been inflated. To identify patients who experience full frank DILI, the definition of hepatotoxicity from the DILI Expert Working Group Criteria is defined as any one of the following: more than or equal to five-fold elevation above the ULN for ALT, or more than or equal to two-fold elevation above the ULN for ALP (particularly with accompanying elevations in concentrations of 5'-nucleotidase or γ -glutamyl transpeptidase in the absence of known bone pathology driving the rise in ALP level) or more than or equal to three-fold elevation in ALT concentration and simultaneous elevation of bilirubin concentration exceeding two-fold above the ULN. [294] To capture patients who experience clinically significant changes in hepatic function, we defined hepatotoxicity as patients who have experienced at least one grade of elevation of any liver enzymes compared against baseline, based on the CTCAE criteria. However, the 'milder form' of hepatotoxicity serves as an excellent proxy for the more severe DILI events as they do not frequently occur in clinical practice. This is suggested in literature as the 'adaptive' characteristic of idiosyncratic hepatic injury, where patients who develop full blown hepatotoxicity belongs to a subset of a larger group of patients who develop elevated liver enzymes, and as a consequence of failure to 'adapt' to the initial injury. [251]

7.5 Summary of important findings

This chapter has provided clinical evidence that concomitant usage of lapatinib and dexamethasone increases the risk for hepatotoxicity by five-fold, possibly through the induction of metabolism. The in-vitro findings have also provided substantiating evidence and insights on the role of dexamethasone in lapatinib-induced hepatotoxicity. Since it is not uncommon for them to be prescribed concomitantly, clinicians should be aware of this risk when considering the use of this combination and follow through with close monitoring where necessary. In addition, as supported by the parallel effects of both dexamethasone and rifampicin, caution should be exercised when lapatinib is used with other P450 enzyme inducers. On the other hand, the effect of each DDI may be TKI-specific, as contrasting outcomes of the potential DDI was observed for the combination of lapatinib-dexamethasone and erlotinib-dexamethasone. The difference in outcomes and toxicity may not be due to the effects of the enzyme inducer dexamethasone alone, but rather a combination of that with the inherent toxicity of the drug.

8 Concluding remarks and recommendations for future studies

This thesis aimed to investigate whether pharmacokinetic alterations in TKIs can affect the occurrence of toxicities. Looking at the different aspects of pharmacokinetic alterations such as drug exposure, genetic polymorphisms and drug-drug interactions, this thesis has demonstrated that these factors may play a role in the manifestation of TKI-associated toxicities. Table 35 provides a summary of the important findings in this thesis.

The first aim of this thesis was to explore the association between the manifestation of TKI-associated toxicities and plasma drug levels and consequently, to determine the role of TDM as a possible management strategy for TKI-induced toxicity. In this thesis, a trend of higher drug exposures in patients who experienced toxicities such as mucositis and altered taste was observed. More importantly, several of these toxicities have a significant impact on patient's quality of life. As a drug, sunitinib engenders considerable and unpredictable inter-patient variability; hence therapeutic drug monitoring could be a mean to improve its safety and efficacy. A practical suggestion would be to measure blood concentrations when sunitinib is initiated for the first cycle, to observe whether therapeutic levels are achieved in relation to efficacy and toxicity. This is particularly important in groups such as Asians, women and those with a low body weight, because these factors may affect the accumulation of sunitinib and thereby the risk of toxicity. Total plasma concentration of sunitinib could be used as a marker for therapeutic efficacy, whereas sunitinib levels could be used as a marker for toxicity. If necessary, doses could also be decreased further to meet the minimum effective plasma concentration without affecting the efficacy,

which could potentially lead to cost savings for the patient. Further studies with an active therapeutic drug monitoring component should be conducted to study the feasibility of such a strategy. Furthermore, the parent drug, sunitinib, was found in the in-vitro study to be more toxic to the skin cells than its active equipotent metabolite SU12662. Therefore, in-vitro experiments could also be conducted with other cell types to compare the effect of sunitinib and SU12662 on various toxicities.

As the disposition of TKIs could play a role in explaining the differences in response and in toxicities observed, this thesis aimed to explore the role of genetic polymorphism in TKI-associated toxicities, by investigating the association between genetic polymorphisms of key drug metabolizing enzyme and drug transporters and their risk for toxicities. The thesis demonstrated that ABCB1 may be associated with manifestation of toxicities and drug exposure, but corresponding effect with the polymorphism of CYP3A5 is not apparent. Future studies involving a larger sample should be conducted to confirm these findings. If the role of the ABCB1 polymorphism on exposure and toxicities is confirmed in larger studies, genotyping for ABCB1 and therapeutic drug monitoring should be considered in clinical practice to aid in the personalization of drug therapy. By ensuring that the optimal dose is prescribed to the right patient according to the genotype, we can achieve maximum efficacy with minimal toxicity.

Finally, the last aim of this thesis was to assess the effect of metabolism-related pharmacokinetic drug-drug interactions on risk for TKI-associated toxicity. Due to the substantial potential for interaction between TKIs and other drugs that modulate the activity of metabolic pathways, unwanted clinical consequences may occur from small changes in drug metabolism and pharmacokinetics in cancer patients. In addition, TKIs possess several risk factors for developing DILI. It is imperative that comprehensive and accurate information be collected on use of medications by patients, to increase awareness and familiarity with potential DDIs to ensure patient safety and to aid the development of optimal therapy. [295, 296] To reduce the potential for unexpected drug interactions during therapy, the patient's medical history should be taken thoroughly and interactively, and updated periodically. [297] Patients who have risk factors for potential DDIs should also be monitored more closely. Risk factors for potential DDIs include liver function status, age, tumor type [298], number and type of medications received [299] and using drugs that are metabolized exclusively by only one CYP isoform. [300] When drugs with potential DDIs are considered with TKIs use, clinicians should also consider alternative agents that have no or less interaction potential. However, it is also important to note that in some cases, switching to an alternative agent may not have any significant difference on the pharmacokinetic profile. For instance, azithromycin exhibits a low potential for interaction. Likewise, there was no significant effect of oral clarithromycin or azithromycin on the pharmacokinetic profile of sunitinib after single administration. [301] As the clinical effects of these potential interactions are unknown, when drug pairs with potential DDIs need to be used (e.g. in cases where there is a compelling indication for the potential interacting drug to be used), more intense patient monitoring for interactions is needed. Scripture et al has provided a valuable summary of the conditions where drug interactions are likely to be clinically significant, such as when drug elimination occurs primarily through a single metabolic pathway or when one or both of the interacting drugs has a steep dose-response curve or a narrow

therapeutic range etc. [173] Furthermore, the effect of each DDI may be TKI-specific, as contrasting outcomes of the potential DDI was observed for the combination of lapatinib-dexamethasone and erlotinib-dexamethasone. The difference in outcomes and toxicity may not be due to the effects of the enzyme inducer dexamethasone alone, but rather a combination of that with the inherent toxicity of the drug.

This thesis has also evaluated how a TKI-associated DDI may affect the risk of hepatotoxicity. The findings demonstrated that patients receiving TKIs were 4-times more likely to develop hepatotoxicity compared to patients receiving placebo. Future studies should be conducted to investigate the mechanism of TKI-associated hepatotoxicity, which is largely idiosyncratic, to determine which RM is culpable for the toxicity and how it causes toxicity. It is also evident that formation of RM alone may not be sufficient for the manifestation of toxicity, for instance, genetic polymorphism in HLA genes may be studied as they could play an important role in the development of immune response to trigger an overt toxicity. In addition, this thesis has also demonstrated both clinical and in-vitro evidence suggests that concomitant usage of lapatinib and dexamethasone increases the risk for hepatotoxicity. Future studies will aim to examine the effects on efficacy and toxicity from drug interaction with other agents. Although explicit cases of TKI-induced hepatotoxicity may be rare, they often occur in a background of higher rate of mild, asymptomatic and usually transient liver injury. Patients who do not adapt to this mild injury will then move on to develop progressive liver injury. Notwithstanding patient risk factors such as age, gender, concurrent diseases, other drug exposures and immunological dispositions, the TKI itself with its unique physicochemical properties and propensity for metabolism, is associated with several risk factors for developing

DILI. Hence, periodic and continual monitoring of LFTs are vital for early detection of injury. Although the product information leaflets of these TKIs do provide some recommendations on the monitoring of LFTs, the quality of the information is inconsistent and more extensive details should be provided. For example, information can be provided on what is the recommended threshold of LFTs elevation to discontinue the TKI, when can TKI be restarted in cases of elevated LFTs, or should they be permanently discontinued. A more comprehensive guidance can aid the clinicians in management of their patients and improved confidence in managing the hepatotoxicity cases. Ultimately, by understanding the different hepatic mechanisms underlying the interaction between the drugs involved in a pharmacotherapy may improve the management strategies for co-administration of drugs.

In conclusion, TKIs have successfully transformed many cancers from a death sentence to a chronic disease. Furthermore, with the unceasing discovery of new anticancer drugs, the outlook is promising. However, these new drugs are also a harbinger of more challenges such treatment tolerability and health outcomes. While we cannot have the best of both worlds at the moment, with continual research in the understanding and management of toxicities as well as the development of improved drugs, perhaps someday in the future we can.

Aims	Research questions	Important findings
1. To explore the association between the manifestation of	What is the association between plasma level of sunitinib and/or active metabolite and the manifestation of toxicity?	Trend of higher exposures in patients who experienced toxicities
TKI-associated toxicities and plasma drug levels	What is the difference in the in- vitro toxic potential of sunitinib vs. its active metabolite?	Sunitinib more toxic towards keratinocytes while both sunitinib and metabolite were equally toxic to hepatocytes
2. To explore the role of genetic polymorphism in TKI-associated toxicities	What is the association between CYP3A5 and ABCB1 SNPs with the manifestation of toxicity?	ABCB1 may be associated with manifestation of toxicities, but the polymorphism of CYP3A5 is not
	What is the association between CYP3A5 and ABCB1 SNPs with the plasma level of sunitinib and/or active metabolite?	ABCB1 may be associated with drug exposure, but the polymorphism of CYP3A5 is not
3. To assess the effect of metabolism-related pharmacokinetic drug-drug interactions on risk for TKI-associated toxicity	What is the role of metabolism- related DDIs in TKI therapy?	Due to the substantial potential for interaction between TKIs and other drugs that modulate the activity of metabolic pathways, unwanted clinical consequences may occur from small changes in drug metabolism and pharmacokinetics in cancer patients
	What is the risk of TKI-induced hepatotoxicity in cancer patients?	Patients receiving TKIs were 4- times more likely to develop hepatotoxicity compared to patients receiving placebo
	Why is TKI at risk for hepatotoxicity?	TKIs possess several risk factors for developing DILI
	Does the CYP3A4 inducer, dexamethasone, affect the incidence of hepatotoxicity of lapatinib?	Both clinical and in-vitro evidence suggests that concomitant usage of lapatinib and dexamethasone increases the risk for hepatotoxicity

Table 35. Summary of imp	portant findings
--------------------------	------------------

9 Publications arising from this work

9.1 Peer-review articles

- Teo YL, Wee HL, Chue XP, Chau NM, Tan MH, Kanesvaran R, Wee HL, Ho HK, Chan A. Effect of the CYP3A5 and ABCB1 genotype on exposure, clinical response and manifestation of toxicities from sunitinib in Asian patients. Pharmacogenomics. 2015 Mar 17. doi: 10.1038/tpj.2015.13.
- Teo YL, Chue XP, Chau NM, Tan MH, Kanesvaran R, Wee HL, Ho HK, Chan A. Association of drug exposure with clinical response and toxicity in metastatic renal-cell carcinoma patients receiving an attenuated dosing regimen of sunitinib. Target Oncol. 2014 Dec 13. doi: 10.1007/s11523-014-0349-2
- Teo YL, Ho HK, Chan A. Formation of reactive metabolites and management of tyrosine kinase inhibitors-induced hepatotoxicity: A literature review. Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol. 2014 Nov 15:1-12.
- 4. Teo YL, Ho HK, Chan A. Metabolism-related pharmacokinetic drug-drug interactions in tyrosine kinase inhibitors: current understanding, challenges and recommendations. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2014 Aug 14. doi: 10.1111/bcp.12496.
- 5. Teo YL, Chong XJ, Chue XP, Chau NM, Tan MH, Kanesvaran R, Wee HL, Ho HK, Chan A. Role of sunitinib and SU12662 on dermatological toxicities in

metastatic renal cell carcinoma patients: in-vitro, in-vivo and outcomes investigation. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 2014 Feb;73(2):381-8

- Teo YL, Ho HK, Chan A. Risk of tyrosine kinase inhibitors-induced hepatotoxicity in cancer patients: a meta-analysis. Cancer Treatment Review. 2013; 39(2):199-206.
- Teo YL, Saetaew M, Chanthawong S, Yap YS, Chan EC, Ho HK, Chan A. Effect of CYP3A4 inducer dexamethasone on hepatotoxicity of lapatinib: clinical and in vitro evidence. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2012; 133(2): 703-11.
- Teo YL, Tan SY, Chue XP, Chau NM, Tan MH, Kanesvaran R, Ho HK, Wee HL, Chan A. Patient-reported outcomes in Asian metastatic renal cell carcinoma (mRCC) patients receiving an attenuated dosing of sunitinib. (under review)

9.2 Published abstracts and conference presentations

- Teo YL, Chue XP, Chau NM, Tan MH, Wee HL, Ho HK, Kanesvaran R, Chan A. Toxicities and patient reported outcomes in elderly Asian patients receiving an attenuated dosing of sunitinib for metastatic renal cell carcinoma. J Geriatr Oncol. 2014 Jul;5 Suppl 1:S19. SIOG Asia Pacific Conference, Singapore, 2014.
- Kanesvaran R, Teo YL, Chue XP, Chau NM, Tan MH, Wee HL, Ho HK, Chan A. Association between clinical response and toxicities with drug exposure in an alternative dosing regimen of sunitinib. J Clin Oncol 32, 2014 (suppl 4; abstr 439) Genitourinary Cancers Symposium, San Francisco, CA, USA, 2014.

- 3. Teo YL, Wee HL, Chue XP, Chau NM, Tan MH, Kanesvaran R, Wee HL, Ho HK, Chan A. Association of CYP3A5 polymorphism with toxicities in metastatic renal cell carcinoma patients (mRCC) receiving an alternative dosing (AD) regimen of sunitinib. Support Care Cancer 21, 2013 (Suppl 1):S220. MASCC/ISOO International Symposium on Supportive Care in Cancer, Berlin, 2013.
- 4. Teo YL, Chong XJ, Chue XP, Chau NM, Tan MH, Kanesvaran R, Wee HL, Ho HK, Chan A. Determining the role of sunitinib and its active metabolite (SU12662) on hand-foot syndrome (HFS) in metastatic renal cell carcinoma (mRCC) patients. Support Care Cancer 21, 2013 (Suppl 1):S169. MASCC/ISOO International Symposium on Supportive Care in Cancer, Berlin, 2013.
- 5. Teo YL, Chue XP, Chau NM, Tan MH, Kanesvaran R, Wee HL, Ho HK, Chan A. Association of drug exposure with clinical response and toxicities in metastatic renal cell carcinoma patients (mRCC) receiving an alternative dosing (AD) regimen of sunitinib. J Clin Oncol, 2013 (suppl; abstr e13582). ASCO Annual Meeting, USA, 2013
- 6. Teo YL, Chue XP, Chau NM, Tan MH, Kanesvaran R, Wee HL, Ho HK, Chan A. Exploration of the association between pharmacokinetics of sunitinib and treatment-related toxicities in the metastatic renal cell carcinoma (mRCC) treatment of Asian patients. Singhealth Duke-NUS Scientific Congress 2012.
- 7. Teo YL, Saetaew M, Chanthawong S, Yap YS, Chan EC, Ho HK, Chan A. Liver enzymes elevation due to concurrent dexamethasone and lapatinib: Clinical and in

vitro evidence. J Clin Oncol 30, 2012 (suppl; abstr e13023). ASCO Annual Meeting, USA, 2012

10 References

- 1. *Cancer fact sheet.* 2012 [cited 2014 November]; Available from: <u>http://globocan.iarc.fr/Pages/fact_sheets_cancer.aspx</u>.
- 2. O'Brien, S.G., et al., *Imatinib compared with interferon and low-dose cytarabine for newly diagnosed chronic-phase chronic myeloid leukemia*. New England Journal of Medicine, 2003. **348**(11): p. 994-1004.
- 3. Verweij, J., et al., *Progression-free survival in gastrointestinal stromal tumours with high-dose imatinib: randomised trial.* Lancet, 2004. **364**(9440): p. 1127-34.
- 4. Kim, E.S., et al., *Gefitinib versus docetaxel in previously treated non-small-cell lung cancer (INTEREST): a randomised phase III trial.* Lancet, 2008. **372**(9652): p. 1809-18.
- 5. Shepherd, F.A., et al., *Erlotinib in previously treated non-small-cell lung cancer*. New England Journal of Medicine, 2005. **353**(2): p. 123-32.
- 6. *Gilotrif (afatinib) prescribing information*, 2013, Boehringer Ingelheim.
- 7. Motzer, R.J., et al., Overall survival and updated results for sunitinib compared with interferon alfa in patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma. Journal of Clinical Oncology, 2009. **27**(22): p. 3584-3590.
- 8. Llovet, J.M., et al., *Sorafenib in advanced hepatocellular carcinoma*. New England Journal of Medicine, 2008. **359**(4): p. 378-390.
- 9. Gerber, D.E., *Targeted therapies: a new generation of cancer treatments*. American Family Physician, 2008. **77**(3): p. 311-9.
- 10. Orphanos, G.S., G.N. Ioannidis, and A.G. Ardavanis, *Cardiotoxicity induced by tyrosine kinase inhibitors*. Acta Oncologica, 2009. **48**(7): p. 964-970.
- 11. Sternberg, C.N., et al., *Pazopanib in locally advanced or metastatic renal cell carcinoma: Results of a randomized phase III trial.* Journal of Clinical Oncology, 2010. **28**(6): p. 1061-1068.
- 12. FDA Drug Safety Communication: FDA requires multiple new safety measures for leukemia drug Iclusig; company expected to resume marketing, 2013, U.S. Food and Drug Administration.
- 13. *Inlyta (axitinib) prescribing information*, 2013, Pfizer.
- 14. *Bosulif (bosutinib) prescribing information*, 2013, Pfizer.
- 15. *Cometriq (cabozantinib) prescribing information*, 2012, Exelixis.
- 16. Zykadia (ceritinib) prescribing information, 2014, Novartis.
- 17. *Xalkori (crizotinib) prescribing information*, 2014, Pfizer.
- 18. Sprycel (dasatinib) prescribing information, 2014, Bristol-Myers Squibb.
- 19. *Tarceva (erlotinib) prescribing information*, 2014, OSI Pharmaceuticals.
- 20. *Iressa (gefitinib) prescribing information*, 2005, AstraZeneca.
- 21. *Gleevec (imatinib) prescribing information*, 2014, Novartis.
- 22. *Tykerb (lapatinib) prescribing information*, 2013, GlaxoSmithKline.
- 23. Tasigna (nilotinib) prescribing information, 2014, Novartis.
- 24. *Votrient (pazopanib) prescribing information*, 2014, GlaxoSmithKline.
- 25. *Iclusig (ponatinib) prescribing information*, 2014, Ariad Pharmaceuticals.
- 26. Stivarga (regorafenib) prescribing information, 2013, Bayer.
- 27. Nexavar (sorafenib) prescribing information, 2013, Bayer.
- 28. Sutent (sunitinib) prescribing information, 2013, Pfizer.
- 29. *Caprelsa (vandetanib) prescribing information*, 2014, AstraZeneca.
- 30. le Coutre, P., et al., *Pharmacokinetics and cellular uptake of imatinib and its main metabolite CGP74588.* Cancer Chemotherapy and Pharmacology, 2004. **53**(4): p. 313-23.

- 31. Faivre, S., et al., *Safety, pharmacokinetic, and antitumor activity of SU11248, a novel oral multitarget tyrosine kinase inhibitor, in patients with cancer.* Journal of Clinical Oncology, 2006. **24**(1): p. 25-35.
- 32. Hurwitz, H.I., et al., *Phase I trial of pazopanib in patients with advanced cancer*. Clinical Cancer Research, 2009. **15**(12): p. 4220-7.
- 33. Xu, C.F., et al., Association of the hemochromatosis gene with pazopanib-induced transaminase elevation in renal cell carcinoma. Journal of Hepatology, 2011. **54**(6): p. 1237-43.
- 34. Klumpen, H.J., et al., *Moving towards dose individualization of tyrosine kinase inhibitors.* Cancer Treatment Reviews, 2011. **37**(4): p. 251-60.
- 35. Gao, B., et al., *Evidence for therapeutic drug monitoring of targeted anticancer therapies.* Journal of Clinical Oncology, 2012. **30**(32): p. 4017-25.
- 36. Devriese, L.A., et al., *Effects of low-fat and high-fat meals on steady-state pharmacokinetics of lapatinib in patients with advanced solid tumours.* Invest New Drugs, 2014. **32**(3): p. 481-8.
- 37. Heath, E.I., et al., *A phase I study of the pharmacokinetic and safety profiles of oral pazopanib with a high-fat or low-fat meal in patients with advanced solid tumors.* Clin Pharmacol Ther, 2010. **88**(6): p. 818-23.
- Gibbons, J., et al., Phase I and pharmacokinetic study of imatinib mesylate in patients with advanced malignancies and varying degrees of renal dysfunction: a study by the National Cancer Institute Organ Dysfunction Working Group. J Clin Oncol, 2008.
 26(4): p. 570-6.
- 39. Bello, C.L., et al., *Effect of food on the pharmacokinetics of sunitinib malate* (SU11248), a multi-targeted receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitor: results from a phase I study in healthy subjects. Anticancer Drugs, 2006. **17**(3): p. 353-8.
- 40. Houk, B.E., et al., A population pharmacokinetic meta-analysis of sunitinib malate (SU11248) and its primary metabolite (SU12662) in healthy volunteers and oncology patients. Clinical Cancer Research, 2009. **15**(7): p. 2497-2506.
- 41. Huillard, O., et al., Sarcopenia and body mass index predict sunitinib-induced early dose-limiting toxicities in renal cancer patients. Br J Cancer, 2013. **108**(5): p. 1034-41.
- 42. van der Veldt, A.A., et al., *Predictive factors for severe toxicity of sunitinib in unselected patients with advanced renal cell cancer*. Br J Cancer, 2008. **99**(2): p. 259-65.
- 43. Evans, W.E. and J.A. Johnson, *Pharmacogenomics: the inherited basis for interindividual differences in drug response*. Annual Review of Genomics and Human Genetics, 2001. **2**: p. 9-39.
- 44. Widmer, N., et al., *Review of therapeutic drug monitoring of anticancer drugs part two--targeted therapies*. European Journal of Cancer, 2014. **50**(12): p. 2020-36.
- 45. Houk, B.E., et al., *Relationship between exposure to sunitinib and efficacy and tolerability endpoints in patients with cancer: Results of a pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic meta-analysis.* Cancer Chemotherapy and Pharmacology, 2010. **66**(2): p. 357-371.
- 46. Soulieres, D., et al., *Multicenter phase II study of erlotinib, an oral epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitor, in patients with recurrent or metastatic squamous cell cancer of the head and neck.* Journal of Clinical Oncology, 2004. **22**(1): p. 77-85.
- 47. Nakamura, Y., et al., *Pharmacokinetics of gefitinib predicts antitumor activity for advanced non-small cell lung cancer*. Journal of Thoracic Oncology, 2010. **5**(9): p. 1404-9.
- 48. Zhao, Y.Y., et al., The relationship between drug exposure and clinical outcomes of non-small cell lung cancer patients treated with gefitinib. Medical Oncology, 2011. 28(3): p. 697-702.

- 49. Demetri, G.D., et al., *Imatinib plasma levels are correlated with clinical benefit in patients with unresectable/metastatic gastrointestinal stromal tumors.* Journal of Clinical Oncology, 2009. **27**(19): p. 3141-7.
- 50. Guilhot, F., et al., *Plasma exposure of imatinib and its correlation with clinical response in the Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitor Optimization and Selectivity Trial.* Haematologica, 2012. **97**(5): p. 731-8.
- 51. Widmer, N., et al., *Relationship of imatinib-free plasma levels and target genotype with efficacy and tolerability.* British Journal of Cancer, 2008. **98**(10): p. 1633-40.
- 52. Picard, S., et al., *Trough imatinib plasma levels are associated with both cytogenetic and molecular responses to standard-dose imatinib in chronic myeloid leukemia.* Blood, 2007. **109**(8): p. 3496-9.
- 53. Giles, F.J., et al., *Nilotinib population pharmacokinetics and exposure-response analysis in patients with imatinib-resistant or -intolerant chronic myeloid leukemia.* European Journal of Clinical Pharmacology, 2013. **69**(4): p. 813-23.
- 54. Suttle, B., et al., *Relationship between exposure to pazopanib (P) and efficacy in patients (pts) with advanced renal cell carcinoma (mRCC)*. Journal of Clinical Oncology, 2010. **28 (15. Suppl)**: p. 3048.
- 55. Wind, S., et al., *Pharmacokinetics of afatinib, a selective irreversible ErbB family blocker, in patients with advanced solid tumours.* Clinical Pharmacokinetics, 2013. **52**(12): p. 1101-1109.
- 56. Tiseo, M., et al., *Correlation between erlotinib pharmacokinetics, cutaneous toxicity and clinical outcomes in patients with advanced non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC).* Lung Cancer, 2014. **83**(2): p. 265-71.
- 57. Lu, J.F., et al., *Clinical pharmacokinetics of erlotinib in patients with solid tumors and exposure-safety relationship in patients with non-small cell lung cancer*. Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics, 2006. **80**(2): p. 136-45.
- 58. Li, J., et al., *CYP3A phenotyping approach to predict systemic exposure to EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors.* Journal of the National Cancer Institute, 2006. **98**(23): p. 1714-23.
- 59. Delbaldo, C., et al., *Pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic relationships of imatinib and its main metabolite in patients with advanced gastrointestinal stromal tumors.* Clinical Cancer Research, 2006. **12**(20 Pt 1): p. 6073-8.
- 60. Larson, R.A., et al., *Population pharmacokinetic and exposure-response analysis of nilotinib in patients with newly diagnosed Ph+ chronic myeloid leukemia in chronic phase*. European Journal of Clinical Pharmacology, 2012. **68**(5): p. 723-33.
- 61. Lin, Y., et al., *Relationship between plasma pazopanib concentration and incidence of adverse events in renal cell carcinoma*. Journal of Clinical Oncology, 2011. **29** (Supp 7): p. 345.
- 62. Blanchet, B., et al., *Validation of an HPLC-UV method for sorafenib determination in human plasma and application to cancer patients in routine clinical practice.* Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis, 2009. **49**(4): p. 1109-14.
- 63. Fukudo, M., et al., *Exposure-toxicity relationship of sorafenib in Japanese patients* with renal cell carcinoma and hepatocellular carcinoma. Clinical Pharmacokinetics, 2014. **53**(2): p. 185-96.
- 64. Boudou-Rouquette, P., et al., *Early sorafenib-induced toxicity is associated with drug exposure and UGTIA9 genetic polymorphism in patients with solid tumors: a preliminary study.* PLoS One, 2012. **7**(8): p. e42875.
- 65. Hertz, D.L. and H.L. McLeod, *Use of pharmacogenetics for predicting cancer prognosis and treatment exposure, response and toxicity.* Journal of Human Genetics, 2013. **58**(6): p. 346-352.
- 66. Evans, W.E. and M.V. Relling, *Pharmacogenomics: translating functional genomics into rational therapeutics*. Science, 1999. **286**(5439): p. 487-91.
- 67. Weinshilboum, R., *Inheritance and drug response*. N Engl J Med, 2003. **348**(6): p. 529-37.

- 68. Balram, C., et al., *CYP3A5*3 and *6 single nucleotide polymorphisms in three distinct Asian populations*. European Journal of Clinical Pharmacology, 2003. **59**(2): p. 123-126.
- 69. Leschziner, G.D., et al., *ABCB1 genotype and PGP expression, function and therapeutic drug response: A critical review and recommendations for future research.* Pharmacogenomics Journal, 2007. **7**(3): p. 154-179.
- 70. *Product label information*. [cited 2014 November]; Available from: <u>http://www.accessdata.fda.gov/scripts/cder/drugsatfda/index.cfm</u>.
- 71. *European public assessment reports*. [cited 2014 November]; Available from: <u>http://www.ema.europa.eu/ema/index.jsp?curl=pages/includes/medicines/medic ines_landing_page.jsp&mid=</u>.
- 72. Lees, J. and A. Chan, *Polypharmacy in elderly patients with cancer: Clinical implications and management*. The Lancet Oncology, 2011. **12**(13): p. 1249-1257.
- 73. Kruse, V., et al., Sunitinib for metastatic renal cell cancer patients: Observational study highlighting the risk of important drug-drug interactions. Journal of Clinical Pharmacy and Therapeutics, 2014.
- 74. Fujita, K.I., *Cytochrome P450 and anticancer drugs*. Current Drug Metabolism, 2006. **7**(1): p. 23-37.
- 75. Josephs, D.H., et al., *Clinical pharmacokinetics of tyrosine kinase inhibitors: Implications for therapeutic drug monitoring.* Therapeutic Drug Monitoring, 2013. **35**(5): p. 562-587.
- 76. Yu, H., et al., *Practical guidelines for therapeutic drug monitoring of anticancer tyrosine kinase inhibitors: Focus on the pharmacokinetic targets.* Clinical Pharmacokinetics, 2014. **53**(4): p. 305-325.
- 77. Widmer, N., et al., *Review of therapeutic drug monitoring of anticancer drugs part two Targeted therapies.* European Journal of Cancer, 2014. **50**(12): p. 2020-2036.
- 78. de Jonge, M.E., et al., *Individualised cancer chemotherapy: strategies and performance of prospective studies on therapeutic drug monitoring with dose adaptation: a review.* Clinical Pharmacokinetics, 2005. **44**(2): p. 147-73.
- 79. Motzer, R.J., et al., *Sunitinib versus Interferon Alfa in Metastatic Renal-Cell Carcinoma*. New England Journal of Medicine, 2007. **356**(2): p. 115-124.
- 80. Motzer, R.J., et al., *Overall survival in renal-cell carcinoma with pazopanib versus sunitinib.* New England Journal of Medicine, 2014. **370**(18): p. 1769-70.
- 81. Abrams, T.J., et al., *SU11248 inhibits KIT and platelet-derived growth factor receptor beta in preclinical models of human small cell lung cancer*. Molecular Cancer Therapeutics, 2003. **2**(5): p. 471-8.
- 82. Mendel, D.B., et al., *In vivo antitumor activity of SU11248, a novel tyrosine kinase inhibitor targeting vascular endothelial growth factor and platelet-derived growth factor receptors: determination of a pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic relationship.* Clinical Cancer Research, 2003. **9**(1): p. 327-37.
- 83. Gore, M.E., et al., *Safety and efficacy of sunitivib for metastatic renal-cell carcinoma: an expanded-access trial.* The Lancet Oncology, 2009. **10**(8): p. 757-763.
- 84. Yoo, C., et al., *The efficacy and safety of sunitinib in Korean patients with advanced renal cell carcinoma: High incidence of toxicity leads to frequent dose reduction.* Japanese Journal of Clinical Oncology, 2010. **40**(10): p. 980-985.
- 85. Lee, S.H., et al., Sunitinib in metastatic renal cell carcinoma: An ethnic asian subpopulation analysis for safety and efficacy. Asia-Pacific Journal of Clinical Oncology, 2014. **10**(3): p. 237-245.
- 86. Tan, H.S., et al., *Efficacy and Safety of an Attenuated-Dose Sunitinib Regimen in Metastatic Renal Cell Carcinoma: Results from a Prospective Registry in Singapore*, in *Clin Genitourin Cancer*2014, Elsevier.
- 87. Geyer, C.E., et al., *Lapatinib plus capecitabine for HER2-positive advanced breast cancer*. New England Journal of Medicine, 2006. **355**(26): p. 2733-2743.

- 88. Johnston, S., et al., *Lapatinib combined with letrozole versus letrozole and placebo as first-line therapy for postmenopausal hormone receptor Positive metastatic breast cancer*. Journal of Clinical Oncology, 2009. **27**(33): p. 5538-5546.
- 89. Teng, W.C., et al., *Mechanism-based inactivation of cytochrome P450 3A4 by lapatinib*. Molecular Pharmacology, 2010. **78**(4): p. 693-703.
- 90. Takakusa, H., et al., *Metabolic Intermediate Complex Formation of Human Cytochrome P450 3A4 by Lapatinib.* Drug Metabolism and Disposition, 2011. **39**(6): p. 1022-30.
- 91. Chan, E.C.Y., et al., *Interaction of lapatinib with cytochrome P450 3A5*. Drug Metabolism and Disposition, 2012. **40**(7): p. 1414-1422.
- 92. Srivastava, A., et al., Role of reactive metabolites in drug-induced hepatotoxicity, in Adverse Drug Reactions, Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology2010. p. 165-194.
- 93. Dahlin, D.C., et al., *N-acetyl-p-benzoquinone imine: a cytochrome P-450-mediated oxidation product of acetaminophen.* Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 1984. **81**(5): p. 1327-1331.
- 94. Guo, G.L., et al., *Enhanced acetaminophen toxicity by activation of the pregnane X receptor*. Toxicological Sciences, 2004. **82**(2): p. 374-380.
- 95. Lammert, C., et al., *Relationship between daily dose of oral medications and idiosyncratic drug-induced liver injury: search for signals.* Hepatology, 2008. **47**(6): p. 2003-9.
- 96. Yu, K., et al., *High daily dose and being a substrate of cytochrome P450 enzymes are two important predictors of drug-induced liver injury.* Drug Metabolism and Disposition, 2014. **42**(4): p. 744-750.
- 97. Hirsch, B.R., et al., Use of "Real-World" data to describe adverse events during the treatment of metastatic renal cell carcinoma in routine clinical practice. Medical Oncology, 2014. **31**(9): p. 156.
- 98. Micromedex, *Micromedex* 2.0, 2011, Thomson Reuters (Healthcare).
- 99. Lexi-Comp, *Lexi-Comp*, 2011, Lexi-Comp Inc.
- 100. Etienne-Grimaldi, M.C., et al., A routine feasible HPLC analysis for the antiangiogenic tyrosine kinase inhibitor, sunitinib, and its main metabolite, SU12662, in plasma. Journal of Chromatography. B, Analytical Technologies in the Biomedical and Life Sciences, 2009. **877**(29): p. 3757-3761.
- 101. Blanchet, B., et al., *Development and validation of an HPLC-UV-visible method for sunitinib quantification in human plasma*. Clinica Chimica Acta, 2009. **404**(2): p. 134-139.
- 102. Eisenhauer, E.A., et al., New response evaluation criteria in solid tumours: Revised RECIST guideline (version 1.1). European Journal of Cancer, 2009. **45**(2): p. 228-247.
- 103. Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (CTCAE) Version 4.0.2, 2009, National Institutes of Health, National Cancer Institute.
- 104. Lankheet, N.A.G., et al., *Pharmacokinetically guided sunitinib dosing: A feasibility study in patients with advanced solid tumours.* British Journal of Cancer, 2014. **110**(10): p. 2441-2449.
- 105. Parkinson, A., et al., The effects of gender, age, ethnicity, and liver cirrhosis on cytochrome P450 enzyme activity in human liver microsomes and inducibility in cultured human hepatocytes. Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology, 2004. 199(3): p. 193-209.
- 106. Meibohm, B., I. Beierle, and H. Derendorf, *How important are gender differences in pharmacokinetics*? Clinical Pharmacokinetics, 2002. **41**(5): p. 329-342.
- 107. Aparicio-Gallego, G., et al., *New Insights into Molecular Mechanisms of Sunitinib-Associated Side Effects.* Molecular Cancer Therapeutics, 2011. **10**(12): p. 2215-2223.
- 108. Porta, C., et al., Uncovering Pandora's vase: the growing problem of new toxicities from novel anticancer agents. The case of sorafenib and sunitinib. Clinical and Experimental Medicine, 2007. **7**(4): p. 127-34.

- 109. Detmar, M., et al., *Keratinocyte-Derived Vascular Permeability Factor (Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor) Is a Potent Mitogen for Dermal Microvascular Endothelial Cells.* The Journal of Investigative Dermatology, 1995. **105**(1): p. 44-50.
- 110. Robert, C., et al., *Cutaneous side-effects of kinase inhibitors and blocking antibodies*. The Lancet Oncology, 2005. **6**(7): p. 491-500.
- 111. Lacouture, M.E., et al., Evolving Strategies for the Management of Hand–Foot Skin Reaction Associated with the Multitargeted Kinase Inhibitors Sorafenib and Sunitinib. Oncologist, 2008. **13**(9): p. 1001-1011.
- 112. Tsai, K.Y., et al., *Hand-foot syndrome and seborrheic dermatitis-like rash induced by sunitinib in a patient with advanced renal cell carcinoma*. Journal of Clinical Oncology, 2006. **24**(36): p. 5786-8.
- 113. Yamamoto, K., et al., Association of toxicity of sorafenib and sunitinib for human keratinocytes with inhibition of signal transduction and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3). PLoS One, 2014. **9**(7): p. e102110.
- 114. Man, X.Y., et al., *Immunolocalization and expression of vascular endothelial growth factor receptors (VEGFRs) and neuropilins (NRPs) on keratinocytes in human epidermis.* Molecular Medicine, 2006. **12**(7-8): p. 127-36.
- 115. Boukamp, P., et al., Normal keratinization in a spontaneously immortalized aneuploid human keratinocyte cell line. The Journal of Cell Biology, 1988. **106**(3): p. 761-771.
- 116. Vazquez, R., et al., Immortalized human keratinocytes: A model system to study the efficacy of therapeutic drugs in response to the chemical warfare agent sulfur mustard (HD). Electronic Journal of Biotechnology, 2004. 7: p. 124-129.
- 117. Benavides, T., et al., Assessment of primary eye and skin irritants by in vitro cytotoxicity and phototoxicity models: an in vitro approach of new arginine-based surfactant-induced irritation. Toxicology, 2004. **197**(3): p. 229-37.
- 118. Korting, H.C., et al., *Discrimination of the irritancy potential of surfactants in vitro* by two cytotoxicity assays using normal human keratinocytes, HaCaT cells and 3T3 mouse fibroblasts: correlation with in vivo data from a soap chamber assay. Journal of Dermatological Science, 1994. **7**(2): p. 119-29.
- 119. Nogueira, D.R., et al., Comparative sensitivity of tumor and non-tumor cell lines as a reliable approach for in vitro cytotoxicity screening of lysine-based surfactants with potential pharmaceutical applications. International Journal of Pharmaceutics, 2011.
 420(1): p. 51-8.
- 120. Pfeifer, A.M.A., et al., Simian virus 40 large tumor antigen-immortalized normal human liver epithelial cells express hepatocyte characteristics and metabolize chemical carcinogens. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 1993. **90**(11): p. 5123-5127.
- 121. Vermeir, M., et al., Cell-based models to study hepatic drug metabolism and enzyme induction in humans. Expert Opinion on Drug Metabolism and Toxicology, 2005.
 1(1): p. 75-90.
- 122. Wu, J.C., et al., Autonomous growth in serum-free medium and production of hepatocellular carcinomas by differentiated hepatocyte lines that overexpress transforming growth factor α. Cancer Research, 1994. **54**(22): p. 5964-5973.
- 123. Pierce, R.H., et al., *Cell culture model for acetaminophen-induced hepatocyte death in vivo*. Biochemical Pharmacology, 2002. **64**(3): p. 413-424.
- Mosmann, T., Rapid colorimetric assay for cellular growth and survival: Application to proliferation and cytotoxicity assays. Journal of Immunological Methods, 1983. 65(1-2): p. 55-63.
- 125. Sylvester, P.W., *Optimization of the tetrazolium dye (MTT) colorimetric assay for cellular growth and viability.* Methods in Molecular Biology 2011. **716**: p. 157-168.
- 126. Lee, W.J., et al., *Cutaneous adverse effects in patients treated with the multitargeted kinase inhibitors sorafenib and sunitinib.* British Journal of Dermatology, 2009. **161**(5): p. 1045-1051.

- 127. Cella, D., Quality of life in patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma: The importance of patient-reported outcomes. Cancer Treatment Reviews, 2009. **35**(8): p. 733-737.
- 128. Cella, D., Beyond traditional outcomes: improving quality of life in patients with renal cell carcinoma. Oncologist, 2011. **16 Suppl 2**: p. 23-31.
- 129. Rabin, R. and F. de Charro, *EQ-5D: a measure of health status from the EuroQol Group.* Annals of Medicine, 2001. **33**(5): p. 337-43.
- 130. Pickard, A.S., M.P. Neary, and D. Cella, *Estimation of minimally important* differences in EQ-5D utility and VAS scores in cancer. Health and Quality of Life Outcomes, 2007. 5: p. 70.
- 131. Cella, D.F., et al., *The Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy scale: development and validation of the general measure.* Journal of Clinical Oncology, 1993. **11**(3): p. 570-9.
- 132. Webster, K., D. Cella, and K. Yost, *The Functional Assessment of Chronic Illness Therapy (FACIT) Measurement System: properties, applications, and interpretation.* Health and Quality of Life Outcomes, 2003. 1: p. 79.
- 133. Brucker, P.S., et al., *General population and cancer patient norms for the Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy-General (FACT-G).* Evaluation & the Health Professions, 2005. **28**(2): p. 192-211.
- Cella, D., et al., Development and validation of the Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy-Kidney Symptom Index (FKSI). The Journal of Supportive Oncology, 2006. 4(4): p. 191-9.
- 135. Zhang, L., et al., Gefitinib versus placebo as maintenance therapy in patients with locally advanced or metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer (INFORM; C-TONG 0804): A multicentre, double-blind randomised phase 3 trial. The Lancet Oncology, 2012. **13**(5): p. 466-475.
- Leow, M.K., et al., Determinants of Health-Related Quality of Life (HRQoL) in the Multiethnic Singapore Population - A National Cohort Study. PLoS One, 2013. 8(6): p. e67138.
- 137. Hovan, A.J., et al., *A systematic review of dysgeusia induced by cancer therapies*. Supportive Care in Cancer, 2010. **18**(8): p. 1081-7.
- 138. Arakawa-Todo, M., et al., *Management of adverse events in patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma treated with sunitinib and clinical outcomes.* Anticancer Research, 2013. **33**(11): p. 5043-50.
- 139. Nardone, B., et al., *The effect of hand-foot skin reaction associated with the multikinase inhibitors sorafenib and sunitinib on health-related quality of life.* Journal of Drugs in Dermatology, 2012. **11**(11): p. e61-5.
- 140. Kuehl, P., et al., Sequence diversity in CYP3A promoters and characterization of the genetic basis of polymorphic CYP3A5 expression. Nature Genetics, 2001. 27(4): p. 383-391.
- 141. Sugiyama, M., et al., *Sorafenib and sunitinib, two anticancer drugs, inhibit CYP3A4mediated and activate CY3A5-mediated midazolam 1'-hydroxylation.* Drug Metabolism and Disposition, 2011. **39**(5): p. 757-762.
- 142. Garcia-Donas, J., et al., Single nucleotide polymorphism associations with response and toxic effects in patients with advanced renal-cell carcinoma treated with first-line sunitinib: A multicentre, observational, prospective study. The Lancet Oncology, 2011. **12**(12): p. 1143-1150.
- 143. Ameyaw, M.M., et al., *MDR1 pharmacogenetics: frequency of the C3435T mutation in exon 26 is significantly influenced by ethnicity.* Pharmacogenetics, 2001. **11**(3): p. 217-21.
- 144. Hoffmeyer, S., et al., *Functional polymorphisms of the human multidrug-resistance gene: Multiple sequence variations and correlation of one allele with P- glycoprotein expression and activity in vivo.* Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 2000. **97**(7): p. 3473-3478.

- 145. Beuselinck, B., et al., *Efflux pump ABCB1 single nucleotide polymorphisms and dose reductions in patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma treated with sunitinib.* Acta Oncologica, 2014. **53**(10): p. 1413-22.
- 146. Diekstra, M.H.M., et al., Association analysis of genetic polymorphisms in genes related to sunitinib pharmacokinetics, specifically clearance of sunitinib and SU12662. Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics, 2014. **96**(1): p. 81-89.
- 147. van Erp, N.P., et al., *Pharmacogenetic pathway analysis for determination of sunitinib-induced toxicity*. Journal of Clinical Oncology, 2009. **27**(26): p. 4406-12.
- 148. van der Veldt, A.A., et al., Genetic polymorphisms associated with a prolonged progression-free survival in patients with metastatic renal cell cancer treated with sunitinib. Clinical Cancer Research, 2011. **17**(3): p. 620-9.
- 149. Beuselinck, B., et al., *VEGFR1 single nucleotide polymorphisms associated with outcome in patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma treated with sunitinib a multicentric retrospective analysis.* Acta Oncologica, 2014. **53**(1): p. 103-12.
- 150. Kim, H.R., et al., *Pharmacogenetic determinants associated with sunitinib-induced toxicity and ethnic difference in Korean metastatic renal cell carcinoma patients.* Cancer Chemotherapy and Pharmacology, 2013. **72**(4): p. 825-835.
- 151. Eechoute, K., et al., *Polymorphisms in endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) predict sunitinib-induced hypertension.* Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics, 2012. **92**(4): p. 503-10.
- 152. Kim, J.J., et al., Association of VEGF and VEGFR2 single nucleotide polymorphisms with hypertension and clinical outcome in metastatic clear cell renal cell carcinoma patients treated with sunitinib. Cancer, 2012. **118**(7): p. 1946-54.
- 153. Scartozzi, M., et al., VEGF and VEGFR polymorphisms affect clinical outcome in advanced renal cell carcinoma patients receiving first-line sunitinib. British Journal of Cancer, 2013. **108**(5): p. 1126-32.
- 154. Fukuen, S., et al., *Novel detection assay by PCR-RFLP and frequency of the CYP3A5 SNPs, CYP3A5*3 and *6, in a Japanese population.* Pharmacogenetics, 2002. **12**(4): p. 331-334.
- 155. Cizmarikova, M., et al., *MDR1 (C3435T) polymorphism: Relation to the risk of breast cancer and therapeutic outcome.* Pharmacogenomics Journal, 2010. **10**(1): p. 62-69.
- 156. Balram, C., et al., *Frequency of C3435T single nucleotide MDR1 genetic polymorphism in an Asian population: phenotypic-genotypic correlates.* British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology, 2003. **56**(1): p. 78-83.
- 157. De Wit, D., et al., *Midazolam as a phenotyping probe to predict sunitinib exposure in patients with cancer*. Cancer Chemotherapy and Pharmacology, 2014. **73**(1): p. 87-96.
- 158. Elens, L., et al., *CYP3A4*22: Promising newly identified CYP3A4 variant allele for personalizing pharmacotherapy.* Pharmacogenomics, 2013. **14**(1): p. 47-62.
- 159. Kim, R.B., et al., *Identification of functionally variant MDR1 alleles among European Americans and African Americans*. Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics, 2001. **70**(2): p. 189-199.
- 160. Nakamura, T., et al., *Effect of the mutation (C3435t) at exon 26 of the MDR1 gene on expression level of MDR1 messenger ribonucleic acid in duodenal enterocytes of healthy Japanese subjects.* Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics, 2002. **71**(4): p. 297-303.
- 161. Illmer, T., et al., *MDR1 gene polymorphisms affect therapy outcome in acute myeloid leukemia patients*. Cancer Research, 2002. **62**(17): p. 4955-4962.
- 162. Siegsmund, M., et al., Association of the P-glycoprotein transporter MDR1C3435T polymorphism with the susceptibility to renal epithelial tumors. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology, 2002. **13**(7): p. 1847-1854.
- 163. Hitzl, M., et al., *The C3435T mutation in the human MDR1 gene is associated with altered efflux of the P-glycoprotein substrate rhodamine 123 from CD56+ natural killer cells.* Pharmacogenetics, 2001. **11**(4): p. 293-298.

- 164. Wang, D., et al., *Multidrug resistance polypeptide 1 (MDR1, ABCB1) variant* 3435C>T affects mRNA stability. Pharmacogenetics and Genomics, 2005. **15**(10): p. 693-704.
- 165. Teo, Y.L., et al., *Role of sunitinib and SU12662 on dermatological toxicities in metastatic renal cell carcinoma patients: In vitro, in vivo, and outcomes investigation.* Cancer Chemotherapy and Pharmacology, 2014. **73**(2): p. 381-388.
- 166. Mizuno, T., et al., *The Effect of ABCG2 genotype on the population pharmacokinetics of sunitinib in patients with renal cell carcinoma*. Therapeutic Drug Monitoring, 2014. **36**(3): p. 310-316.
- Bowlin, S.J., et al., Twelve-month frequency of drug-metabolizing enzyme and transporter-based drug-drug interaction potential in patients receiving oral enzymetargeted kinase inhibitor antineoplastic agents. Mayo Clinic Proceedings, 2013. 88(2): p. 139-148.
- 168. Hadjibabaie, M., et al., *Potential drug-drug interactions at a referral hematologyoncology ward in Iran: A cross-sectional study.* Cancer Chemotherapy and Pharmacology, 2013. **71**(6): p. 1619-1627.
- 169. Ko, Y., et al., *Prevalence of the Coprescription of Clinically Important Interacting Drug Combinations Involving Oral Anticancer Agents in Singapore: A Retrospective Database Study.* Clinical Therapeutics, 2012. **34**(8): p. 1696-1704.
- 170. Chan, A., et al., *Clinically significant drug-drug interactions between oral anticancer agents and nonanticancer agents: A delphi survey of oncology pharmacists.* Clinical Therapeutics, 2009. **31**(PART. 2): p. 2379-2386.
- 171. Dutreix, C., et al., *Pharmacokinetic interaction between ketoconazole and imatinib mesylate (Glivec) in healthy subjects.* Cancer Chemotherapy and Pharmacology, 2004. **54**(4): p. 290-294.
- 172. Abbas, R., et al., *Effect of ketoconazole on the pharmacokinetics of oral bosutinib in healthy subjects.* Journal of Clinical Pharmacology, 2011. **51**(12): p. 1721-1727.
- 173. Scripture, C.D. and W.D. Figg, *Drug interactions in cancer therapy*. Nature Reviews Cancer, 2006. **6**(7): p. 546-558.
- 174. Martin, P., et al., *Pharmacokinetic drug interactions with vandetanib during coadministration with rifampicin or itraconazole*. Drugs in R and D, 2011. **11**(1): p. 37-51.
- 175. Flaherty, K.T., et al., *Interaction of sorafenib and cytochrome P450 isoenzymes in patients with advanced melanoma: A phase I/II pharmacokinetic interaction study.* Cancer Chemotherapy and Pharmacology, 2011. **68**(5): p. 1111-1118.
- 176. Takimoto, C.H. and A. Awada, *Safety and anti-tumor activity of sorafenib* (*Nexavar*®) *in combination with other anti-cancer agents: A review of clinical trials.* Cancer Chemotherapy and Pharmacology, 2008. **61**(4): p. 535-548.
- 177. Infante, J.R., et al., A drug interaction study evaluating the pharmacokinetics and toxicity of sorafenib in combination with capecitabine. Cancer Chemotherapy and Pharmacology, 2012. **69**(1): p. 137-144.
- 178. Pithavala, Y.K., et al., *Effect of ketoconazole on the pharmacokinetics of axitinib in healthy volunteers*. Investigational New Drugs, 2012. **30**(1): p. 273-281.
- 179. Pithavala, Y.K., et al., *Effect of rifampin on the pharmacokinetics of Axitinib (AG-013736) in Japanese and Caucasian healthy volunteers.* Cancer Chemotherapy and Pharmacology, 2010. **65**(3): p. 563-570.
- 180. Johnson, F.M., et al., *Phase 1 pharmacokinetic and drug-interaction study of dasatinib in patients with advanced solid tumors.* Cancer, 2010. **116**(6): p. 1582-1591.
- 181. Swaisland, H.C., et al., *Pharmacokinetic drug interactions of gefitinib with rifampicin, itraconazole and metoprolol.* Clinical Pharmacokinetics, 2005. **44**(10): p. 1067-1081.
- 182. Chhun, S., et al., *Gefitinib-phenytoin interaction is not correlated with the 14C-erythromycin breath test in healthy male volunteers*. British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology, 2009. **68**(2): p. 226-237.

- 183. Filppula, A.M., et al., *Gemfibrozil impairs imatinib absorption and inhibits the CYP2C8-mediated formation of its main metabolite*. Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics, 2013. **94**(3): p. 383-393.
- 184. Bolton, A.E., et al., *Effect of rifampicin on the pharmacokinetics of imatinib mesylate* (*Gleevec, STI571*) *in healthy subjects.* Cancer Chemotherapy and Pharmacology, 2004. **53**(2): p. 102-106.
- Pursche, S., et al., *Influence of enzyme-inducing antiepileptic drugs on trough level of imatinib in glioblastoma patients*. Current Clinical Pharmacology, 2008. 3(3): p. 198-203.
- 186. Smith, D.A., et al., *Effects of ketoconazole and carbamazepine on lapatinib pharmacokinetics in healthy subjects*. British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology, 2009. **67**(4): p. 421-426.
- 187. Tanaka, C., et al., Effects of rifampin and ketoconazole on the pharmacokinetics of nilotinib in healthy participants. Journal of Clinical Pharmacology, 2011. 51(1): p. 75-83.
- 188. Tan, A.R., et al., *Effects of ketoconazole and esomeprazole on the pharmacokinetics of pazopanib in patients with solid tumors.* Cancer Chemotherapy and Pharmacology, 2013. **71**(6): p. 1635-1643.
- 189. Narasimhan, N.I., et al., *Effects of ketoconazole on the pharmacokinetics of ponatinib in healthy subjects.* Journal of Clinical Pharmacology, 2013. **53**(9): p. 974-981.
- 190. Rudek, M.A., et al., A phase 1/pharmacokinetic study of sunitinib in combination with highly active antiretroviral therapy in human immunodeficiency virus-positive patients with cancer: AIDS Malignancy Consortium trial AMC 061. Cancer, 2014.
- 191. O'Brien, S.G., et al., *Effects of imatinib mesylate (ST1571, Glivec) on the pharmacokinetics of simvastatin, a cytochrome P450 3A4 substrate, in patients with chronic myeloid leukaemia.* British Journal of Cancer, 2003. **89**(10): p. 1855-1859.
- 192. Wang, Y., et al., *Effects of imatinib (Glivec) on the pharmacokinetics of metoprolol, a CYP2D6 substrate, in Chinese patients with chronic myelogenous leukaemia.* British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology, 2008. **65**(6): p. 885-892.
- 193. Peereboom, D.M., et al., *NABTT 0502: A phase II and pharmacokinetic study of erlotinib and sorafenib for patients with progressive or recurrent glioblastoma multiforme*. Neuro-Oncology, 2013. **15**(4): p. 490-496.
- 194. De Jonge, M.J.A., et al., *Phase I and pharmacokinetic study of pazopanib and lapatinib combination therapy in patients with advanced solid tumors.* Investigational New Drugs, 2013. **31**(3): p. 751-759.
- 195. Brain, E., et al., *Phase I study of lapatinib plus vinorelbine in patients with locally advanced or metastatic breast cancer overexpressing HER2*. British Journal of Cancer, 2012. **106**(4): p. 673-677.
- 196. Jamei, M., et al., *The Simcyp*® *population-based ADME simulator*. Expert Opinion on Drug Metabolism and Toxicology, 2009. **5**(2): p. 211-223.
- 197. Shapiro, L.E. and N.H. Shear, *Drug interactions: Proteins, pumps, and P-450s.* Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology, 2002. **47**(4): p. 467-484.
- 198. Pal, D. and A.K. Mitra, *CYP3A4 and MDR mediated interactions in drug therapy*. Clinical Research and Regulatory Affairs, 2006. **23**(3-4): p. 125-163.
- 199. Purnapatre, K., S.K. Khattar, and K.S. Saini, *Cytochrome P450s in the development of target-based anticancer drugs*. Cancer Letters, 2008. **259**(1): p. 1-15.
- 200. Pajares, B., et al., *Tyrosine kinase inhibitors and drug interactions: A review with practical recommendations*. Clinical and Translational Oncology, 2012. **14**(2): p. 94-101.
- Kenny, J.R., et al., Drug-drug interaction potential of marketed oncology drugs: In vitro assessment of time-dependent cytochrome P450 inhibition, reactive metabolite formation and drug-drug interaction prediction. Pharmaceutical Research, 2012. 29(7): p. 1960-1976.

- 202. Castellino, S., et al., *Human metabolism of lapatinib, a dual kinase inhibitor: Implications for hepatotoxicity.* Drug Metabolism and Disposition, 2012. **40**(1): p. 139-150.
- 203. Uetrecht, J., *Idiosyncratic drug reactions: Current understanding*. Annual Review of Pharmacology and Toxicology, 2007. **47**: p. 513-539.
- 204. Gambillara, E., et al., *Severe pustular eruption associated with imatinib and voriconazole in a patient with chronic myeloid leukemia.* Dermatology, 2005. **211**(4): p. 363-365.
- 205. Xu, C.F., et al., Concomitant use of pazopanib and simvastatin increases the risk of transaminase elevations in patients with cancer. Annals of Oncology, 2012. 23(9): p. 2470-2471.
- Carlini, P., et al., *Liver toxicity after treatment with gefitinib and anastrozole: drug drug interactions through cytochrome p450?* Journal of Clinical Oncology, 2006. 24(35): p. e60-61.
- 207. Arai, S., et al., *Effect of gefitinib on warfarin antithrombotic activity*. International Journal of Clinical Oncology, 2009. **14**(4): p. 332-336.
- 208. Ross, D.M., Peripheral neuropathy on imatinib treatment for chronic myeloid leukaemia: Suspected adverse drug interaction with amlodipine. Internal Medicine Journal, 2009. **39**(10): p. 708.
- 209. Di Gion, P., et al., *Clinical pharmacokinetics of tyrosine kinase inhibitors: Focus on pyrimidines, pyridines and pyrroles.* Clinical Pharmacokinetics, 2011. **50**(9): p. 551-603.
- 210. de Groot, J.W.B., T.P. Links, and W.T.A. van der Graaf, *Tyrosine kinase inhibitors causing hypothyroidism in a patient on levothyroxine*. Annals of Oncology, 2006. **17**(11): p. 1719-1720.
- 211. Teo, Y.L., et al., *Effect of CYP3A4 inducer dexamethasone on hepatotoxicity of lapatinib: Clinical and in vitro evidence.* Breast Cancer Research and Treatment, 2012. **133**(2): p. 703-711.
- 212. Noda, S., et al., *Pharmacokinetic interaction between sorafenib and prednisolone in a patient with hepatocellular carcinoma*. Cancer Chemotherapy and Pharmacology, 2013. **72**(1): p. 269-272.
- 213. Seminerio, M.J. and M.J. Ratain, *Are drug labels static or dynamic?* Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics, 2013. **94**(3): p. 302-304.
- 214. Seminerio, M.J. and M.J. Ratain, *Preventing adverse drug-drug interactions: A need for improved data and logistics*. Mayo Clinic Proceedings, 2013. **88**(2): p. 126-128.
- 215. Wu, K., et al., *Evaluation of utility of pharmacokinetic studies in phase i trials of two oncology drugs*. Clinical Cancer Research, 2013. **19**(21): p. 6039-6043.
- Duckett, D.R. and M.D. Cameron, *Metabolism considerations for kinase inhibitors in cancer treatment*. Expert Opinion on Drug Metabolism and Toxicology, 2010. 6(10): p. 1175-1193.
- 217. Senior, J.R., Unintended hepatic adverse events associated with cancer chemotherapy. Toxicologic Pathology, 2010. **38**(1): p. 142-147.
- 218. Klempner, S.J., et al., Severe pazopanib-induced hepatotoxicity: clinical and histologic course in two patients. Journal of Clinical Oncology, 2012. **30**(27): p. e264-8.
- 219. Ridruejo, E., et al., *Imatinib-induced fatal acute liver failure*. World Journal of Gastroenterology, 2007. **13**(48): p. 6608-111.
- 220. Jadad, A.R., et al., Assessing the quality of reports of randomized clinical trials: Is blinding necessary? Controlled Clinical Trials, 1996. **17**(1): p. 1-12.
- 221. Deeks, J., J. Higgins, and D. Altman, *Analysing data and undertaking meta-analyses*, in *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* J. Higgins and S. Green, Editors. 2011, The Cochrane Collaboration.
- 222. Arnold, A.M., et al., Phase II study of vandetanib or placebo in small-cell lung cancer patients after complete or partial response to induction chemotherapy with or

without radiation therapy: National Cancer Institute of Canada Clinical Trials Group Study BR.20. Journal of Clinical Oncology, 2007. **25**(27): p. 4278-4284.

- 223. DeMatteo, R.P., et al., Adjuvant imatinib mesylate after resection of localised, primary gastrointestinal stromal tumour: a randomised, double-blind, placebocontrolled trial. Lancet, 2009. **373**(9669): p. 1097-1104.
- 224. Kudo, M., et al., *Phase III study of sorafenib after transarterial chemoembolisation in Japanese and Korean patients with unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma*. European Journal of Cancer, 2011. **47**(14): p. 2117-2127.
- 225. DeCensi, A., et al., *Lapatinib activity in premalignant lesions and HER-2-positive cancer of the breast in a randomized, placebo-controlled presurgical trial.* Cancer Prevention Research, 2011. **4**(8): p. 1181-1189.
- 226. Gaafar, R.M., et al., A double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled phase III intergroup study of gefitinib in patients with advanced NSCLC, non-progressing after first line platinum-based chemotherapy (EORTC 08021/ILCP 01/03). European Journal of Cancer, 2011. **47**(15): p. 2331-2340.
- 227. Van Der Graaf, W.T.A., et al., *Pazopanib for metastatic soft-tissue sarcoma* (*PALETTE*): A randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase 3 trial. Lancet, 2012. **379**(9829): p. 1879-1886.
- 228. Guarneri, V., et al., *Phase II, randomized trial of preoperative epirubicin-paclitaxel* +/- *gefitinib with biomarker evaluation in operable breast cancer.* Breast Cancer Research and Treatment, 2008. **110**(1): p. 127-134.
- 229. Mok, T.S.K., et al., Randomized, placebo-controlled, phase II study of sequential erlotinib and chemotherapy as first-line treatment for advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. Journal of Clinical Oncology, 2009. **27**(30): p. 5080-5087.
- 230. Viéitez, J.M., et al., A randomized phase II study of raltitrexed and gefitinib versus raltitrexed alone as second line chemotherapy in patients with colorectal cancer. (1839IL/0143). Investigational New Drugs, 2011. **29**(5): p. 1038-1044.
- 231. Schwarzberg, L.S., et al., *Lapatinib plus letrozole as first-line therapy for HER-2+ hormone receptor-positive metastatic breast cancer.* Oncologist, 2010. **15**(2): p. 122-129.
- 232. Ghatalia, P., et al., *Hepatotoxicity with vascular endothelial growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitors: A meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials.* Crit Rev Oncol Hematol, 2014.
- 233. Ju, C. and J.P. Uetrecht, *Mechanism of idiosyncratic drug reactions: Reactive metabolites formation, protein binding and the regulation of the immune system.* Current Drug Metabolism, 2002. **3**(4): p. 367-377.
- 234. Li, X., T.M. Kamenecka, and M.D. Cameron, *Cytochrome P450-mediated* bioactivation of the epidermal growth factor receptor inhibitor erlotinib to a reactive electrophile. Drug Metabolism and Disposition, 2010. **38**(7): p. 1238-45.
- 235. Li, X., T.M. Kamenecka, and M.D. Cameron, *Bioactivation of the epidermal growth factor receptor inhibitor gefitinib: implications for pulmonary and hepatic toxicities.* Chemical Research in Toxicology, 2009. **22**(10): p. 1736-42.
- 236. Spraggs, C.F., et al., *HLA-DQA1*02:01 is a major risk factor for lapatinib-induced hepatotoxicity in women with advanced breast cancer.* Journal of Clinical Oncology, 2011. **29**(6): p. 667-673.
- 237. Lammert, C., et al., *Oral medications with significant hepatic metabolism at higher risk for hepatic adverse events.* Hepatology, 2010. **51**(2): p. 615-620.
- 238. Spraggs, C.F., C.F. Xu, and C.M. Hunt, *Genetic characterization to improve interpretation and clinical management of hepatotoxicity caused by tyrosine kinase inhibitors.* Pharmacogenomics, 2013. **14**(5): p. 541-54.
- 239. Li, X., et al., *Characterization of dasatinib and its structural analogs as CYP3A4 mechanism-based inactivators and the proposed bioactivation pathways.* Drug Metabolism and Disposition, 2009. **37**(6): p. 1242-1250.
- 240. Attia, S.M., *Deleterious effects of reactive metabolites*. Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity, 2010. **3**(4): p. 238-253.

- 241. Pessayre, D., et al., *Central role of mitochondria in drug-induced liver injury*. Drug Metabolism Reviews, 2012. **44**(1): p. 34-87.
- 242. Pessayre, D., A. Berson, and B. Fromenty, *Features and Mechanisms of Drug-Induced Liver Injury*, in *Drug-Induced Mitochondrial Dysfunction*, J.A. Dykens and Y. Will, Editors. 2008, John Wiley & Sons, Inc. p. 141-202.
- 243. Lee, W.M., *Drug-induced hepatotoxicity*. N Engl J Med, 2003. **349**(5): p. 474-85.
- 244. Naisbitt, D.J., et al., *Immunological principles of adverse drug reactions: The initiation and propagation of immune responses elicited by drug treatment.* Drug Safety, 2000. **23**(6): p. 483-507.
- 245. Nelson, S.D., *Molecular mechanisms of the hepatotoxicity caused by acetaminophen*. Seminars in Liver Disease, 1990. **10**(4): p. 267-78.
- 246. Beaune, P., P.M. Dansette, and D. Mansuy, *Human anti-endoplasmic reticulum autoantibodies appearing in a drug-induced hepatitis are directed against a human liver cytochrome P-450 that hydroxylates the drug.* Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 1987. **84**(2): p. 551-555.
- 247. Kaplowitz, N., *Idiosyncratic drug hepatotoxicity*. Nature Reviews Drug Discovery, 2005. **4**(6): p. 489-499.
- 248. Matzinger, P., *Tolerance, danger, and the extended family*. Annual Review of Immunology, 1994. **12**: p. 991-1045.
- 249. Kaplowitz, N., *Biochemical and cellular mechanisms of toxic liver injury*. Seminars in Liver Disease, 2002. **22**(2): p. 137-144.
- 250. Kaplowitz, N., *Drug-Induced Liver Injury*. Clinical Infectious Diseases, 2004. **38**(SUPPL. 2): p. S44-S48.
- 251. Watkins, P.B., *Idiosyncratic liver injury: Challenges and approaches*. Toxicologic Pathology, 2005. **33**(1): p. 1-5.
- 252. Watkins, P.B., *Tacrine and transaminases*. Alzheimer Disease and Associated Disorders, 1994. **8**(SUPPL. 2): p. S32-S38.
- 253. Kunimasa, K., et al., *Successful treatment of non-small cell lung cancer with gefitinib after severe erlotinib-related hepatotoxicity*. Internal Medicine Journal, 2012. **51**(4): p. 431-434.
- 254. Nakatomi, K., et al., *Treatment with gefitinib after erlotinib-induced liver injury: A case report.* Journal of Medical Case Reports, 2011. **5**.
- 255. Kijima, T., et al., *Safe and successful treatment with erlotinib after gefitinib-induced hepatotoxicity: Difference in metabolism as a possible mechanism.* Journal of Clinical Oncology, 2011. **29**(19): p. e588-e590.
- 256. Ku, G.Y., A. Chopra, and G.D.L. Lopes, *Successful treatment of two lung cancer* patients with erlotinib following gefitinib-induced hepatotoxicity. Lung Cancer, 2010. **70**(2): p. 223-225.
- 257. Nagano, T., et al., *Successful erlotinib treatment for a patient with gefitinib-related hepatotoxicity and lung adenocarcinoma refractory to intermittently administered gefitinib.* Case Reports in Pulmonology, 2011. **2011**: p. 812972.
- 258. Takeda, M., et al., *Successful treatment with erlotinib after gefitinib-related severe hepatotoxicity*. Journal of Clinical Oncology, 2010. **28**(17): p. e273-e274.
- 259. Harbaum, L., et al., *Treatment with dasatinib for chronic myeloid leukemia following imatinib-induced hepatotoxicity*. International Journal of Hematology, 2014. **99**(1): p. 91-94.
- 260. Shah, R.R., J. Morganroth, and D.R. Shah, *Hepatotoxicity of tyrosine kinase inhibitors: Clinical and regulatory perspectives*. Drug Safety, 2013. **36**(7): p. 491-503.
- 261. Chen, J., et al., *Gefitinib-induced hepatotoxicity in patients treated for non-small cell lung cancer*. Onkologie, 2012. **35**(9): p. 509-513.
- 262. Seki, N., et al., Promising new treatment schedule for gefitinib responders after severe hepatotoxicity with daily administration. Journal of Clinical Oncology, 2006.
 24(19): p. 3213-3214; author reply 3214-3215.
- 263. Ferrero, D., et al., *Corticosteroids can reverse severe imatinib-induced hepatotoxicity*. Haematologica, 2006. **91**(6 Suppl).
- 264. Aliberti, S., et al., An acute hepatitis resembling autoimmune hepatitis occurring during imatinib therapy in a gastrointestinal stromal tumor patient. American Journal of Clinical Oncology, 2009. **32**(6): p. 640-1.
- Dhalluin-Venier, V., et al., *Imatinib mesylate-induced acute hepatitis with autoimmune features*. European Journal of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, 2006.
 18(11): p. 1235-1237.
- 266. Gupta, S., V.R. Bhatt, and S. Varma, *Recurrent imatinib-induced hepatotoxicity in a chronic myeloid leukaemia patient successfully managed with prednisone*. BMJ case reports, 2011. **2011**.
- 267. Ikuta, K., et al., Severe hepatic injury caused by imatinib mesylate administered for the treatment of chronic myeloid leukemia and the efficacy of prednisolone for its management. International Journal of Hematology, 2005. **82**(4): p. 343-346.
- 268. Al Sobhi, E., et al., *Imatinib-induced immune hepatitis: Case report and literature review*. Hematology, 2007. **12**(1): p. 49-53.
- 269. Yamazaki, R., et al., Successful management of liver injury caused by imatinib mesylate in a patient with previously untreated chronic myelogenous leukemia in the chronic phase. Leukemia and Lymphoma, 2006. **47**(7): p. 1427-1430.
- 270. Uetrecht, J.P., New concepts in immunology relevant to idiosyncratic drug reactions: The 'danger hypothesis' and innate immune system. Chemical Research in Toxicology, 1999. **12**(5): p. 387-395.
- 271. Spataro, V., *Nilotinib in a patient with postnecrotic liver cirrhosis related to imatinib.* Journal of Clinical Oncology, 2011. **29**(3): p. e50-e52.
- 272. Pariente, A., et al., *Imatinib mesylate-induced acute hepatitis in a patient treated for gastrointestinal stromal tumour*. European Journal of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, 2006. **18**(7): p. 785-787.
- 273. Tonyali, O., et al., *Imatinib mesylate-induced acute liver failure in a patient with gastrointestinal stromal tumors*. Med Oncol, 2010. **27**(3): p. 768-73.
- Westgeest, H.M., et al., Successful treatment of renal cell carcinoma with sorafenib after effective but hepatotoxic sunitinib exposure. Journal of Clinical Oncology, 2013.
 31(6): p. e83-e86.
- 275. Kong, J.H., et al., *Early imatinib mesylate-induced hepatotoxicity in chronic myelogenous leukaemia.* Acta Haematologica, 2007. **118**(4): p. 205-208.
- Lai, Y.C., et al., Successful treatment of erlotinib-induced acute hepatitis and acute interstitial pneumonitis with high-dose corticosteroid: A case report and literature review. International Journal of Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics, 2011. 49(7): p. 461-466.
- 277. Maddrey, W.C., Clinical manifestations and management of drug-induced liver diseases, in Drug-Induced Liver Disease2013. p. 229-240.
- 278. Ling, J., et al., *Metabolism and excretion of erlotinib, a small molecule inhibitor of epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase, in healthy male volunteers.* Drug Metabolism and Disposition, 2006. **34**(3): p. 420-6.
- 279. Ryken, T.C., et al., *The role of steroids in the management of brain metastases: A systematic review and evidence-based clinical practice guideline.* Journal of Neuro-Oncology, 2010. **96**(1): p. 103-114.
- 280. *Clinical Practice Guidelines in Oncology, Antiemesis*, 2014, National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN)
- 281. UpToDate, 2014.
- 282. Pascussi, J.M., et al., *Dual effect of dexamethasone on CYP3A4 gene expression in human hepatocytes. Sequential role of glucocorticoid receptor and pregnane X receptor*. European Journal of Biochemistry 2001. **268**(24): p. 6346-58.
- 283. Brufsky, A.M., et al., *Central nervous system metastases in patients with HER2positive metastatic breast cancer: Incidence, treatment, and survival in patients from registHER.* Clinical Cancer Research, 2011. **17**(14): p. 4834-4843.

- Leyland-Jones, B., Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2-positive breast cancer and central nervous system metastases. Journal of Clinical Oncology, 2009. 27(31): p. 5278-5286.
- 285. Chang, E.L. and S. Lo, *Diagnosis and management of central nervous system metastases from breast cancer*. Oncologist, 2003. **8**(5): p. 398-410.
- 286. Navarro, V.J. and J.R. Senior, *Drug-related hepatotoxicity*. New England Journal of Medicine, 2006. **354**(7): p. 731-739.
- 287. Martignoni, M., et al., An in vivo and in vitro comparison of CYP gene induction in mice using liver slices and quantitative RT-PCR. Toxicology in Vitro, 2006. **20**(1): p. 125-131.
- 288. Hardy, K.D., et al., *Studies on the role of metabolic activation in tyrosine kinase inhibitor-dependent hepatotoxicity: induction of CYP3A4 enhances the cytotoxicity of lapatinib in HepaRG cells.* Drug Metab Dispos, 2014. **42**(1): p. 162-71.
- 289. Chu, Q.S., et al., A phase I and pharmacokinetic study of lapatinib in combination with letrozole in patients with advanced cancer. Clinical Cancer Research, 2008. **14**(14): p. 4484-90.
- 290. Spraggs, C.F., et al., *Lapatinib-induced liver injury characterized by class II HLA and Gilbert's syndrome genotypes*. Clin Pharmacol Ther, 2012. **91**(4): p. 647-52.
- 291. Andrade, R.J., et al., *Causality assessment in drug-induced hepatotoxicity*. Expert Opinion on Drug Safety, 2004. **3**(4): p. 329-344.
- 292. Senior, J.R., *Monitoring for hepatotoxicity: What is the predictive value of liver "function" tests?* Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics, 2009. **85**(3): p. 331-334.
- 293. Lee, W.M. and J.R. Senior, *Recognizing drug-induced liver injury: Current problems, possible solutions.* Toxicologic Pathology, 2005. **33**(1): p. 155-164.
- 294. Aithal, G.P., et al., *Case definition and phenotype standardization in drug-induced liver injury*. Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics, 2011. **89**(6): p. 806-815.
- 295. Hanigan, M.H., et al., *Optimizing chemotherapy: Concomitant medication lists*. Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics, 2011. **89**(1): p. 114-119.
- 296. Banna, G.L., et al., *Anticancer oral therapy: Emerging related issues.* Cancer Treatment Reviews, 2010. **36**(8): p. 595-605.
- 297. Tyler, T., *Drug interactions in metastatic breast cancer*. Journal of Oncology Pharmacy Practice, 2011. **17**(3): p. 236-245.
- 298. Riechelmann, R.P., et al., *Potential drug interactions and duplicate prescriptions among cancer patients*. Journal of the National Cancer Institute, 2007. **99**(8): p. 592-600.
- Riechelmann, R.P., et al., *Potential Drug Interactions in Cancer Patients Receiving Supportive Care Exclusively*. Journal of Pain and Symptom Management, 2008. 35(5): p. 535-543.
- 300. Blower, P., et al., *Drug-drug interactions in oncology: Why are they important and can they be minimized?* Critical Reviews in Oncology/Hematology, 2005. **55**(2): p. 117-142.
- 301. Szałek, E., et al., *Sunitinib in combination with clarithromycin or azithromycin Is there a risk of interaction or not?* Pharmacological Reports, 2012. **64**(6): p. 1554-1559.